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subsciiption
broadcast

As the large base of cable and
satellite subscribers confinues to
grow, the industry is also chang-
ing Viewing video conten: n the
home 15 evolving with innava-
hions bke IPTV, DVB-T and Pay TV
— presenting new gpportumties
for UEI to excel
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Universal Electronics Inc. is a global supplier of remote control technologies for the subscription broadcast industry. Our list of
customers reads like a "who's who" of cable and satellite TV providers — including companies like Comcast®, Cox Communica-
tions®, DirecTV® and TimeWarner®. This past year, we added PCCW®, the largest and most comprehensive communications
provider in Hong Kong, and SKY Italia®, a major player in Europe, to our growing list of customers worldwide. The demand keeps
growing—for good reason. With increasingly advanced and innovative capabilities, our remote control technologies are helping to
transform the set-top box in the den or family rcom into a true digital and entertainment hub for the entire home.
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electionics

According to Display Search,
25% of US hgusehelds had
HOTV's of 26 .nches or larger
by the end of 2007, and pen-
etratron s predicted to grow
1o 65% by the eng of 2011—
JE! control technolc gies
empower the digital trends
of today and tomeorrow.
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conneciing people With the etest echnology.

Universal Electronics Inc. has developed a broad portfolio of industry-leading patented technologies and an extensive database of
infrared control software that have been adopted by many Fortune 500 companies in the consumer electronics industry —leading
names like Mitsubishi®, Panasonic®, and Pioneer®. Our technologies make it possible for consumers all over the wortd to con-
nect, control and interact with a variety of services and devices in the home, including the very latest flat panel HOTVs and next
generation DVDs that are quickly growing in popularity and rapidly penetrating the market. With the explosion of these new
devices as well as entertainment options like Pay-Per-View and Video-On-Demand —and even "Place Shifting” — UEI solutions
make digital media more accessible and ubiquitous than ever.
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vei's products

With innovative procucts
uke the Cricket Kids Remote,
tng Polar 5" remate for
aging baby bsomers, and

the mullimed.a remte,
JElis enhancing the user
experience for all aces

and lifestyles




connecting everything in the home entertainment environment_

As new devices and technologies continue to be introduced into the home and transform the way people enjoy entertainment,

there's alsg a need to simplify. Universal Electronics Ine. is answering the call. We're cleaning up the coffee table — eliminating
the clutter of excess remotes and providing a unified control point for the entire home. Qur award-winning Nevo® line provides

a simple, interactive way to wirelessly connect, control and interact with every device in your home — from your stereo to the air
conditioning. The OneForAll® line of consumer universal controls and accessories has consistertly delivered consumer products
that set the standard worldwide for total home entertainment control.
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INNOVATIONS
AWARD
INTERNATIONAL
CES

Qur hardware and software engineers have a {otat of more than 540 years of coliectivl

have been with the company more than ten years. During this time, they have helped to deveTowmg o
the digital and etectronic devices and wireless controllers in use throughout the world. Our connectuwty software, which WeTitense
to many leading technotogy companies, covers mare than 348,000 device function codes —meaning our remotes can readily be
programmed to operate equipment in all markets worldwide. UEI engineers are now working on the next generation of control
solutions, which incorporate leading-edge wireless technologies like Z-Wave™, ZigBee™, Wi-Fi, and two-way infrared protocols like
XMP-2™, to expand the parameters of what's possible in the connected home.
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agement, sales and marketing, and customer support are all vital to the long-term succesg of our

\{ictive supply chain

Q W{gmwing market share and building long-term customer relationships. Fortunately, we have ouistand-
Ws areas. We maintain two full-service customer support facilities in Twinsburg, Chie and in Enschee, the
Netherlands, where we marnage all support functions -- from handling customer service and technical support calls to delivering
outbound troubleshooting and inbound overflow calls for our customers. Qur sales and marketing teams, which now extenti to ev-
ery major continent worldwide, have been instrumental in defining and capitalizing on opportunities to expand our global fonatprmt
We recently established sales offices in Hong Kong, ndia, and Singapore to serve the burgeoning market for cur products irt Asia.
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dear shaiehnlders:

Our strategy of building the world's best access
and control technology within the home —and
the brilliant execution of our UEI team world-
wide — have delivered an impressive degree of
success over the past several years, capped off
by a record 2007.

We reparted record revenues of $272.7 millien

in 2007, compared to $235.8 million in 2006 — 2
15.6% increase. Net income was $20.2 million, or
$1.33 per diluted share, compared to $13.5 mil-
lion, or $0.94 per diluted share, in 2006. We also
improved our operating margin to 9.7% in 2007,
compared to 7.9% in Z006. Full-year 2007 operat-
ing income was a record $26.5 million, a maore
than 40% growth over full-year 2006.

Over a five-year period, the compeound annual
growth rate in sales has been 21%, and EPS has
grown at a compound rate of 26% over the same
five-year period. We expect to continue these
strong growth trends as we are better positioned
than ever to capitalize on a number of compelling
market opportunities.

Within the U.5., the demand for our technology
remains robust. Most experts expect the trends
affecting our industry — the transition from analog
to digital, the upgrade to DVRs, and the transition
to high definition — will cantinue unabated. Today,
just over half of the U.S. is digital, meaning half of
the U.5, still need io make the transition. Accord-
ing to a study by LRG, DVRs are now in 20% of the
U.5. househelds, up from only 2% in 2003, and
they are expected to reach 40 million households
by 2011.

Qur long-time custorner, DirecTV, now affers its
subscribers up te 100 HD channels. This supports
the rapid rate of transition to high definition, which
Data Monitor predicts will reach 55 million house-
holds by 2018 and 76 millior households by 2012
—up from 35 millien at the end of 2004.

We are expanding globally. We have consistently
demonstrated UEl's innovation and sales growth
in the U.S. and Europe and are now focused on
doing it in Asia. Accerding to In-5tat, there were

2.7 million IPTV subscribers in Asia in 2006, and
this number is expected to exceed 33 miltion by
the year 2012, The Chinese cable TV market, for
example, is deploying digital cabl: set-top boxes
at & record pace. Digital cable set-top box unit
shipments in China rose from 2.2 million in 2006
to over 9 millicn in 2007.

To capitalize on these tramendous growth
opporiunities, we have established our sales

and program managerment infrastructure on the
Asian continent, opening offices in Hong Kong,
India, and Singapore. In the third quarter, we
announced a new customer in Asia, PCCW, the
largest and most comprehensive communications
provider in Hong Kong. We are supplying PCCW
subscribers with our remote control devices for
new HD IPTV boxes. This is a hig win {or us —the
first of many relationships that we intend to estab-
lish with the region’s current and future leaders in
subscription broadcasting.

Highlights of an outstanding year.

o [n 2007, we repurchased approximately 471,000
shares for $14.5 million. As of December 31, 2007,
we have approximately 1.4 million shares remain-
tng in our plan, and we expect to repurchase ad-
ditiopal shares in 2008.

o Continuing to expand our presence in Europe,
in June 2007, we entered into an agreement with
SKY ltalia to provide remote contro. devices and
accessories for its new retail product line, includ-
ing standard set-top boxes, "MySky " recording
receivers, and high definition [HD] set-top boxes.
Partnering with SKY Italia gives us instant pres-
ence in one of the most dynamic markets in
Europe. With more than 4 million subscribers.,
SKY ltalia is the leading provider of digital Pay TV
in ltaly. The SKY brand represents excitement and
innovation, and participating in thei- retail product
expansion pians in Italy opens a whoale new market
for our gdiverse portfolio of technolo jies. We're
looking forward to growing this relationship.

e InJanuary 2008, we began supp ying Syntax-
Brillian Corporation with the “Taurus RC-LRN"




universal learning remote controls for certain
models of its new 1080p Olevia LCO HDTVs. The
Olevia brand of LCD HDTVs have received many
awards from leading technology and consumer
media. ln keeping with its strategy to grow Olevia as
a world-class brand, Syntax-Brillian selected the
UEI Taurus, an 8-device universal remote, to enable
convenient and easy access to consumers’ digital
entertainmant devices. This remote taps into the
world's largest professionally maintained database
of infrared function codes from UEl's library of over
348,000 functions, making device compatibility
almost guaranteed.

The explosive demand for HOTV remains a key driv-
ing force behind our recent growth. Informa Tele-
coms and Media predicts rapid growth over the next
five years with 850 million HDTV sets expacted to be
in homes worldwide by the end of 2011 —mcre than
three times the 2006 figure. In addition, demand for
the advanced set-top boxes supporting HOTY and
DVR services is almost appearing to outstrip supply,
and this phenomenon is global. UEIl is serving the
HDTV manufacturers, as well as the subscripticn
broadcasting leaders, that are rolling out sei-top
boxes to power these new services.

o At the 2008 Consumer Electranics Show

[CES in Las Vegas in January 2008, we unveiled
the latest revision te our award-winning Nevo™ line:
the Nevo570 universal controller. In addition to its
sleek and elegant one-handed design, a brilliant
3.5-inch color touch screen and extended battery
life. NevoS70 oifers the widest array of features of
any remote in its class. It intuitively delivers total
control of entertainment and digital media devices
in today’'s connected home as well as access to
online information and web services. With the
continuing digital convergence we are seeing in the
home, the introduction of our latest Nevo controller
couldn't be timelier.

o Once again this year, UElI was named to the list of
the 200 Best Small Companies in America, published
in the October 29, 2007 issue of Forbes magazine.
For the third year in a row, the company was named
to the prestigious Deloitte Orange County Technology

Fast 50 list. On March 27, 2008 UEI was named as
ane of "America’s Most Trustworthy Small-Cap Com-
panies” by Forbes.com. These hencers are validation
of our success on a variety of fronts, and we are
gratified by this continued recognition.

Looking ahead. We expect to continue our strategy
of converting new customers and expanding exist-
ing customers’ use of our technology and products
to fuet future growth. While we are clearly aware

of a more difficult economic environment and its
uncertain effect on our industry going forwarg, we
believe the global consumer transition to digital and
the adoption of high-definition and DVR technology
will continue. In fact, we believe these trends are
inevitable. In January, Display Search published a
report showing that HDTVs of 26 inches or larger
have penetrated 25% of U.5. households by the end
of 2007, and predicted household penetration will
reach 65% by the end of 2011. This translates into
increasing from 52 million units deployed by the
end of 2007 to 16% million by the end of 2011,

a compound annual growth rate of 34% over the
next four years.

Current economic trends have certainly affected
near-term customer ordering patterns, particularly
in the fourth quarter of 2007 and into the first quarter
of this year. However, we believe our new custom-
ers and new product development activities, as well
as working with customers to garner a larger share
of their forward purchasing plans, will yield resulls
through the rest of 2008 and continue our leng-term
achievemnent of sales and earnings growth. Cur
growth themes or goals for 2008 include:

1} Increasing our share with existing customers:

Qur customers include many of the top consumer
electronics companies, including share leaders in
the growth areas of AV receivers and plasma and
LCD TVs—such as Panasonic, Polaraid, Hitachi,
Vizio, Olevia, Sony, Denon and Onkyo. Our planning
for 2008 includes discussions with these customers
to expand their use of UE! technologies or products
as part of their solutions.

Consumer electronics companies literally have hun-
dreds of products at different stages of the lifecycle
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at any given time, and we work with them on a vari-
ety of levels, supplying a share of their ¢chips and/or
control devices for sorme or all of their products.

Our goal is and always has been to earn more and
more of their business. We start our relationships
with a few successful projects and build on them to
supply a more substantial portion of their business
over time.

The same is true for our subscription broadcasting
customers. [n many cases, we do not have 100%

of their business, and an opportunity exists to
capture more of it by demanstrating our technolog-
icalty superior products and great service. It is our
expectation that, through these numerous relation-
ships and detailed discussions with these custom-
ers, we can earn a greater share of their business
throughout 2008,

2] Acquiring new customers in historically strong
regions and expanding into new regions: | have
already touched on establishing offices in Hong
Keng, Singapere, and India in an effort to gain a
strong foothold in Asia, along with our continued
presence in Japan. Almost all market experts have
predicted that Asia will experience significantly
maore growth than any other region of the world
over the next five to ten years.

Our newly established Asian presence is already
beginning to produce results. Since late last year,
we have added a number of new customers on
the continent and will enjoy revenue from these
reiationships throughout 2008. Some of these
customers have requested we withhold the award
announcements to help them maintain privacy;

and for other customers, we hope to release farmal

announcemeants soon.

Additionally, our sales team has continued 1o
focus on potential customers based in the U.S.
and Europe, where UE! is long established. These
efforts have also paid off. We anticipate the an-
nouncement of some key sales wins during 2008.

3] Continuing to develop new products and
technologies. UEI still leads the industry in inno-
vation, and we will continue to develop and bring

to market naw technologies and products that
redefine ease of use and set up. We are now enter-
ing the late stage of development on same exciting
new products, some of which wili be able to achieve
price points that will bring an unprecedented blend
of functionality and ease-of-use lo the widest pos-
sible market. Some of these products have already
been presented to potential custcrmers for their
input, and the reaction has been universally posi-
tive, These products will incorporate both wired and
wireless technologies, and we will provide more
details on them as the year prograsses, particu-
larly around important trade events in the May and
August-5September timeframes.

As you can see, we have a lot of exciting develop-
ments in the works, so | remain very enthusiastic
about what lies ahead. In closing, | also want to
extend my sincere appreciation to our board of
directors and worldwide partners, and to you, our
shareholders, for your continued support. The
coming years promise to be very exciting as our
innovative solutions continue to transform the
digital media environment.

Sincerely,

@ .

Paul Arling
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results.of Operations” in Item 7, contains statements that may constitute forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements
involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. If the risks or uncertainties ever materialize or the
assumptions prove incorrect, our results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements and assumptions. All statements other than statements of historical fact are
statements that could be deemed forward-tooking statements, including but not limited to any projections
of revenue, margins, expenses, tax provisions, earnings, cash flows, benefit obligations, share
repurchases or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of
management for future operations; any statements concerning expected development or relating to
products or services; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; any
statements regarding pending claims or.disputes; any statements of expectation or belief, and any
statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Risks, uncertainties and assumptions include
macroeconomic and geopolitical trends and events; the execution and performance of contracts by
customers, suppliers and partners; the challenge of managing asset levels, including inventory; the
difficulty of aligning expense levels with revenue changes; the outcome of pending legislation and
accounting pronouncements; and other risks that are described herein, including but not limited to the
items discussed in “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report, and that are otherwise described from time to
time in our Securities and Exchange Commission reports filed after the date of filing this report. We
assume no obligation and do not intend to update these forward-looking statements.

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Business of Universal Electronics Inc.

Universal Electronics Inc. was incorporated under the laws of Delaware in 1986 and began operations in
1987. The principal executive offices are located at 6101 Gateway Drive, Cypress, California 90630. As

used herein, the terms “we”, "us” and “our” refer to Universal Electronics Inc. and its subsidiaries unless

the context indicates to the contrary.

Additional information regarding UEI can be obtained at www.uei.com.
Business Segment
Overview

Our business is comprised of one reportable segment. We have developed a broad line of easy-to-use,
pre-programmed universal wireless contro! products and audio-video accessories that are marketed to
enhance home entertainment systems. Additionally, we develop software and firmware solutions that can
enable devices such as TVs, set-top boxes, stereos, automotive audio systems, cell phones and other
consumer electronic products to wirelessly connect and interact with home networks and interactive
services to deliver digital entertainment and information.

Principal Markets

Our primary markets include retail, private label, OEMs, custom installers, automobile, cellular phone,
subscription broadcasting, cable and satellite service providers and companies in the computing industry.
We believe that our universal remote control database is capable of controlling virtually all infrared remote
(“IR") controlled TVs, VCRs, DVD players, cable converters, CD players, audio components and satellite
receivers, as well as most other infrared remote controlled home entertainment devices and home
automation control modules worldwide.




We provide subscription broadcasters, namely cable operators and satellite service providers, both
domestically and internationally, with our wireless control devices and integrated circuits, en which our
software is embedded, to support the demand associated with the deployment of digital set-top boxes
that contain the latest technology and features. We also sell our universal wireless control devices and
integrated circuits, on which our software is embedded, to OEMs that manufacture cable converters and
satellite receivers for resale with their products.

We continue to pursue further penetration of the more traditional consumer electronics/OEM markets.
Customers in these markets generally package our wireless control devices for resale with their audio
and video home entertainment products. We also sell customized chips, which include our software
and/or customized software packages, to these customers. Growth in this line of business has been
driven by the proliferation and increasing complexity of home entertainment equipment, emerging digital
technology, multimedia and interactive internet applications, and the number of OEMs.

We ali;o continue to place significant emphasis on expanding our sales and marketing efforts to
subscription broadcasters and OEMs in Asia, Latin America and Europe. We will continue to add new
sales people to support anticipated safes growth in these markets over the next few years.

In the nternational retail markets, our One For Al® brand name products accounted for 17.9%, 20.4%,
and 2£i.4% of our total sales for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Throughout 2007, we continued our retail sales and marketing efforts in Europe, Australia, New Zeiland,
South Africa, the Middle East, Mexico and selected countries in Asia and Latin America. Financial
informiation relating to our international operations for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005 it included in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA-Notes to
Conso idated Financial Statements-Note 19",

By proiding our wireless control technology it many forms, including finished products and
microcantrollers on which our software is embedded, we can meet the needs of our customers, enabling
those who manufacture or subcontract their manufacturing requirements to use existing sources of supply
and more easily incorporate our technology.

Since cur beginning in 1986, we have compiled an extensive library that covers nearly 348,000 individual
device functions and over 3,300 individual consumer electronic equipment brand names. Our library is
regular y updated with new infrared (“IR") codes used in newly introduced audio and video devices. All
such IF. codes are captured from the original manufacturer’'s remote contrel devices or written
specifications to ensure the accuracy and integrity of the database.

Our pr¢ prietary software and know-how permit us to compress the IR codes before being loaded into our
producis. This provides significant cost and space efficiencies that enable us to include more codes and
feature: in the memory space of the wireless control devices than are included in the similarly pricec
producis of our competitors.

With todlay’s rapidly changing technology, upgradeability ensures on-going compatibility with current and
future devices. We have developed patented technology that provides the capability to easily upgrace the
memory of our wireless control devices by adding IR codes from our library that were not originally
included. These upgrade features, at no additional cost to the consumer, provide customers with the
ability to upgrade our wireless devices remotely using a personal computer or telephone, and directly at
the factory or service locations. These upgrade options utilize one-way or two-way communication tc
upgrade: the wireless devices’ codes of data depending on the requirements.

Each of our wireless control devices is designed to simplify the use of audio, video and other devices. To
appeal {o the mass market, the number of buttons is minimized to include only the most popular

function s. Another patented ease of use feature we offer in severat of our products is our user

program mable macro key. This feature allows the user to program a sequence of commands onto a
single koy, to be played back each time that key is subsequently pressed.




Our remotes are also designed for ease of set-up. For most of our products, the consumer simply inputs a
four-digit code for each video or audio device to be controlled. During 2007, building on our strategy to
develop new products and technologies to further simplify remote set-up, we created the Stealth USB
product and the EZ Web remote control set-up application. The Stealth USB is a remote control device
that utilizes a monochrome LCD display to augment the user experience for both set-up and operation. {n
addition the Stealth USB has a mini USB port that can be connected to a personal computer using a USB
cable. Once connected to a personal computer, our customers can utilize the EZ Web remote control set-
up application’s graphical interface to fully program their remote control. Another product we developed
during 2007 is automated set-up method that utilizes a set-top box. This product, designed for
subscription broadcasters, will help to simplify the end user’s set-up experience by allowing the user to
interface with their set-top box, using their television, to program a remote. The set-top box can memorize
the set-up parameters allowing the user to restore the set-up to a new or existing remote.

Wireless networking is one of today’s fastest growing trends. Combining our connectivity software and
patent portfolio with Universal Plug-n-Play (“UPnP") standards and the 802.11 wireless networking
protocols, we developed our Nevo® product line. NevoSL®, which began shipping during the second
quarter of 2005, is a stand alone universal wireless controller that uses Wi-Fi to control the play back or
viewing of MP3s, photos, and videos stored on a PC, through a media player attached to a home
entertainment center. By utilizing the touch screen user interface, customers can select play lists, slide
shows, or videos to be played via the media player from anywhere within the networks range. In addition,
NevoSL® utilizes infrared technology to control virtually all infrared controlled consumer electronic
devices, and can also be utilized to contro! wireless household appliances.

Building on the Nevo line, in 2007 we launched three new products for the custom installer market:
NevoQ50®; NevoConnect® NC-50 base station; and NevoStudio Pro® programming software.
NevoQ50® and NevoConnect include Z-wave ™ functionality to enable bi-directional RF control to take
full advantage of Z-Wave “mesh networking” technologies, improving the range and increasing the
reliability of signal transmissions. Voltage sensing and video state detection allows the controlier to detect
whether AV equipment is on or off for improved macro execution. NevoStudio Pro has been updated with
an easy wizard interface, drag and drop programming, and the ability to generate configuration files for
both the remote and base station simultaneously within a single application.

In January 2008, we continued to broaden our line of advanced function remotes for the custom installer
market with the release of NevoS70®. The NevoS70 combines all the technology of the Nevo QS50 with
access to web-based services to deliver real-time information such as news, sports and stock quotes;
extended battery life; and the ability to view and control any device that has a compatible embedded web
server, such as many web-based cameras and media servers. The Nevo® product line supports the
attainment of our strategic goal to build our presence as a wireless control technology leader, enabling
consumers to wirelessly connect, control, and interact within the ever-increasingly complex home.

Methods of Distribution and Customers

We have developed a broad portfolio of patented technologies and the industry’s leading database of
home connectivity software. We include our technology in a broad family of products including universal
standard and touch screen remote controls, antennas and various audio/video accessories, as well as
custom and customizable microcontrollers. To a lesser extent, we also license our technology to certain
customers, including leading Fortune 500 companies.

in addition, we sell our services and license our software to OEMs operating in the consumer electronics,
automobile, cellular phone, and subscription broadcasting industries for use in their products. Licenses
are delivered upon the transfer of a product master or on a per unit basis when the software is loaded
onto the OEM’s device.




In the United States, we sell our products to cable operators, satellite service providers, private label
customers, consumer electronics accessory manufacturers and companies in the computing industry for
resale under their respective brand names. In addition, we sell our wireless control products, and to a
lesse - extent, license our proprietary technologies to OEMSs for use in their products. We also licer se our
One I~or All® brand name to a third party, who in turn sells the products directly to certain domestiz
retailers.

Outside the United States, we sell our wireless control devices and certain accessories under the One
For AT® and certain other brand names under private labels to retaiters, and to other customers, through
our international subsidiaries. Third party distributors are utilized in countries where we do not have
subsidiaries. We also sell our products and/or license our proprietary technology to OEMs, cable
operators and satellite service providers intermnationally.

We have eleven international subsidiaries, Universal Electronics B.V., established in the Netherlands,
One For All GmbH and Ultra Controi Consumer Electronics GmbH, both established in Germany, One for
All Iberia S.L., established in Spain, One For All UK Ltd., established in the United Kingdom, One For All
Argentina S.R.L., established in Argentina, One For All France S.A.S., established in France, Universal
Electronics Italia S.R.L., established in Italy, UE Singapore Pte. Ltd., established in Singapore, UEI Hong
Kong 3te. Ltd., established in Hong Kong and UEI Electronics Pte. Ltd., established in India.

For thi> years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, our sales to Comcast Communications, nc.,
represented 13.3%, 12.0% and 12.2% of our net sales, respectively. No other single customer accounted
for 10% or more of our net sales in 2007, 2006 or 2005. However, DirecTV and its subcontractors
colleclively accounted for 16.9%, 17.7% and 16.6% of our net sales for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

We provide domestic and international consumer support to our various universal remote control

marke ers, including manufacturers, cable and satellite providers, retail distributors, and audio and video
originz| equipment manufacturers through our automated “InterVoice” system. Live agent help is available
throug certain programs. We also make available a free web-based support resource, urcsupport.zom,
designed specifically for cable subscribers. This solution offers interactive online demos and tutoria’s to
help usiers easily setup their remote and commands, and as a result reduces call volume at customar
suppoit centers. Additionally, ActiveSuppont®, a call center, provides customer interaction managerment
services from service and support to retention. Pre-repair calls, post-install surveys, and inbound czills to
customers provide greater bottom-line efficiencies. We continue to review our programs to determine their
value in enhancing and improving the sales of our products. As a result of this continued review, some or
all of these programs may be modified or discontinued in the future and new programs may be added.

Raw Materials and Dependence on Suppliers

We util ze third-party manufacturers and suppliers primarily in Asia to produce our wireless control
produc:s. In 2007, Computime, C.G. Development and Samsung each provided more than 10% of our
total invventory purchases. They collectively provided 63.2% of our total inventory purchases for 2007. In
2006, Computime, C.G. Development, Freescale and Jetta each provided more than 10% of our total
inventory purchases. They collectively provided 60.9% of our total inventory purchases for 2006. In 2005,
Computime provided more than 10% of our total inventory purchase, representing 33.9% of our total
inventory purchases.

As in the past, we continue to evaluate alternative and additional third-party manufacturers and sources
of supply. During 2007, we continued to utilize multiple suppliers and maintain duplicate tooling for certain
of our products. This has allowed us to stabilize our source for products and negotiate more favorable
terms with our suppliers. In addition, where we can, we use standard parts and components, which are
available from multiple sources. To continue to reduce our dependence on suppliers, we continue to seek
additior al sources of integrated circuit chips to help reduce the potential for manufacturing and shipping
delays. In addition, we have included flash microcontroller technology in some of our products. Flash
microccntrollers can have shorter lead times than standard microcontrollers and may be reprogrammed if
necessary, thus potentially reducing excess or obsolete inventory exposure.




Patents, Trademarks and Copyrights

We own a number of United States and foreign patents related to our products and technology, and have
filed domestic and foreign applications for other patents that are pending. We had a total of 175 and 173
issued and pending patents at the end of 2007 and 2006, respectively. Our patents have remaining lives
ranging from approximately one to eighteen years. We have also obtained copyright registration and
claim copyright protection for certain of our proprietary software and libraries of IR codes. Additionally, the
names of most of our products are registered or are being registered as trademarks in the United States
Patent and Trademark Office and in most of the other countries in which such products are sold. These
registrations are valid for a variety of terms ranging up to 20 years and may be renewed as long as the
trademarks continue to be used and are deemed by management to be important to our operations.
While we follow the practice of obtaining patent, copyright and trademark registrations on new
developments whenever advisable, in certain cases, we have elected common law trade secret protection
in lieu of obtaining such other protection. <

Seasonality

Historically, our business has been influenced by the retail sales cycle, with increased sales in the last
half of the year and the largest proportion of sales occurring in the last quarter. However, during 2007,
sales in the first half of the year exceeded sales in the second half of the year. This was primarily due to
the increased demand in the first and second quarters of 2007 from cable customers in an effort to meet
the July 1, 2007 Open Cable Applications Platform (“OCAP") standards deadline in the United States. We
expect the sales cycle to return to its historical pattern in 2008.

See “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA—Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements-Note 22" for further details regarding our quarterly results.

Competition

Our principal competitors in the international retail and private label markets for our wireless controls
include Philips, Thomson and Sony as well as various manufacturers of wireless controls in Asia. Qur
primary competitors in the OEM market are the original equipment manufacturers themselves and
wireless control manufacturers in Asia. Our NevoSL® product competes in the custom electronics
installation market against AMX, RTI, Universal Remote Control, Philips, Logitech and many others. We
compete in our markets on the basis of product quality, product features, price, intellectual property and
customer and consumer support. We believe that we will need to continue to introduce new and
innovative products to remain competitive and to recruit and retain competent personnel to successfully
accomplish our future objectives.

Engineering, Research and Development

During 2007, our engineering efforts focused on modifying existing products and technologies to improve
features, to lower costs, and to develop measures to protect our proprietary technology and general
know-how. In addition, we continue to regularly update our library of IR codes to include IR codes for new
features and devices introduced worldwide. We also continue to explore ways to improve our software to
pre-program more codes into our memory chips and to simplify the upgrading of our wireless control
products.

We also broadened our product portfolio with solutions that address emerging technology sectors like
home media distribution and home automation. These advanced technology development efforts focused
on both industry-based standards as well as specific universal extensions that maximize the end user
experience utilizing a set of heterogeneous protocols and technologies that exist in the modern home
today. This environment is driving the need for simplification of these new protocols and devices, since
they were originally engineered and targeted towards the enterprise customer. We created the Nevo®
product offerings to simplify and manage the end user's experience interacting with devices in the home
— devices that may be used for a decade or more, including traditional IR based devices, and the more




complex TCP/IP consumer electronic devices utilizing both open and proprietary protocols. During 2007
we al;o focused on developing and marketing additionat products that are based on the Zigbee, Z-
Wave® and cther radio frequency technology.

We also developed technologies aimed at unifying traditional technologies that are encountered within a
home, and emerging technologies. This allows consumers to deploy our solutions ranging from a simple
IR ba:sed audio-visual stack to a modern digital media management experience allowing access to digital
content such as music, pictures and videos.

Our p2rsonnel are involved with various industry organizations and bodies, which are in the process of
settiny standards for infrared, radio frequency, power line, telephone and cable communications and
networking in the home. There can be no assurance that any of our research and development projects
will be successfully completed.

Our e:penditures on engineering, research and development were:

(in millions); 2007 2006  _2005

Resezrch and Development ' ...t ee et $ 88% 748 66
ENGINGEMNG @ ettt 39 _ 50 5.1
Total Izngineering, Research and Development...........c.cc oo e veeeiieceeivsnien e $127 $ 124 $11.7

™ Re:search and Development expense for 2007 and 2006 include stock-based compensation exgense
of 0.4 million and $0.4 million, respectively.

@ Engineering costs are included in SG&A.
Environmental Matters

Many of our products are subject to various federal, state, local and international laws governing chemical
substances in products, including laws regulating the manufacture and distribution of chemical
substances and laws restricting the presence of certain substances in electronics products. We could
incur s ubstantial costs, including cleanup costs, fines and civil or criminal sanctions, third-party damage or
personal injury claims, if we were to violate or become liable under environmental laws or if our products
becomz= non-compliant with environmental laws. We also face increasing complexity in our product
design and procurement operations as we adjust to new and future requirements relating to the materials
composition of our products.

We als)> could face significant costs and liabilities in connection with product take-back legislation. The
European Union (the “EU"} enacted the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive, which
makes producers of electrical goods, including computers and printers, financially responsible for
specified collection, recycling, treatment and disposal of past and future covered products. During 2007
the majority of our European subsidiaries became WEEE compliant. Our ltalian subsidiary became
compliaint in February 2008. Similar legislation has been or may be enacted in other jurisdictions,
includir g in the United States, Canada, Mexico, China and Japan.

We belleve that we have materially complied with all currently existing international and domestic federal,
state and local statutes and regulations regarding environmental standards and occupational safety and
health rnatters to which we are subject. During the years ended Decemnber 31, 2007, 2006 and 200%, the
amounts incurred in complying with federal, state and local statutes and regulations pertaining to
environnental standards and occupational safety and health laws and regulations did not materially affect
our earhings or financial condition. However, future events, such as changes in existing laws and

regulati >ns or enforcement policies, may give rise to additional compliance costs that could have a
materia’ adverse effect upon our capital expenditures, earnings or financial condition.




Employees

At December 31, 2007, we employed 397 employees, of whom 136 work in engineering and research
and development, 68 in sales and marketing, 78 in consumer service and support, 44 in operations and
warehousing and 71 are executive and administrative staff. None of our employees are subjectto a
collective bargaining agreement or represented by a union. We consider our employee relations to be
good.

International Operations

Financial information relating to our international operations for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005 is included in “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA-Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements-Note 19”.

Available Information

Our Internet address is www.uei.com. We make available free of charge through the website our annual
report on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K and any
amendments to these reports as soon.as reasonably practical after we electronically file such reports with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. These reports can be found on our website at www.uei.com
under the caption “SEC Filings” on the Investor page. Investors can also obtain copies of our SEC filings
from the SEC website at www.sec.gov.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Forward Looking Statements

We caution that the following important factors, among others (including but not limited to factors
discussed below in “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” as well as those factors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, or in our
other reports filed from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission), could affect our
actual results and could contribute to or cause our actual consolidated results to differ materially from
those expressed in any of our forward-looking statements. The factors included here are not exhaustive.
Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and
we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances
after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. New
factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such factors, nor can
we assess the impact of each such factor on the business or the extent to which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-
looking statements. Therefore, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as a prediction of
actual future results.

While we believe that the forward looking statements made in this report are based on reasonable
assumptions, the actual outcome of such statements is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties,
including the failure of our markets to continue growing and expanding in the manner we anticipated; the
failure of our customers to grow and expand as we anficipated; the effects of natural or other events
beyond our control, including the effect a war or terrorist activities may have on us or the economy; the
economic environment's effect on us or our customers; the growth of, acceptance of and the demand for
our products and technologies in various markets and geographical regions, including cable, satellite,
consumer electronics, retail, digital media/technology, CED!A, interactive TV, automotive, and cellular
industries not materializing or growing as we believed; our inability to add profitable complementary
products which are accepted by the marketplace; our inability to continue to maintain our operating costs
at acceptable levels through our cost containment efforts; our inability to realize tax benefits from various
tax projects initiated from time to time; our inability to maintain the strength of our balance sheet; our
inability to continue selling our products or licensing our technologies at higher or profitable margins; our
inability to obtain orders or maintain our order volume with new and existing customers; the possible




dilutive effect our stock option program may have on our earnings per share and stock price; our inability
to continue to obtain adequate gquantities of component parts or secure adequate factory producticn
capacity on a timely basis; and other factors listed from time to time in our press releases and filings with
the Siacurities and Exchange Commission.

Depe1dence upon Key Suppliers

During 2007, three sources, Computime, C.G. Development and Samsung, each provided over ten
percent (10%) of our total inventory purchases. Purchases from these suppliers collectively amourted to
$100.7 miltion, or 63.2%, of total inventory purchases during 2007. Purchases with the same suppliers
collectively amounted to $66.1 million and $49.8 million, representing 48.7% and 47.6%, of total inventory
purchases in 2006 and 2005, respectively. In 2006, two other suppliers provided over 10% of our
inveniory purchases. These two suppliers collectively provided $28.1 million or 20.7% of our total
inventory purchases in 2006.

Most of the components used in our products are available from multiple sources. However, we have
electe to purchase integrated circuits, used principally in our wireless control products, from two saurces,
Freesiale and Samsung. We generally maintain inventories of our integrated chips, which could be used
in part to mitigate, but not eliminate, delays resulting from supply interruptions.

In addition, we have identified alternative sources of supply for our integrated circuit, component parts, .
and firished goods needs; however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to obtain
these nventory purchases on a timely basis. Any extended interruption, shortage or termination in 1he
supply of any of the components used in our products, or a reduction in their quality or reliability, or a
significant increase in prices of components, would have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operat cns and cash flows.

Dependence on Foreign Manufacturing

Third-party manufacturers located in Asia manufacture a majority of our products. Our arrangements with
our for2ign manufacturers are subject to the risks of doing business abroad, such as tariffs, environmental
and trade restrictions, intellectual property protection and enforcement, export license requirements, work
stoppajes, politicai and social instability, economic and labor conditions, foreign currency exchange: rate
fluctuaiions, and other factors, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and cash flows, We believe that the loss of any one or more of our manufacturers would not
have a long-term material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows, because
numerous other manufacturers are available to fulfill our requirements; however, the loss of any of cur
major rianufacturers could adversely affect our business until altemative manufacturing arrangements
are secured.

Potential Fluctuations in Quarterly Results

Historically, our business has been influenced by the retail sales cycle, with increased sales in the lzst
half of the year and the largest proportion of sales occurring in the last quarter. However, during 2007,
sales ir. the first half of the year exceeded sales in the second half of the year. This was primarily due to
the increased demand in the first and second quarters of 2007 from cable customers in an effort to rmeet
the July 1, 2007 OCAP standards deadline in the United States. While we expect the sales cycle to 1eturn
to its hisstorical pattern in 2008, factors, such as those we experienced during 2007 could cause our sales
cycles to deviate from histarical patterns. Such factors, including quarterly variations in financial results,
could hiave a material adverse affect on the volatility and market price of our common stock.

We mayv from time to time increase our operating expenses to fund greater levels of research and
development, sales and marketing activities, development of new distribution channels, improvements in
our ope -ational and financial systems and development of our customer support capabilities, and to
support our efforts to comply with various government regulations. To the extent such expenses precede
or are not subsequently followed by increased revenues, our business, operating results, financial
conditio and cash flows will be adversely affected.
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In addition, we may experience significant fluctuations in future quarterly operating results that may be
caused by many other factors, including demand for our products, introduction or enhancement of
products by us and our competitors, the loss or acquisition of any significant customers, market
acceptance of new products, price reductions by us or our competitors, mix of distribution channels
through which our products are sold, product or supply constraints, level of product returns, mix of
customers and products sold, component pricing, mix of international and domestic revenues, foreign
currency exchange rate fluctuations and general economic conditions. In addition, as a strategic response
to changes in the competitive environment, we may from time to time make certain pricing or marketing
decisions or acquisitions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
or financial condition. As a result, we believe period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations
are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance.

Due to all of the foregoing factors, it is possible that in some future quarters our operating results will be
below the expectations of public market analysts and investors. If this happens the price of our common
stock may be materially adversely affected.

Dependence on Consumer Preference

We are susceptible to fluctuations in our business based upon consumer demand for our products. In
addition, we cannot guarantee that increases in demand for our products associated with increases in the
deployment of new technology will continue. We believe that our success depends on our ability to
anticipate, gauge and respond to fluctuations in consumer preferences. However, it is impossible to
predict with complete accuracy the occurrence and effect of fluctuations in consumer demand over a
product’s life cycle. Moreover, we caution that any growth in revenues that we achieve may be transitory
and should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance.

Demand for Consumer Service and Support *

We have continually provided domestic and international consumer service and support to our customers
to add overall value and to help differentiate us from our competitors. We continually review our service
and support group and are marketing our expertise in this area to other potential customers. There can be
no assurance that we will be able to attract new customers in the future.

In addition, certain of our products have more features and are more complex than others and therefore
require more end-user technical support. In some instances, we rely on distributors or dealers to provide
the initial level of technical support to the end-users. We provide the second level of technical support for
bug fixes and other issues at no additional charge. Therefore, as the mix of our products includes more of
these complex product lines, support costs could increase, which would have an adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.

Dependence Upon Timely Product Introduction

Our ability to remain competitive in the wireless control and audiofvideo accessory products market will
depend considerably upon our ability to successfully identify new product opportunities, as well as
develop and introduce these products and enhancements on a timely and cost effective basis. There can
be no assurance that we will be successful at developing and marketing new products or enhancing our
existing products, or that these new or enhanced products will achieve consumer acceptance and, if
achieved, will sustain that acceptance. In addition, there can be no assurance that products developed by
others will not render our products non-competitive or obsolete or that we will be able to obtain or
maintain the rights to use proprietary technologies developed by others which are incorporated in our
products. Any failure to anticipate or respond adequately to technological developments and customer
requirements, or any significant delays in product development or introduction, could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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In addition, the introduction of new products may require significant expenditures for research and
development, tooling, manufacturing processes, inventory and marketing. In order to achieve high volume
produ ction of any new product, we may have 1o make substantial investments in inventory and expand
our production capabilities.

Depedence on Major Customers

The economic strength and weakness of our worldwide customers affect our performance. We sell our
wireless control products, audio/video accessory products, and proprietary technologies to private label
custorners, original equipment manufacturers, and companies involved in the subscription broadcasting
industry, We also supply our products to our wholly owned, non-U.S. subsidiaries and to independiznt
foreig 1 distributors, who in turn distribute our products worldwide, with Europe, Asia, South Africa,
Australia, and Argentina currently representing our principal foreign markets.

In each of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we had sales to one customer, Comcast,
that aiounted to more than 10% of our net sales for the year. In addition, in each of these years, we had
sales "o DirecTV and its sub-contractors, that when combined, exceeded 10% of our net sales. The: loss
of either of these customers or of any other key customer, either in the United States or abroad or our
inabilily to maintain order volume with these customers, may have an adverse effect on our financial
condit on, results of operations and cash flows.

Intemal Investments

We eniploy a small number of personnel to develop and market additional products that are part of the
Nevo@ platform as well as products that are based on the Zigbee, Z-Wave® and other radio frequency
technclogy. Even after these hires, we continue to use outside resources to assist us in the development
of these products. While we believe that such outside services should continue to be available to us, if
they cease to be available, the development of these products could be substantially delayed.

Competition

The wieless control industry is characterized by intense competition based primarily on product
availatility, price, speed of delivery, ability to tailor specific solutions to customer needs, quality, anc!
depth of product lines. Our competition is fragmented across our products, and, accordingly, we do not
compe e with any one company across all product lines. We compete with a variety of entities, som:iz of
which have greater financial resources. Our ability to remain competitive in this industry depends in part
on our ability to successfully identify new product opportunities, develop and introduce new products and
enhancements on a timely and cost effective basis, as well as our ability to successfully identify and enter
into strategic alliances with entities doing business within the industries we serve. There can be no
assurance that our product offerings will be, andfor remain, competitive or that strategic alliances, if any,
will achieve the type, extent, and amount of success or business that we expect them to achieve. The
sales o’ our products and technology may not occur or grow in the manner we expect, and thus we inay
not recoup costs incurred in the research and development of these products as quickly as we expe:t, if
atall.

Patents, Trademarks_and Copyrights

The prccedures by which we identify, document and file for patent, trademark, and copyright protection
are baszad solely on engineering and management judgment, with no assurance that a specific filing will
be issued, or if issued, will deliver any lasting value to us. Because of the rapid innovation of products and
technolugies that is characteristic of our industry, there is no assurance that rights granted under any
patent viill provide competitive advantages to us or will be adequate to safeguard and maintain our
proprietary rights. Moreover, the laws of certain countries in which our products are or may be
manufactured or sold may not offer protection on such products and associated intellectual property to
the same extent that the U.S. legal system may offer.

12




In our opinion, our intellectual property hotdings as welt as our engineering, production, and marketing
skills and the experience of our personnel are of equal importance to our market position. We further
believe that none of our businesses are materially dependent upon any single patent, copyright,
trademark, or trade secret.

Some of our products include or use technology andfor components of third parties. While it may be
necessary in the future to seek or renew licenses relating to various aspects of such products, we believe
that, based upon past experience and industry practice, such licenses generally could be obtained on
commercially reasonable terms; however, there is no guarantee that such licenses could be obtained on
such terms or at all. Because of technological changes in the wireless and home control industry, current
extensive patent coverage, and the rapid rate of issuance of new patents, it is possible certain
components of our products and business methods may unknowingly infringe upon the patents of others.

Potential for Litigation

As is typical in our industry and for the nature and kind of business in which we are engaged, from time {o
time various claims, charges and litigation are asserted or commenced by third parties against us or by us
against third parties, arising from or related to product liability, infringement of patent or other intellectual
property rights, breach of warranty, contractual relations or employee relations. The amounts claimed
may be substantial, but they may not bear any reasonable relationship to the merits of the claims or the
extent of any real risk of court awards assessed against us or in our favor.

Risks of Conducting Business Internationally

Risks of doing business internationally could adversely affect our sales, operations, earnings and cash
flows due to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to:

« changes in a country's or region's economic or political conditions, including infiation, recession,
interest rate fluctuations and actual or anticipated military conflicts;

« currency fluctuations affecting sales, particularly in the Euro and British Pound, which contribute to
variations in sales of products and services in impacted jurisdictions and also affect our reported
results expressed in U.S. dollars; :

« currency fluctuations affecting costs, particularly the Euro, British Pound and the Chinese Yuan, which
contribute to variances in costs in impacted jurisdictions and also affect our reported results expressed
in U.S. dollars;

» longer accounts receivable cycles and financial instability among customers;

« trade regulations and procedures and actions affecting production, pricing and marketing of products;

« local labor conditions, customs, and regulations;

+ changes in the regulatory or legal environment;

» differing technology standards or customer requirements;

» import, export or other business licensing requirements or requirements related to making foreign
direct investments, which could affect our ability to obtain favorable terms for components or lead to

penalties or restrictions;

. difficulties associated with repatriating cash generated or held abroad in a tax-efficient manner and
changes in tax laws,

« fluctuations in freight costs and disruptions at important geographic points of exit and entry.
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Effeciiveness of Qur Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to include in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting.
Furthermore, our independent registered public accounting firm is required to audit our internal controls
over f nancial reporting and separately report on whether it believes we maintain, in all material respects,
effective internal controls over financial reporting. Although we believe that we currently have adequate
intern.al controls procedures in place, we cannot be certain that future material changes to our inteinal
contrcls over financial reporting will be effactive. If we cannot adequately maintain the effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting, we might be subject {o sanctions or investigation by requiatory
authorities, such as the Securities and Exchange Commission. Any such action could adversely affect our
financial results and the market price of our common stock.

Chan¢ies in Accounting Rules

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
These principles are subject to interpretation by various governing bodies, including the FASB and the
SEC, who create and interpret appropriate accounting standards. A change from current accounting
standzirds could have a significant adverse effect on our results of operations.

Unanticipated Changes in Tax Provisions or Income Tax Liabilities

We arae subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Our tax liahilities
are affacted by the amounts we charge for inventory and other items in intercompany transactions. From
time tc time, we are subject to tax audits in various jurisdictions. Tax authorities may disagree with our
interccmpany charges or other matters and assess additional taxes. We assess the likely cutcomes: of
these audits in order to determine the appropriateness of the tax provision. However, there can be nho
assurance that we will accurately predict the outcomes of these audits, and the actual outcomes of these
audits could have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In
additio, our effective tax rate in the future could be adversely affected by changes in the mix of earnings
in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
changes in tax laws and the discovery of new information in the course of our tax return preparation
process. Furthermore, our tax provisions could be adversely affected as a result of any new interpretative -
accour ting guidance related to accounting for uncertain tax positions.

Gener:l Economic Conditions

Generzl economic conditions, both domestic and international, have an impact on our business and
financiul results. The global economy remains uncertain. As a result, individuals and companies may
delay or reduce expenditures. Weak global economic conditions and/for softness in the consumer,
subscription broadcasting, and/or OEM channels could result in lower demand for our products, resulting
in lowe - sales, earnings and cash flows.

Envirormental Matters

Many of our products are subject to various federal, state, local and international laws governing che:mical
substarices in products, including laws regulating the manufacture and distribution of chemical
substarices and laws restricling the presence of certain substances in electronics products. With the
passag? of the European Union's Restriction of Hazardous Substances Directive, which makes procucers
of electrical goods responsible for collection, recycling, treatment and disposal of recovered products,
similar 1estrictions in China effective March 2007 and the European Union's Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment Directive, we could face significant costs and liabilities in complying with these and
new laws and regulations or enforcement policies that could have a material adverse effect upon our
capital expenditures, earnings or financial condition.
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Leased Property

We lease all of the properties used in our business. We can give no assurance that we will enter into new
or renewal leases, or that, if entered into, the new lease terms will be similar to the existing terms or that
the terms of any such new or renewal leases will not have a significant and material adverse effect on our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Technoloqy Changes in Wireless Control

We currently derive substantial revenue from the sale of wireless remote controls based on infrared (“IR")
technology. Other control technologies exist or could be developed that could compete with IR. In
addition, we develop and maintain our own database of IR and RF codes. There are several competing
IR and RF libraries offered by companies that we compete with in the marketplace. The advantage that
we may have compared to our competitors is difficult to measure. If other wireless control technology
gains acceptance and starts to be integrated into home electronics devices currently controlled through
our IR remote controllers, demand for our products may decrease, resulting in decreased revenue,
earnings and cash flow.

Failure to Recruit, Hire, and Retain Key Personnel

Our ability to achieve growth in the future will depend, in part, on our success at recruiting, hiring, and
retaining highly skilled engineering, managerial, operational, sales and marketing personnel. In addition,
our corporate office, including our advance technology engineering group, is based in Southern
California. The high cost of living in Southern California makes it difficult to attract talent from outside the
region and may also put pressure on overall employment related expense. Additionally, our competitors
seek to recruit and hire the same key personnel. Therefore, if we fail to stay competitive in salary and
benefits within the industry it may negatively impact our ability to hire and retain key personnel. The
inability to recruit, hire, and retain qualified personnel in a timely manner, or the loss of any key
personnel, could make it difficult to meet key objectives, such as timely and effective product
introductions.

Credit Facility

We amended our Credit Facility in August 2006 by extending our credit facility for an additional three
years. Presently, we have no borrowings under this facility; however, we cannot make any assurances
that we will not need to borrow amounts under this facility or that this facility will continue to be extended
and thus available to us if we need to borrow. If this or any other credit facility is not available to us at a
time when we need to borrow, we would have to use our cash reserves which could have a material
adverse effect on our earnings, cash flow and financial position.

Change in Competition and Pricing

We rely on third-party manufacturers to build our universal wireless control products, based on our
extensive IR code library and patented technology. Price is always an issue in winning and retaining
business. If customers become increasingly price sensitive, new competition could arise from
manufacturers who decide to go into direct competition with us or from current competitors who perform
their own manufacturing. if such a trend develops, we could experience downward pressure on our
pricing or lose sales, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.

Transportation Costs; Impact of Qil Prices

We ship products from our foreign manufacturers via ocean and air transport. It is sometimes difficult to
forecast swings in demand or delays in production and, as a result, products may be shipped via air
which is more costly than ocean shipments. Often, we typicaily cannot recover the increased cost of air
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freight from our custormners. Additionally, tariffs and other export fees may be incurred to ship products
from foreign manufacturers to the customer. The inability to predict swings in demand or delays in
production can increase the cost of freight which could have a material adverse effect on our prodict
margins.

In addlition, we have an exposure to oil prices in two forms. The first is in the prices of the oil-based
materials that we use in our products, which are primarily the plastics and other components that vie
inctude in our finished products. The second is in the cost of delivery and freight, which would be passed
on by the carriers that we use in the form of higher rates. We record freight-in as a cost of sales, and
freighi-out in operating expenses. Rising oil prices may have an adverse effect on cost of sales and
opera‘ing expenses.

Propristary Technologies

We praduce highly complex products that incorporate leading-edge technology, including hardware:,
firmwzre, and software. Firmware and software may contain bugs that can unexpectedly interfere vith
operalions. There can be no assurance that our testing programs will detect all defects in individua
products or defects that could affect numerous shipments. The presence of defects may harm customer
satisfaction, reduce sales opportunities, or increase returns. An inability to cure or repair a product Jdefect
could 1esult in the failure of a product line, temporary or permanent withdrawal from a product or miarket,
damagie to our reputation, increased inventory costs, or product reengineering expenses, any of wrich
could have a material impact on our revenues, margins and net income.

Strateqic Business Transactions

We mayy, from time to time, pursue strategic alliances, joint ventures, business acquisitions, producis or
technologies {“strategic business transactions”) that complement or expand our existing operations,
including those that could be material in size and scope. Sirategic business transactions involve many
risks, including the diversion of management’s attention away from day-to-day operations. There is also
the risk. that we will not be able to successfully integrate the strategic business transaction with our
operations, personnel, customer base, products or technologies. Such strategic business transactions
could elso have adverse short-term effects on our operating results, and could result in dilutive issuiances
of equi'y securities, the incurrence of debt, and the loss of key employees. In addition, these strategic
busine:s transactions are generally subject to specific accounting guidelines that may adversely affict
our finz:ncial condition, results of cperations and cash flow. For instance, business acquisitions musi be
accounted for as purchases and, because most technology-related acquisitions involve the purchasz of
significant intangible assets, these acquisitions typically result in substantial amortization charges and
charge: for acquired research and development projects, which could have a material adverse effect on
our res Jlts of operations. There can be no assurance that any such strategic business transactions will
occur or, if such transactions do occur, that the integration will be successful or that the customer bzises,
producls or technologies will generate sufficient revenue to offset the associated costs or effects.

ITEM 18. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have no unresolved staff comments as of the date of filing this Form 10-K.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in Cypress, California. We utilize the following office and
warehouse facilities:

Square
Location Purposs or Use Feet Status

Cypress, California........... Corporate headquarters, engineering, 30,768 Leased, expires January
research and development 31,2012

Twinsburg, Ohio.............. Consumer and customer call center 21,509 Leased, expires May 30,

2011

Enschede, Netherlands.... International headquarters and call 18,292 Leased, expires August
center 31, 2008

San Mateo, California....... Engineering, research and 9,000 Leased, expires July 31,
development 2008

In addition to the facilities listed above, we lease space in various international locations, primarily for use
as sales offices. Furthermore, in order to support the growth of our company, during 2007 we made
renovations to expand our corporate headquarters. We expect renovations to be completed in the first
quarter of 2008. Our leases for the San Mateo and Enschede offices expire in July 2008 and August
2008, respectively. We plan to renew our leases; however, there can be no assurance that we will renew
or that our offer to renew will be accepted.

See “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA — Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements — Note 13" for additional information regarding our obligations under leases.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In 2002, one of our subsidiaries (One For All S.A.S.) brought an action against a former distributor of the
subsidiary’s products seeking a recovery of accounts receivable. The distributor filed a counterclaim
against our subsidiary seeking payment for amounts allegedly owed for administrative and other services
rendered by the distributor for our subsidiary. In January 2005, the parties agreed to include in that action
all claims between the distributor and two of our other subsidiaries, Universal Electronics BV and One For
All Iberia SL. As a resutt, the single action covers all claims and counterclaims between the various
parties. The parties further agreed that, before any judgment is paid, all disputes between the various
parties would be concluded. These additional claims involve nonpayment for products and damages
resulting from the alleged wrongful termination of agency agreements. On March 15, 2005, the court in
one of the litigation matters brought by the distributor against one of our subsidiaries, rendered judgment
against our subsidiary and awarded damages and costs to the distributor in the amount of approximately
$102,000. The amount of this judgment was charged to operations during the second quarter of 2005 and
has been paid. With respect to the remaining matters before the court, we are awaiting the expert to
finalize and file his pre-trial report with the court and when completed, we will respond. Management is
unable to estimate the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome, and the amount of loss, if any, in the case of
an unfavorable outcome.

On February 7, 2008, we filed suit against Gibson Audio, a Division of Gibson Guitar Corp., and Gibson
Musical Instruments, Inc. seeking payment of the remaining balance of a minimum royalty fee due us
under a software agreement. The Gibson companies answered our complaint with a general denial of all
of our allegations. Also, as is typical, the Gibson companies counterclaimed that we breached various
aspects of the software agreement and that they are seeking unspecified damages. We disagree
vigorously with their denials of liability and with their counterclaims and will continue to pursue this matter.
Since, however, no discovery has commenced, at this time, we are unable to estimate the likely outcome
of this matter and the amount, if any, of recovery of the balance due us.
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There are no other material pending legal proceedings, other than litigation that is incidental to the
ordinary course of our business, to which we or any of our subsidiaries is a party or of which our

respe ctive property is the subject. We do not believe that any of the claims made against us in any of the
pending matters have merit and we intend to vigorously defend ourselves against them.

We maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance which insures our individual directors and officers
against certain claims such as those alleged in the above lawsuits, as well as attorney’s fees and ralated
expenses incurred in connection with the defense of such claims.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No metters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of our fiscal year through
the so.icitation of proxies or otherwise.

Executive Officers of the Registrant'"’

The fo lowing table sets forth certain information concerning our executive officers as of March 13, 2008:

Name Age ) Position

Paul D. Arling .........cocecvvivinen e, 45 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Paul JM. Bennett............................ 52 Executive Vice President, Managing Director, Europe

Mark £, Kopaskie ... 50 Executive Vice President, General Manager U.S. Operations
Richard A. Firehammer, Jr.............. 50 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Bryan IA. Hackworth.............ccoeee. 38 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

% Inchuded pursuant to Instruction 3 to Item 401{b) of Regulation S-K.

Paul D. Arfing is our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. He joined us in May 1996 as Chief Financial
Officer and was named to our Board of Directors in August of 1996. He was appointed President and
COO in September 1998, was promoted to Chief Executive Officer in October of 2000 and appointed as
Chairman in July 2001. At the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, Mr. Arling was re-elected as our
Chairman to serve until the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. From 1993 through May 1996, he
served n various capacities at LESCQ, Inc. (a manufacturer and distributor of professional turf care
products). Prior to LESCO, he worked for Imperial Wall coverings {a manufacturer and distributor of wall
coverini) products) as Director of Planning, and The Michael Allen Company (a strategic managemet
consulting company) where he was employed as a management consultant,

Paul J.M. Bennelt is our Executive Vice President and Managing Director, Europe, He was our Manziging
Director and Senior Vice President, Managing Director, Europe from July 1996 to December 2006. He
was promoted to his current position in December 2006. Prior to joining us, he held various positions at
Philips Consumer Electronics over a seven year period, first as Product Marketing Manager for the
Accessories Product Group, initially set up to support Philip's Audio division, and then as head of that
division.

Mark S. Kopaskie is our Executive Vice President and General Manager, U.S. Operations. He rejoined us
in September 2006 as our Senior Vice President and General Manager, U.S. Operations and was
promoted to his current position in December 2006. He was our Executive Vice President and Chief
Operatir g Officer from 1995 to 1997. From 2003 until November, 2005, Mr. Kopaskie was President and
Chief Executive Officer of Packaging Advantage Corporation (PAC), a personal care and household
products manufacturer, which was acquired by Marietta Corporation in November 2005. Following the
acquisition; he served as Senior Vice President, Business Development for Marietta Corporation. From
1997 t0 :2003, he held senior management positions at Birdair Inc., a world leader in the engineering,
manufacturing, and construction of tensioned membrane structures, and OK International, a manufacturer
and mari:eter of fluid dispensing equipment, solder and de-solder systems, and wire wrap products. Frior
to joining us in 1995, Mr. Kopaskie was Senior Vice President of Operations at Mr. Coffee Inc.
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Richard A. Firehammer, Jr., Esq. has been our Senior Vice President since February 1999. He has been

our General Counsel since Octaber 1993 and Secretary since February 1994. He was our Vice President
from May 1997 until August 1998. He was outside counsel to us from September 1998 until being rehired
in February 1999. From November 1992 to September 1993, he was associated with the Chicago, lllinois
law firm, Shefsky & Froelich, Ltd. From 1987 to 1992, he was with the law firm, Vedder, Price, Kaufman &
Kammholz in Chicago, lllinois.

Bryan M. Hackworth is our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. He was promoted from
Chief Accounting Officer in August 2006. Mr. Hackworth joined us in June 2004 as Corporate Controller
and subsequently assumed the role of Chief Accounting Officer in May 2006. Before joining us in 2004,
he spent five years at Mars, Inc., a privately held international manufacturer and distributor of consumer
products and served in several financial and strategic roles (Controller — Ice Cream Division; Strategic
Planning Manager for the WHISKAS ® Brand) and various other financial management positions. Prior to
joining Mars Inc., Mr. Hackworth spent six years at Deloitte & Touche LLP as an auditor, specializing in
the manufacturing and retaii industries.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS '

Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol UEIC. The closing
price of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ on March 11, 2008 was $22.53. Our stockholders of
record on March 11, 2008 numbered approximately 71. We have never paid cash dividends on our
common stock, nor do we intend to pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable
future. We intend to retain our eamings, if any, for the future operation and expansion of our business. In
addition, the terms of our revolving credit facility limit our ability to pay cash dividends on our common
stock. See “ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS-Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA-Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements-Note 7.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during 2007.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low reported sale prices for our
common stock, as reported by NASDAQ:

2007 2006
High Low High Low
FIrSt QQUAMBE o oeeee e etveeeeeeeeaetresameeeeeestaesameeeesesbtnsanesasnerieeenesesbansrssnsrer $29.89 $19.25 $ 18.50 $ 16.80
SECONT QUANET ... ceeeee e et eeeecirereeieeeeesssibas e e eeesseseoitnantangeee e e sasbssrannas 3809 2666 2030 16.21
THIFD QUAMET ..o cevveeeeeee i ereeeeeeesstesaseeeettaerreeesaresenassentsessnnbnnesbpanesseeanes 3933 2520 19.73 1645
FOUMN QUAIET . .. v ceceeeieeeiesvesssseeeeeeetsssssreeemmnbtbaseeeeaeasramsansbetsaansssnsanarenee 3850 3129 2225 1845
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Purchases of Equity Securities

The fcllowing table sets forth, for the fourth quarter, our total stock repurchases, average price paicl per
share and the maximum number of shares that may yet be purchased under our plans or programs:

Total Number of Maxinium
Shares Number of
Purchased Shares that May
as Part of Yet Lo
Publicly Purchzsed
Total Number of  Weighted Average Announced Under the
Period p Sh?‘res 4 Pric; Paid Plans Plans or
erig urchase: per Share or Programs Programs
10/1/07 - 10731/07 - S — 1,582,100
111107 - 11730007 109,200 $ 33.62 — 1,672,900
12107 - 123107 40,800 34.86 — 1,432,100
Total during fourth quarter............. ____ _ 150,000 $% 33.96 —

During the year ended December 31, 2006 our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of 2.0
million :shares of outstanding common stock under an ongoing systematic program to manage the dilution
created by shares issued under employee stack plans. During the year ended December 31, 2007, we
repurchased 471,300 shares for $14.5 million. As of December 31, 2007, we have 1,432,100 shares

available for repurchase under the program.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected historical consolidated financial information as of December 31, 2007 and
December 31, 2006, and for each of the three years ended December 31, 2007 have been derived from
and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes there'o
includec elsewhere in this report. The selected historical consolidated financial information as of
Decemter 31, 2005, December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 and for the two years ended Dece nber
31, 200« have been derived from our audited financial statements, which are not included in this report.

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

(in thousar ds, except per share data)
Net SaleS. ... e $ 272680 $ 235846 $ 181349 $ 158380 $ 120,68
Operating income . $ 26451 $ 18517 & 11677 $ 13540 3§ 8,573
Netincomz ..o $ 20230 % 13520 % 9701 8 9,114 § 6,67
Earnings [-er share;

BaSIC.....cveveeci et 3 140 3% 098 $ 072 % 067 $ Q.48

Diluted ... SRS ERIUSO- 133 % 094 § 069 % 065 § 0.45
Shares usad in calculating earnings per share

BaASIC....c.ioeeevrerreesv ettt sr i 14,410 13,818 13,462 13,567 13,703

Diluted e 15,177 14,432 13,992 14,100 14,007
Cash dividznd declared per common share ... — — — — —
Gross MAniM ...c.coooveeeeiee e eree e 36.4% 36.4% 37.0% 38.9% 38.4%
Selling, general, administrative, research and

development expenses as a % of net sales... 26.7% 28.5% 30.6% 30.3% 31.3%
Operating INargin........c..oooeveeineeneeereeesinrenne 9.7% 7.9% 6.4% 8.6% 7.1%
Netincome asa % of net sales...............ccocee. 7.4% 57% 5.4% 5.8% £2%
Return on iiverage assetS........ccccvvvvvneenenns 10.2% 8.3% 6.8% 6.8% 5.5%
Working caoital..........cooviieiiiei s $ 140,330 % 106479 $ 77201 % 75081 % 821
Ratio of cuirent assets to current liabilities ...... 4.0 34 2.8 31 3.7
Total @SSeti oo e $ 247285 § 178608 § 146,319 § 140,400 §$ 126,167
Cash and cash equivalents ............cc.ccocveene 5 86610 % 66075 $ 43641 § 42472 $ 5841
Long-term clebl.........ocoii — — — — -—
Stockholdeis’ equity ... e 3 168242 % 134217 § 103,202 $ 103,881 § 85171
Book value per share ™............coovceeeeevinnennns $ 1155 % 858 § 763 § 766 % 6.89
Ratio of liakilities to liabilities and '
stockholders’ equity......ccccocvoviincniccien i 22.6% 24 9% 29.4% 26.0% 24.6%

(a)} Book value per share is defined as stockholders' equity divided by common shares issued, less treasury stock.

The compirability of information between 2005 and 2004 with prior years is affected by the acquisition -f

SimpleDevices Inc. in the fourth quarter of 2004,
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
the related notes that appear elsewhere in this document.

Overview

We have developed a broad line of pre-programmed universal wireless control products and audio-video
accessories that are marketed to enhance home entertainment systems. Our channels of distribution
include international retail, U.S. retail, private label, OEMs, cable and satellite service providers, CEDIA
(Custom Electronic Design and Installation Association) and companies in the computing industry. We
believe that our universal remote control database contains device codes that are capable of cantrolling
virtually all infrared remote (“iR”) controlled TVs, VCRs, DVD players, cable converters, CD players, audio
components and satellite receivers, as well as most other infrared remote controiled devices worldwide.

Beginning in 1986 and continuing today, we have compiled an extensive library that covers over 348,000
individual device functions and over 3,300 individual consumer electronic equipment brand names. Our
library is regularly updated with new IR codes used in newly introduced video and audio devices. All such
IR codes are captured from the original manufacturer's remote control devices or manufacturer’s
specifications to ensure the accuracy and integrity of the database. We have also developed patented
technologies that provide the capability to easily upgrade the memory of the wireless control device by
adding IR codes from the library that were not originally included.

Since the third quarter of 2006, we have been operating as one business segment. We have eleven
operating subsidiaries located in Argentina, France, two in Germany, Hong Kong, ltaly, the Netherlands,
Singapore, Spain, India and the United Kingdom.

To recap our results for 2007:

« revenue grew 15% from $235.8 milfion in 2006 to $272.7 million in 2007,

+ full year 2007 operating income grew over 40% to $26.5 million, representing 9.7% operating
margin from $18.5 million, representing 7.9% operating margin in 2006;

« our growth in 2007 was the result of strong demand from the customers in our business category,
due in part to the continuation of the upgrade cycle from analog to digital, consumer demand for
advanced-function offerings from subscription broadcasters, and the mid-year deadline for OCAP
compliance; and

« 2007 capped off a successful three-year period, where sales during this period grew at a
compounded rate of approximately 20% and earnings per share grew at a compounded rate of
approximately 27%.

Our strategic business objectives for 2008 include the following:
« increase our share with existing customers;
* acquire new customers in historically strong regions;
+ continue our expansion into new regions, Asia in particular;
« continue to develop industry-leading technologies and products; and

« continue to evaluate potential merger and acquisition opportunities that may enhance our business.
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We intend for the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations to provice
inforination that will assist in understanding our consolidated financial statements, the changes in certain
key irems in those financial statements from period to period, and the primary factors that accounted for
those: changes, as well as how certain accounting principles, policies and estimates affect our
consnlidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
Unite 1 States of America requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts
of astiets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
staternents and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an on-
going basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition,
altowiince for sales returns and doubtful accounts, warranties, inventory valuation, business combination
purchase price allocations, our review for impairment of long-lived assets, intangible assets and goodwill,
incorr e taxes and stock-based compensation expense. Actual results may differ from these judgmants
and estimates, and they may be adjusted as more information becomes available. Any adjustment could
be significant,

An acounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on
assuniptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made, if different
estimzites reasonably could have been used, or if changes in the estimate that are reasonably likelr to
occur could materially impact the financial statements. Management believes the following critical
accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial staterments.

Revenue recognition

‘We recognize revenue on the sale of products when delivery has occurred, there is persuasive evicence
of an errangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured.

We record a provision for estimated sales returns on product sales in the same period as the related
revenues are recorded. These estimates are based on historical sales returns, analysis of credit memo
data and other known factors. The provision recorded for estimated sales returns and allowances is
deductzd from gross sales to arrive at net sales in the period the related revenue is recorded.

We acurue for discounts and rebates on product sales in the same period as the related revenues are
recorde:d based on historical experience. Changes in such accruals may be required if future rebates and
incentives differ from our estimates. Rebates and incentives are recognized as a reduction of sales if
distributed in cash or customer account credits. Rebates and incentives are recognized as cost of sales if
we provide products or services for payment.

Sales allowances reduce gross accounts receivable to arrive at accounts receivable, net in the same:
period the related receivable is recorded. We have no obligations after delivery of our products other than
the associated warranties. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting
from the inability of our customers to make payments for products sold or services rendered. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is based on a variety of factors, including historical experience, length of
time receivables are past due, current economic trends and changes in customer payment behavior.
Also, we record specific provisions for individual accounts when we become aware of a customer’s
inability to meet its financial obligations to us, such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or deterioration in
the customer’s operating results or financial position. If circumstances related to a customer change, our
estimate:s of the recoverability of the receivables would be further adjusted, either upward or downward.
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We generate service revenue, which is paid monthly, as a result of providing consumer support programs
to some of our customers through our call centers. These service revenues are recognized when services
are performed, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the sales price is fixed or determinable
and collectibility is reasonably assured.

We also license our intellectual property including our patented technologies, trade secrets, trademarks
and database of infrared codes. We record license revenue when our customers ship products
incorporating our intellectual property, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the sales price is
fixed or determinabie and collectibility is reasonably assured.

When a sales arrangement contains multiple elements, such as software products, licenses and/or
services, we allocate revenue to each element based on its relative fair value. The fair values for the
multiple elements are determined based on vendor specific objective evidence (*VSOE”), or the price
charged when the element is sold separately. The residual method is utilized when VSOE exists for all
the undelivered elements, but not for the delivered element. This is performed by allocating revenue to
the undelivered elements (that have VSOE) and the residual revenue to the delivered elements. When
the fair value for an undelivered element cannot be determined, we defer revenue for the delivered
elements until the undelivered element is delivered. We limit the amount of revenue recognition for
delivered elements to the amount that is not contingent on the future delivery of products or services or
subject to customer-specified return or refund privileges.

We account for revenue under software licensing arrangements involving significant production,
modification or customization of software in accordance with SOP 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.” We recognize revenue and profit as work
progresses on long-term, fixed price contracts using the percentage-of-completion method. When
applying the percentage-of-completion method, we rely on estimates of total expected contract revenue
and labor hours which are provided by our project managers. We follow this method because reasonably
dependable estimates of the revenue and labor applicable to various stages of a contract can be made.
Recognized revenue and profit are subject to revisions as the contract progresses to completion.
Revisions to revenue and profit estimates are charged to income in the period in which the facts that give
rise to the revision become known, and losses are accrued when identified.

We have not made any material changes in our methodology for recognizing revenue during the past
three fiscal years. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change
in the estimates or assumptions we use to recognize revenue. However, if actual results are not
consistent with our estimates or assumptions, we may be exposed to losses or gains that could be
material.

Warranty

We warrant our products against defects in materials and workmanship arising during normal use. We
service warranty claims directly through our customer sefvice department or contracted third-party
warranty repair facilities. Our warranty pericd ranges up to three years. We estimate and recognize
product warranty costs, which are included in cost of sales, as we sell the related products. Warranty
costs are forecasted based on the best available information, primarily historical claims experience and
the expected cost per claim.

We have not made any material changes in our warranty reserve methodology during the past three fiscal
years. We do not believe there is a reasonabile likelihood that there will be a material change in the
estimates or assumptions we use to calculate the warranty reserve. However, actual claim costs may
differ from the amounts estimated. If a significant product defect were to be discovered on a high volume
product, our financial statements could be materially impacted. Historically, product defects have been
less than 0.5% of the net units sold.
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Inver.tories

Our inventories consist of primarily wireless control devices and the related component parts, including
integiated circuits, and are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in,
first-out method. We write down our inventory for the estimated difference between the inventory's cost
and its estimated market value based upon our best estimates about future demand and market
condiions.

We carry inventory in amounts necessary to satisfy our customers’ inventory requirements on a timely
basis. We continually monitor our inventory status to contro! inventory levels and write-down any excess
or obsolete inventories on hand. Our total excess and obsolete inventory reserve as of December 31,
2007 and December 31, 2006 was approximately $1.8 million and $2.2 million, respectively, or 5.0% and
7.6% of total inventory.

We heve not made any material changes in the accounting methodology used to establish our excess
and obsolete inventory reserve during the past three fiscal years. We do not believe there is reasonable
likelihood that there will be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions we used to caiculate
our ex:ess and obsolete inventory reserve. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those
projecied by management additional inventory write-downs may be required, which could have a material
impac! on our financial statements. Each 1% change in the ratio of excess and obsolete inventory raserve
to inventory would impact cost of sales by approximately $370 thousand. Such circumstances coulc!
include;, but are not limited to, the development of new competing technology that impedes the
markeiability of our products or the occurrence of significant price decreases in our component parts,
such as integrated circuits.

Business Combinations

We are required to allocate the purchase price of acquired companies to the tangible and intangible
assets and the liabilities assumed, as well as in-process research and development (“IPRD"), based upon
their estimated fair values. Such valuations require management to make significant fair value estimates
and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Management estimates the fair value of
certain intangible assets by utilizing the following (but not limited to}):

« future free cash flow from customer contracts, customer lists, distribution agreements, acquired
developed technologies, and patents;

= expected costs to develop IPR&D into commercially viable products and cash flows froin the
products once they are completed;

* b-and awareness and market position, as well as assumptions regarding the period of time the
b -and wilt continue to be used in aur product portfolio and

» discount rates utilized in discounted cash flow models.
Our estimates are based upon assumptions believed 1o be reasonable; however, unanticipated evenis or
circumsiances may occur which could affect the accuracy of our fair value estimates, including
assumplions regarding industry economic factors and business strategies.
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets
We assess long-lived and intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate 1hat their carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors considered important which could
trigger an impairment review if significant include the following:

» underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results;

+ changes in the manner of use of the assets;
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+ changes in the strategy of our overall business;

» negative industry or economic trends;

+ adecline in our stock price for a sustained period; and

+ avariance between our market capitalization relative to net book value.

When we determine that the carrying value of a long-lived asset or an intangible asset may not be
recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment we perform
an impairment review. If the carrying vaiue of the asset is larger than the undiscounted cash flows, the
asset is impaired. We measure an impairment based cn the projected discounted cash flow method using
a discount rate determined by our management to be commensurate with the risk inherent in our current
business model. In assessing the recoverability, we must make assumptions regarding estimated future
cash flows and other factors to determine the fair value of the respective assets.

We have not made any material changes in our impairment loss assessment methodology during the past
three fiscal years. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change
in the estimates or assumptions we use to calculate the impairment of long-lived assets and intangible
assets. However, if actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions we may be
exposed to material impairment charges.

Goodwilfl

We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill as of December 31 of each year and between annual
evaluations if events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value
of the reporting unit below its carrying amount. Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to:
(1) a significant adverse change in legal factors or in business climate, (2) unanticipated competition or
(3) an adverse action or assessment by a regulator.

When performing the impairment review, we determine the carrying amount of each reporting unit by
assigning assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill, to those reporting units. A reporting unit is
defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment (referred to as a component).
A component of an operating segment is deemed a reporting unit if the component constitutes a business
for which discrete financial information is available, and segment management regularly reviews the
operating results of that component. Our domestic and international operations are components and
reporting units of our scle operating segment.

To evaluate whether goodwill is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit to which the
goodwill is assigned to the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill. We determine the fair
value of each reporting unit using the present value of expected future cash flows for that reporting unit, If
the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the amount of the impairment loss must be
measured.

The impairment loss would be calculated by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying
amount. In calculating the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill, the present value of the
reporting unit's expected future cash flows is allocated to all of the other assets and liabilities of that unit
based on their fair values. The excess of the present value of the reporting unit's expected future cash
flows over the amount assigned to its other assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of goodwill. An
impairment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value.

We have not made any material changes in our impairment loss assessment methodology during the past
three fiscal years. We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change
in the future estimates or assumptions we use to test for impairment losses on goodwill. However, if
actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions we may be exposed to material
impairment charges.
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Income Taxes

We a e periodically under audit by domestic and foreign taxing authorities. These audits include
questions regarding tax filing positions we have taken, including the timing and amount of deductions of
income among various tax jurisdictions.

As pert of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we estimate our income taxes
in sach of the taxing jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves estimating our actual current
tax e» pense together with assessing any temporary differences resulting from the different treatment of
certai items, such as the timing of expense recognition for tax and financial reporting purposes. These
differences may result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our consolidated
balan:e sheet.

We aie required to assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets, which include net operating loss
carryfaorwards and temporary differences that are expected to be deductible in future years, will be
recovarable from future taxable income or other tax planning strategies. If recovery is not likely, we: must
provic e a valuation allowance based on our estimates of future taxable income in the various taxing
jurisdictions and the amount of deferred taxes that are ultimately realizable.

The provision for tax liabilities involves evaluations and judgments of uncertainties in the interpretation of
complex tax regulations by various taxing authorities. Prior to January 1, 2007, in situations involving tax
relate 1 uncertainties, we provided for tax liabilities when we believed such liabilities were probable under
SFAS 5, “Accounting for Contingent Liabilities.” We adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation 48,
“Accoanting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes- an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" {"FIN 487)
effective January 1, 2007. In accordance with the adoption of FIN 48, we evaluate our tax positions to
deterrnine if it is more likely than not that a tax position is sustainable, based on its technical merits. If a
tax pcsition does not meet the more likely than not standard, a full reserve is established against the tax
asset or a liability is recorded. Additionally, for a position that is determined to, more likely than not, be
sustainable, we measure the benefit at the greatest cumulative probability of being realized and establish
a reserve or liability for the balance.

Manaijement believes that our estimates are reasonable; however, actual results may differ. A malerial
change in our tax reserves could have a significant impact on our effective tax rate and our results.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair vatue recegnition provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-
Basec Payment” (“SFAS 123R") using the modified-prospective transition method. Stock-based
compe:nsation expense is presented in the same income statement line as cash compensation paid to the
same employees or directors. During the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we recorded $3.5
millior and $3.1 million, respectively, in pre-tax stock-based compensation expense. Included in SG&A
stock->ased compensation expense is $687 thousand and $353 thousand in pre-tax compensation
expense related to stock awards granted to outside directors for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively. The income tax benefit associated with stock-based compensation expense was $1.2
million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 20086, respectively.

Prior t2 January 1, 2006, we accounted for options granted under these plans using the recognitior and
measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board {"APB”) Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock
lssuec to Employees,” (“APB 25") and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS 123, Under the
intrinsic-value method of APB 25, compensation cost is the excess, if any, of the quoted market prize of .
the stock at the grant date over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. We grant cptions
with an exercise price equal to the market value of the common stock on the date of grant; therefore no
compensation expense was recognized related to those options for the 2005 fiscal year.
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Stock-based compensation expense was included in the following for the years ended December 31,
2007 and 2006:

{in thousands) 2007 2006

COBL OF SAIES -..oeeeeeeeoeeeeee et eeere e s e e e eaee e ves st e eare e saae e e et s saEa b e s s a4 b2 2R 2 e e s b e e $ 3% 26
Research and develoPmENt .........c.vvo oo s e 418 370
Selling, general and administrative ... 3,072 2721
Total Stock-based compensation EXPENSE ..ot $ 3,521 $3.117

During the year ended December 31, 2007, we granted 75,250 and 253,750 stock options to executive
and non-executive employees, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, we expect to recognize $4.4 million of total unrecognized compensation
expense related to non-vested employee stock options over a weighted-average life of 2.36 years.

We issue restricted stock awards to the outside directors for services performed. Under SFAS No. 123R,
compensation expense related to restricted stock awards is based on the fair value of the shares
awarded as of the grant date. Compensation expense for the restricted stock awards is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period of one year. The fair value of non-vested shares is
determined based on the average of the high and low trade prices of our company’s shares on the grant
date. During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we granted 25,000, 22,813 and
20,000 shares, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, we expect to recognize $0.4 million of total unrecognized compensation
expense related to non-vested restricted stock awards over a weighted-average life of six months.

Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of share-based payment
awards requires the utilization of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the share-
based payment awards and stock price volatility. Management determined that historical volatility
calculated based on our actively traded common stock is a better indicator of expected volatility and
future stock price trends than implied volatility. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of
share-based payment awards represent management's best estimates, but these estimates involve
inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. As a result, if factors change and
we use different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the
future. In addition, we are required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate and only recognize expense
for those shares expected to vest.

We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change in the future
estimates or assumptions used to determine stock-based compensation expense. However, if actual
resulls are not consistent with éur estimates and assumptions we may be exposed to material stock-
based compensation expense. For instance, if our actual forfeiture rate decreased by 1%, stock-based
compensation expense would have increased by approximately $0.1 million, or 3.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2007.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our results of operations expressed as a percentage of net sales for “he
periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31, 2007

{in thov sands) 2007 2006 2005

Net $ales ..o, $272,680 100.0% $235,846 100.0% $ 181,349 100.0%
Costof sales .............. e 173,329 63.6 149,970 63.6 114,222 63.0
Gross profit.........cccociviencceiennn, 99,351 364 85,876 36.4 67,127 37.0
Rese:rch and development

EXPENSBS - veveiieeee e eeiieeerree e 8,820 3.2 7.412 31 6,580 3.6
Selling, general and

administrative expenses.............. 64,080 . _23.5 59,947 25.4 48870 _27.0
Operating income.............c..cceu.... 26,451 9.7 18,517 7.9 11,677 6.4
Interest inCOMe......oco i, - 3,104 1.1 1,401 0.5 845 0.5
Other income (expense), net......... 7 0.0 (498) (0.2) 2,152 1.2
Incom 2 before income taxes......... 29,562 10.8 19,420 8.2 14,674 8.1
Provis on for income taxes............ 9,332 3.4 5,900 2.5 4973 2.7
Net income ..o, $ 20230 _74% $_13.520 57% $ 9701 _ 54%

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2006
Conso'idated

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2007 were $272.7 million, an increase of 16% compared to
$235.8 million for the same period last year. Net income for 2007 was $20.2 million or $1.40 per share
"(basic) and $1.33 per share (diluted) compared to $13.5 million or $0.98 per share (basic) and $0.94 per
share (diluted) for 2006.

2007 20086

$ (millions) _% of total $ (miltions) _% of total
Net salss:
BUSITESES wvvieeeeeeeeeeieeceesiereeeeeaeeeertraerneereaasessaantseaneesan $ 2147 787% $ 178.8 75.8%
CONGUMET ..ot erraen 58.0 21.3% 57.0 24.2%
Total N SAIES ... $ 272.7 100.0% $2358  100.0%

Net saless in our Business lines (subscription broadcasting, OEM, and computing companies) were
approxi nately 79% of net sales for 2007 compared to approximately 76% for 2006. Net sales in our
business lines for 2007 increased by 20% to $214.7 million from $178.8 million in 2006. This increase in
sales resulted primarily from an increase in the volume of remote control sales, which was partially offset
by lowe- prices. The increase in remote control sales volume was attributable to the continued
deployment of advanced function set-top boxes by the service operators and market share gains with a
few key subscription broadcasting customers. These advanced functions include digital video record.ng
(‘DVR"} videc-on-demand (“VOD"}, and high definition television (*HDTV"). We expect that the
deployment of the advanced function set-top boxes by the service operators will continue into the
foreseenble future as penetration for each of the functions cited continues to increase. As a result, we
expect Business category revenue to range between $232 and $248 million in 2008.

Net sales in our Consumer lines (One For All® retail, private label, custom installers, and direct import)
were approximately 21% of net sales for 2007 compared to approximately 24% for 2006. Net sales in our
consumer lines for 2007 increased by 2% to $58.0 million, from $57.0 miillion in 2006. The increase in
sales resulted primarily from our expanding presence in the custom electrenic design & installation
associat on ("CEDIA") market. CEDIA sales increased by $1.5 million, or 47%, from 2006. Additionally,
retail salzs made outside of the United States increased by $0.7 million. These sales were positively
impacted by the strengthening of both the Euro and the British Pound compared to the U.S. Dollar, which
resulted in an increase in net sales of approximately $3.8 million. Net of this positive currency effect, 1etail
sales ouiside of the United States were down by $3.1 million, primarily due to lower sales in the UK and
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Australia. Partially offsetting these increases were United States direct import licensing and product
revenues for 2007, which decreased by $0.9 million, or 44%, to $1.2 million in 2007, down from $2.1
million in 2006. This was due to a decline in royalty revenue and a decline in the volume of Kamelecon
sales. Additionally, Private Label sales decreased by $0.3 million, or 9%, to $3.2 million in 2007 from $3.5
million in 2006. This was due to a decline in the volume of Kameleon sales in the United States. We
expect Consumer category revenue to range between $65 and $81 million in 2008.

Gross profit for 2007 was $99.4 million compared to $85.9 million for 2006. Gross profit as a percent of
sales for 2007 was 36.4%, which is comparable to 2006. The gross profit rate was positively impacted by
the strengthening of both the Euro and British Pound compared to the U.S. Dollar, which resulted in an
increase of approximately $3.6 million in gross profit, or an increase of 0.8% in the gross profit rate. A
decrease in royalty expense of $1.4 million, due to lower sales of SKY-branded retail product in Europe,
increased the gross profit rate by 0.7%. Offsetting the increases in the gross profit rate was an increase in
freight and handling expense of $2.7 million in 2007 as compared to 2006, which reduced the gross profit
rate by 0.8%. The increase in freight expense is due primarily to an increase in the percentage of units
that were shipped by air; air freight is significantly more costly than ocean freight. Additionally,
subscription broadcast sales, which generally have a lower gross profit rate as compared to our other
sales, represented a larger percentage of our total business. The impact of this change in mix was a 0.7%
reduction in the gross profit rate.

Research and development expenses increased 19% from $7.4 million in 2006 to $8.8 million in 2007.
The increase is primarily related to internal as well as third party costs associated with the continued
expansion of the Nevo® platform and the development of products for sale in our subscription
broadcasting, retail, and OEM channels. We expect that research and devetopment expenses will range
between $8.8 million and $9.4 million for the full year 2008.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 7% from $59.9 million in 2006 to $64.1 million in
2007. Payroll and benefits increased by $2.6 million due to new hires and meril increases; the
strengthening of both the Euro and British Pound compared to the U.S. Dollar resulted in an increase of
$2.4 million; long-term incentive compensation increased by $1.0 million; delivery, freight, and handling
costs increased by $0.7 million; additional travel resulted in an increase of $0.6 million; director's fees and
expenses increased by $0.4 million; and commission expense increased by $0.2 million. These items
were partially offset by lower employee bonus expense, which decreased by $4.0 million. We expect that
selling, general, and administrative expenses will range between $70.2 and $74.6 million for the full year
2008.

In 2007, we recorded $3.1 million of net interest income compared to $1.4 million net for 2008. This
increase is due to higher money market rates and a higher average cash balance. Net interest income will
range between $3.0 and $4.0 million in 2008.

In 2007, we had $7 thousand in other income, net as compared to $0.5 million of other expense, net for
2006. Approximately $0.5 million of other expense in 2006 resulted from foreign currency losses.

We recorded income tax expense of $9.3 million in 2007 compared to $5.9 million in 2006. Our effective
tax rate was 31.6% in 2007 compared to 30.4% in 2006. The increase in our effective tax rate is due
primarily to additional income earned in higher tax-rate jurisdictions. We estimate that our effective tax
rate will range between 33% and 35% for the full year 2008.
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Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005
Consolidated

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2006 were $235.8 million, an increase of 30% comparad to
$181.3 million for the same period iast year. Net income for 2006 was $13.5 million or $0.98 per share
(basic:) and $0.94 per share (diluted) compared to $9.7 million or $0.72 per share (basic) and $0.62 per
share (diluted) for 2005.

2006 2005
$ imillions} _% of total $ (millions) _% of total
Net sules:
BUSINESS ittt erees s e e e e s e e e e e raeta e $178.8 75.8% $126.2 '39.6%
COIIBUMIEE i e e e ecrt et s e e e e e e s sseereenee e s 57.0 24.2% 55.1 30.4%
Total NELSAlES ......ooveeeereee e $2358 100.0% $1813  120.0%

Net sz les in our Business lines (subscription broadcasting, OEM, and computing companies) were
appro:timately 76% of net sales for 2006 compared to approximately 70% for 2005. Net sales in our
business lines for 2006 increased by 42% to $178.8 million from $126.2 million in 2005. This increase in
sales resulted primarily from an increase in the volume of remote control sales, which was partially offset
by lower prices. The increase in remote control sales volume was attributable to the continued
deployment of advanced function set-top boxes by the service operators and market share gains wth a
few key subscription broadcasting customers. These advanced functions include digital video recording
(*DVR"), video-on-demand ("vOD"), and high definition television ("HDTV").

Net sa es in our Consumer lines (One For All® retail, private label, custom installers, and direct import)
were approximately 24% of net sales for 2006 compared to approximately 30% for 2005. Net sales in our
consurner lines for 2006 increased by 4% to $57.0 million, from $55.1 million in 2005. Retail sales outside
North America and Europe increased by $1.2 million compared to 2005 due to a new distributor in
Australia and strong sales in Argentina, Brazil and New Zealand. The increase in consumer lines net
sales vras alsa driven by the strengthening of both the Euro and the British Pound compared to the .S,
Dollar, which resulted in an increase in net sales of approximately $1.0 million. However, excluding the
positive: foreign exchange impact, the dallar amount of European Retail sales was constant, compared to
the pricr year. This increase in consumer lines net sales was also driven by our entry into the custorn
electronic design & installation association (“CEDIA") market in the second quarter of 2005, as CEDIA
sales ir creased by $0.8 million from 2005. Partially offsetting these increases was Private Label sales,
which ¢ ecreased by $0.5 million, or 12%, to $3.5 million in 2006 from $4.0 million in 2005. This was due
to a dedline in the volume of Kameleon sales in the United States. Additionally, United States direct
import licensing and product revenues for 2006 decreased by $0.4 million or 16%, to $2.1 million in 2006
from $Z.5 million in 2005, due to a decline in royalty revenue.

Gross g rofit for 2006 was $85.9 million compared to $67.1 million for 2005. Gross profit as a percent of
sales fcr 2006 was 36.4% compared to 37.0% for 2005. The decrease in gross profit as a percentage of
net sales was primarily attributable to subscription broadcast sales, which generally have a lower gross
profit raie as compared to our other sales, representing a larger percentage of our total business. The
impact of this change in mix was a 3.3% reduction in the gross profit rate. Partially offsetting this
decrease in the gross profit rate was a reduction of $1.4 million of freight expense recorded in 2006 as
compan:d to 2005. In 2006, there was a decrease in the percentage of units that were shipped by air.
Lower fieight expense contributed to a 1.2% increase in the gross profit rate. A reduction in inventory
scrap e»pense of $0.9 million added 0.7% to the gross profit rate. Scrap expense has declined as
inventory management has improved. Royalty expense increased $41 thousand, but added 0.5% to the
gross profit rate. Royalty expense is tied to Consumer sales, which have declined as a percentage of our
total business. Warranty expense decreased by $0.2 miltion, which added 0.2% to the profit rate. Gress
profit we s also favorably impacted by the strengthening of both the Euro and British Pound comparecl to -
the U.S. Dollar, which resulted in an increase in gross profit of approximately $0.9 miliion and an increase
of 0.2% in the gross profit rate.

Research and development expenses increased 13% from $6.6 million in 2005 to $7.4 million in 2006,
The expensing of stock options, which was adopted on January 1, 2006 (SFAS 123R), accounted for $0.4
million o' the increase. The remainder of the increase is related to development efforts with radio
frequency technology using the Z-Wave platform, continued expansion of the Nevo® platform and
developrnent efforts taking place at our San Mateo location.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 23% from $48.9 million in 2005 to $59.9 million in
2006. Employee performance-based bonuses increased by $4.0 million, payroll and benefits increased by
$3.5 million due to the growth of our company, expensing of stock options, which was adopted on
January 1, 2006 (SFAS 123R), amounted to $2.4 million, travel increased $0.8 million, delivery and
freight costs increased by $0.5 million due to the increase in sales volume, advertising increased by $0.5
million, $0.4 million is attributable to tradeshows and $0.4 million due to the strengthening of both the
Euro and British Pound compared to the U.S. Dollar. These items were partially offset by lower bad debt
expense, which decreased by $1.9 million. Fiscal 2005 bad debt expense included a $1.6 million write-
down for a receivable due from a former European distributor.

In 2008, we recorded $1.4 million of interest income compared to $0.8 million for 2005. This increase is
due to higher money market rates and a higher average cash balance.

In 2006, other expense, net was $0.5 million as compared to $2.2 million of other income, net for 2005.
Approximately $0.5 million of other expense in 20086 resulted from foreign currency losses, and
approximately $2.1 million of other income in 2005 resulted from foreign currency gains.

We recorded income tax expense of $5.9 million in 2006 compared to $5.0 million in 2005. Our effective
tax rate was 30.4% in 2006 compared to 33.9% in 2005. The decrease in our effective tax rate is due
primarily to the Netherlands' statutory tax rate decreasing from 31.5% in 2005 to 29.6% in 2006.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, Increase December 31, Increase December 31,
{in thousands) ' 2007 {decrease) 2006 {decrease} 2005
Cash provided by operating activities ..... $19937 $ 2725 $17212 $ 3,083 §$14,129
Cash used for investing activities............ {(6,183) (1,115) (5,068) (1,031) (4,037)
Cash provided by {used for) financing
activities.........ccocveer e 1,398 (3.785) 5,183 8,429 (3,246)
Effect of exchange rate changes ............ 5,383 276 5107 10,784 (5,677)
Increase
December 31, 2007 (decrease) _December 31, 2006
Cash and cash equivalents.............ccoceeeeeeiieec e, $ 86,610 $ 20,535 $ 66,075
Working capital..........ccoooviii e 140,330 34,151 108,179

Cash provided by operating activities

Our principal sources of funds are from operations. Cash provided by operating activities for 2007 was
$19.9 million, compared to $17.2 million and $14.1 million during 2006 and 2005, respectively. The
increase in cash flows from operations in 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily due to the increase in net
income of 50% from $13.5 million in 2006 to $20.2 million in 2007, offset partially by an increase in days
sales outstanding and a decrease in inventory turns. Our days sales outstanding increased due to certain
customers delaying payment beyond their respective payment terms. We do not believe that these
customers represent a credit risk or bad debt risk. The decrease in inventory turns is due directly to
weaker than expected fourth quarter sales.

The increase in cash flows from operations in 2006 compared to 2005 is primarily due to an increase in
net sales, which resulted in an increase in net income of 39% from $9.7 million in 2005 to $13.5 million in
20086, as well as improvement in our days sales outstanding and overall inventory management. Our days
sales outstanding improved from approximately 74 days at December 31, 2005 to approximately 64 days
at December 31, 2006, due primarily to strong collections from our significant customers. In addition,
despite an increase in net sales of approximately 30% from 2005 to 2008, inventory levels remained
relatively constant with the prior year.
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Cash used for investing activities

Cash used for investing activities during 2007 was $6.2 million as compared to $5.1 miltion and $4.0
miltion during 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase in cash used for investing activities in 2027
comgared to 2006 was due to increased capital expenditures. Capital expenditures in 2007, 2008, and
2005 were $4.8 million, $4.1 million and $3.1 million, respectively. During the first quarter of 2007, we
began to renovate and expand our corporate headquarters. Construction is expected to be completed
duriny the first quarter of 2008. The total cost of this renovation is estimated to be approximately $1.8
million, which will be financed through our current operations. In addition we will receive $0.4 millicn
tenant improvement allowance upon completion of construction. We also plan to make a significant
invesiment to upgrade our information systems, which we expect to cost approximately $1.0 million. The
strategic planning for the upgrade of our information systems commenced in the second quarter of 2007
and we expect implementation to be completed in 2009. In addition, in order to support our sales growth,
annuzl purchases of tooling equipment have increased throughout the years.

Cash orovided by (used for) financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities during 2007 was $1.4 million compared to cash provided by
financing activities during 2006 of $5.2 million and cash used for financing activities of $3.2 million Juring
2005. Proceeds from stock option exercises were $12.6 million during 2007, compared to proceeds of
$7.5 million and $2.9 million during 2006 and 2005, respectively. I[n 2007, gain on stock option exercises
resulted in a $3.3 million excess tax benefit compared to $275 thousand and $0 for 2006 and 2005,
respectively. We purchased 471,300 shares of our common stock at a cost of $14.5 million during 2007,
compzred to 127,326 and 356,285 shares at a cost of $2.6 million and $6.1 million during 2006 ancl 2005,
respectively. We hold these shares as treasury stock, and they are available for reissue. Presently,
excepl for using a minimal number of these treasury shares to compensate our outside board members,
we hare no plans to distribute these shares, although we may change these plans if necessary to fulfill
our on-going business objectives.

Effecti/e August 31, 2006, we amended our original Credit Facility with Comerica, extending our linz of
credit through August 31, 2009. Under the amended Credit Facility, we have authority to acquire up to an
additional 2.0 million shares of our common stock in the open market. From August 31, 2006, through
Decemrber 31, 2007, we purchased 567,900 shares of our common stock, leaving 1,432,100 shares.
availat le for purchase under the Credit Facility. During 2008 we may continus to purchase shares cf our
commqin stock if we believe conditions are favorable and to offset the dilutive effect of stock option
exercises.

The amended Credit Facility provides a $15 million unsecured revolving credit agreement with Comzerica
for an additional three years, expiring on August 31, 2009. Under the Credit Facility, the interest payable
is variable and is based on the bank's cost of funds or the LIBOR rate plus a fixed margin of 1.25%. The
interes! rate in effect as of December 31, 2007 using the LIBOR Rate option plus a fixed margin of 1.25%
was 5.<.7%. We pay a commitment fee ranging from zero to a maximum rate of 1/4 of 1% per year on the
unused portion of the credit line depending on the amount of cash investment retained with Comerica
during e2ach quarter. Under the terms of the Credit Facility, dividend payments are allowed for up to 100%
of the prior fiscal year's net income, to be paid within 80 days of this period’s year end. We are subject to
certain financial covenants related to our net worth, quick ratio, and net income. Amounts available for
borrowing under the Credit Facility are reduced by the outstanding balance of import letters of credit As
of December 31, 2007, we did not have any amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility or any

outstan 1ing import letters of credit. Furthermore, as of December 31, 2007, we were in compliance viith
all financial covenants required by the Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2007, we had available $15
million on the line of credit.

Historically, our working capital needs have typically been greatest during the third and fourth quarters
when accounts receivable and inventories increase in connection with the fourth quarter holiday selling
season. At December 31, 2007, we had $140.3 million of working capital as compared to $106.2 at
Decemtber 31, 2006. The increase in working capital during these periods is principally due to higher
cash, accounts receivable and inventory balances at December 31, 2007 compared to December 31,
2006.
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The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2007 and the effect these
obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

Payments Due by Period

(in thousands) Less than 1-3 4.5 After
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year Years years 5 years
Operating Lease Obligations ............................................... $ 5876 $ 1,756 $2,465 $1,351 § 304
Purchase Obligations ettt et ea st 19,762 _ 19,762 — — —
TOUAl oo eereeeeevees e ee oo eeeses s esesesee e ere e $25638 $21,518 $2.465 § 1,351 $ 304

™ purchase obligations primarily consist of an agreement with a specific vendor to purchase
approximately 80% of our integrated circuits through October 16, 2008 from this vendor.

At December 31, 2007, we did not have any bank guarantees that provide for the bank to make payment
on our behalf in the event of our non-payment for transactions with suppliers in the ordinary course of
business. '

At December 31, 2007, we had approximately $12.2 million and $74.4 million of cash and cash
equivalents in the United States and Europe, respectively.

It is our policy to carefully monitor the state of our business, cash requirements and capital structure. We
believe that funds generated from our operations and available from our credit facility will be sufficient to
fund current business operations as well as anticipated growth at least through the end of 2008; however,
there can be no assurance that such funds will be adequate for that purpose.

H

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not participate in any off balance sheet arrangements.
New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 1577), which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements for assets and liabilities.
SFAS 157 applies when other accounting pronouncements require or permit assets or liabilities to be
measured at fair value. Accordingly, SFAS 157 does not require new fair value measurements. SFAS 157
is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. On February 12, 2008 the FASB issued
FASB Staff Position for SFAS 157 (“FSP FAS 157-2"), which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair
value in an entity’s financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually) untii fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2008. We are required to adopt the provisions of SFAS 157 in the first quarter of
2008, except for those items within scope of FSP FAS 157-2, which we will adopt in the first quarter of
2009. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material effect on our consolidated results of
operations and financial condition.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financiat Assets and
Financial Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" ("SFAS 1597). SFAS 158
expands the use of fair value accounting but does not affect existing standards that require assets or
liabilities to be carried at fair vatue. Under SFAS 159, a company may elect to use fair value to measure
accounts and loans receivable, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities, equity method
investments, accounts payable, guarantees and issued debt. Other eligible items include firm
commitments for financial instruments that otherwise would not be recognized at inception and non-cash
warranty obligations where a warrantor is permitted to pay a third party to provide the warranty goods or
services. If the use of fair value is elected, any upfront costs and fees refated to the item must be
recognized in earnings and cannot be deferred, such as debt issuance costs. The fair value election is
irrevocable and generally made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, even if a company has similar
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instruments that it elects not to measure based on fair value. At the adoption date, unrealized gains and
losses on existing items for which fair value has been elected are reported as a cumulative adjustient to
begirining retained earnings. Subsequent to the adoption of SFAS 159, changes in fair value are
recoginized in eamings. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and is
required to be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal 2008. We currently are determining whether fair
value accounting is appropriate for any of our eligible items and cannot estimate the impact that SFAS
159 will have on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. .

In June 2007, the FASB ratified EITF 07-3, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods
or Services Received for Use in Future Research and Development Activities” (“EITF 07-3"). EITF 07-3
requii'es that nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services that will be used or rendered for
future: research and development activities be deferred and capitalized and recognized as an expense as
the gnods are delivered or the related services are performed. EITF 07-3 is effective, on a prospective
basis, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007 and will be adapted by us in the first quairter of
fiscal 2008. We do not expect the adoption of EITF 07-3 to have a material effect on our consolidated
results of operations and financial condition.

In Dezember 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 {revised 2007), "Business Combinations” (*SFAS
141R’). SFAS 141R establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and
measures in its financiat statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acgquired. SFAS 141R also establishes disclosure
requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature and financial effects of the business combination.
SFAS 141R is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008,
and will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. We do not believe that the adoption of
Stateiment 141R will have an effect on our financial statements; however, the effect is dependent Lpon
whett er we make any future acquisitions and the specifics of those acquisitions.

in December 2007, the FASB ratified EITF 07-1, “Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements Related to
the Development and Commercialization of Intellectual Property” (*EITF 07-1"). EITF 07-1 defines
collaborative arrangements and establishes disclosure requirements for transactions between part cipants
in a coliaborative arrangement and between participants in the arrangement and third parties. EITF 07-1
is effective as of the beginning of an entity's fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008 and should
be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented for all collaborative arrangements existing as of
the efiective date. EITF 07-1 is effective for us beginning January 1, 2009. Currently, we do not have any
collaborative arrangements; therefore, we do not currently believe that the adoption of EITF 07-1 will have
an impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

in December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finzncial
Statersents: an amendment of ARB No. 51”7 (*SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 changes the accounting for, aand the
financ al statement presentation of, noncontrolling equity interests in a consolidated subsidiary. SFAS 160
replacas the existing minerity-interest provisions of Accounting Research Bulletin 51 ("ARB 517),
“Conslidated Financial Statements,” by defining a new term-noncontrolling interests-to replace what
were previously called minority interests. The new standard establishes noncontrolling interests as a
component of the equity of a consolidated entity. The underlying principle of the new standard is that both
the cotrolling interest and the noncontrolling interests are part of the equity of a single economic entity:
the co1solidated reporting entity. Classifying noncontrolling interests as a component of consolidated
equity is a change from the current practice of treating minority interests as a mezzanine item betwaen
liabilitizs and equity or as a liability. The change affects both the accounting and financial reporting for
noncontrolling interests in a consolidated subsidiary. SFAS 160 includes reporting requirements intended
to clearly identify and differentiate the interests of the parent and the interests of the noncontrolling
owner:;. The reporting requirements are required to be applied retrospectively. SFAS 160 is effective for
fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Early
adoption is prohibited. We currently do not believe that the adoption of SFAS 160 will have a signifizant
effect on our financial statements as we wholly own our subsidiaries.
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Outiook

Our focus is to build technology and products that make the consumer’s interaction with devices and
content within the home easier and more enjoyable. The pace of change in the home is increasing. The
growth of new devices, such as DVD players, PVR/DVR technologies, HDTV and home theater solutions,
to name only a few, has transformed control of the home entertainment center into a complex challenge
for the consumer. The more recent introduction and projected growth of digital media technologies in the
consumer’s life will further increase this complexity. We have set out to create the interface for the
connected home, building a bridge between the home devices of today and the networked home of the
future. We intend to invest in new products and technology, particularly in the connected home space,
which will expand our business beyond the control of devices to the control of and access te content,
such as digital media, to enrich the entertainment experience.

We will continue enhancing our leadership position in our core business by developing custom products
for our subscription broadcasting, OEM, retail and computing customers, growing our capture expertise in
infrared technology and radio frequency standards, adding to our portfolio of patented or patent pending
technologies and developing new platform products. We are also developing new ways to enhance
remote controls and other accessory products.

We are continuing to seek ways to use our technology to make the set-up and use of control products,
and the access to and control of digital entertainment within the home entertainment network, easier and
more affordable. in addition, we are working on product line extensions to our One For All® branded
products which include digital antennas, signal boosters, and other A/V accessories.

We are also seeking ways to increase our customer base worldwide, particularly in the areas of
subscription broadcasting, OEM and One For All® international retail. We will continue to work on
strengthening existing relationships by working with customers to understand how to make the consumer
interaction with products and services within the home easier and more enjoyable. We intend to invest in
new products and technology to meet our customer needs now and into the future.

We will continue developing software and firmware solutions that can enable devices such as TVs, set-
top boxes, stereos, autormotive audio systems and other consumer electronic products to wirelessly
connect and interact with home netwarks and interactive services to deliver digital entertainment and
information. This “smart device” category is emerging, and in the remainder of 2008 we lock to continue
to build relationships with our customers in this category.

Throughout 2008, we will continue to evaluate acceptable acquisition targets and strategic partnership
opportunities in our core business lines as well as in the networked home marketplace. We caution,
however, that no assurance can be made that any suitable acquisition target or partnership opportunity
will be identified and, if identified, that a transaction can be consummated. Moreover, if consummated, no
assurance can be made that any such acquisition or partnership will profitably add to-our operations.
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ITEN 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to various market risks, including interest rate and foreign currency exchange ratz
fluctuations. We have established policies, procedures and internal processes governing our
manzgement of these risks and the use of financial instruments to mitigate our risk exposure.

On August 31, 2006, we amended our credit facility to extend for an additional three years, expiring on
August 31, 2009. The interest payable under our revolving Credit Facility with our bank is variable and
basei] on either (i) the bank's cost of funds or (ii) the LIBOR rate plus a fixed margin of 1.25%; the rate is
affected by changes in market interest rates. At December 31, 2007, we had no borrowings on our credit
facilits. The interest rate in effect on the credit facility as of December 31, 2007 using the LIBOR Rate
option plus a fixed margin of 1.25% was 5.47%.

At December 31, 2007 we had wholly owned subsidiaries in the Netherlands, United Kingdom, Germany,
France, Argentina, Spain, Italy, Singapore, Hong Kong and India. Sales from these operations are
typiczlly denominated in local currencies including Euros, British Pounds and Argentine Pesos, thereby
creating exposure to changes in exchange rates. Changes in local currency exchange rates relative to the
U.S. Dollar and, in some cases, to each other, may positively or negatively affect our sales, gross margins
and nzt income. From time to time, we enter into foreign currency exchange agreements to manace our
exposure arising from fluctuating exchange rates that affect cash flows and our reported income. Contract
terms for the foreign currency exchange agreements normally fast less than nine months. We do not
enter into any derivative transactions for speculative purposes.

The vilue of our net balance sheet positions held in foreign currency can also be impacted by fluctuating
exchange rates, as can the value of the income generated by our European subsidiaries. It is difficult to
estimate the impact of fluctuations on reported income, as it depends on the opening and closing rates,
the average net balance sheet positions held in a foreign currency and the amount of income generated
in loczl currency. We routinely forecast what these balance sheet positions and income generated in local
currer cy may be, and we take steps to minimize exposure as we deem appropriate.

The sensitivity of earnings and cash flows to the variability in exchange rates is assessed by applying an
appro.dimate range of potential rate fluctuations to our assets, obligations and projected results of
operalions denominated in foreign currency. Based on our overall foreign currency rate exposure at
Deceriber 31, 2007, we believe that movements in foreign currency rates could have a material affect on
our financial position. We estimate that if the exchange rates for the Euro and the British Pound relative to
the U.3. Dollar fluctuate 10% from December 31, 2007, net income and cash flows in the first quarer of
2008 would fluctuate by approximately $0.1 million and $9.5 million, respectively.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Univearsal Electronics Inc.

We F ave audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Universal Electronics Inc. (a
Delaware corporation) as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of
incorie, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 2207. Qur audits of the basic financial statements included the financial statement schedule listed in
the ir dex to consoclidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement
schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Boarc (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit incl.des
exam ning, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial stateiments.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
manajement, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
resperts, the financial position of Universal Electronics Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2007 in confarmity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in
our oginion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As dis ;ussed in Notes 2 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted FASB
Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of Statemert No.
109", effective January 1, 2007. As discussed in Notes 2 and 11 to the consolidated financial staternents,
the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based compensation as a result of adopting
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment”, effective January 1,
20086,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board 'United States), Universal Electronics Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated
March 5, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion.

/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

Irvine, California
March i, 2008
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
{In thousands, except share-related data)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash eqUIValENLS ...............ooovvee i r et sane e
Accounts receivable, Net........ ... e
INVENEOMIES, MBL ... e et et rre e st ren e e s sabes s
Prepaid expenses and other current @ssetS..........cococveeveeveiierinne e
Deferred INCOME tAXES.......cviii it sie s e ans s st s s sbenas
Total CUIMENE ASSEES ..o e e e e e eeeeeee e e eaea s
Equipment, furniture and fixtures, Net............cccoocvvveivie e
GOOAWIIL.... .ot et etba et sats st rss st r b s asbbaresasasbene s s iannes san
Intangible assets, NeL........cii e b
L0 () 1= Tt 1 TR

Current liabilities:
ACCOUNES PAYADIE ..o et
Accrued sales discounts/rebates/royalties ..........ccccoevei v,
Accrued INCOME tAXES .........cce e e e rar e e e e b e e e nna e
Accrued comMpPenSatioN ... e
Other accrued EXPEeNSES..........ccciiui et ee e e
Total current Iabilifies ........occo v verienren e e
Long term liabilities:
Deferred INCOME LaXS.......cciviririiiieireen i et e er e seese e rae e sreenrees
INCOME tax PAYADIE........cccrviriiee e e e e
Other long term liabilities ......... ..o e
Total Habilities ..o e

Stockhelders' equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or

QUESEANAING. ...ttt e ee et ae e
Common stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized; 18,547,019

and 17,543,235 shares issued at December 31, 2007 and 2006,

FESPECHVEIY ...oooiiiiii ittt e et e e e e eae s s
Patd-in Capital .......co oot e e e s
Accumulated other comprehensive iINCOME.........cc.ceeeiieiiiiivreeciee e
Retaingd @arniNgS . ......o oot verr e e e e e e e ra e e nrnaen

Less cost of common stock in treasury, 3,975,439 and 3,528,827 shares at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively .......cccvvvvece s e
Total stockholders’ eqQUItY .......ccvivciiiierrice e e e
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .........ccocevveeiiceeiir e

December 31,
2007 2006

$ 86610 $ 66,075
60,146 51,867
34,906 26,459
1,874 2,722
2,871 3,069

186,407 150,192
7,558 5,899
10,863 10,644
5,700 5,587

369 221
6,388 __ 6,065
$£217,285 $178.608

$ 29,382 $§ 20,153
4,671 4,498
1,720 4,483
3,737 7430
6,567 7.449

46,077 44,013

127 103
1,506 —
1,333 275

49,043 44,391

185 175
114,441 94,733
11,221 2,759
88,508 68,514
214,355 166,181

(46.113) _ (31.864)
168,242 _ 134,217

$217.285 3178608

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
NEL SEIES ..ottt e e eneer et en $272,680 $235,846 §$181,349
Cost Of SAIBS ..o 173,329 _ 149970 _ 114,222
Gross Profit ... e e ss e e 99,351 85,876 67,127
Research and development expenses..........ccccovvveeiivciecceveccev s 8,820 7,412 6,580
Sellinyy, general and administrative expenses...........cocvcvevvveeniencenneenne 64,080 59,947 48,870
Op2rating INCOME ....vivrie ettt sb s 26,451 18,517 11,677
INEEIESt INCOME . ..eeiieieeeee et ettt bre e 3,104 1,401 845
Other income (BXPENSE), NEL.......cccieeei i rierrrrie e sesae e eee e ereeeeenees 7 (498) 2,152
Income before provision for iNCOME taxes........covvecvevrenrecrercrirecn e 29,562 19,420 14,674
Provision for iNCOME tAXeS ......c.coovevei e seeeveeeriear e e 9.332 5,900 4.973
NELINCOME ... ocviviitiieiicrer ettt et ettt s s eae st s sae et e seeresnearsese e e $ 20230% 13520 $ _9.701
Earnings per share:
BASIC .v.vvveveereereneseeeeeeeeeeeeees e e e s em et aee e naee e e e ean b b et bt aber et aben $§ 140% 098 §__ 072
8 0 (=Y [T 3 133§ 094 §_ 089
Sharess used in computing earnings per share:
BASIC cuiivei e eree et se e e e e e tree s e e e e b e ar g et e R be AT er s arae g esea s tneeseans 14,410 _ 13,818 _ 13,462
DB ... e e s 5177 _ 14,432 13,992

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Cash provided by operating activities:
NEBLINGOMIE. ....o.tiiciiitieteeee et e et eres st ee e coeeeebs e b s s et seeeressenerans $ 20,230 $13,520 $ 9,701
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization ..., 4,675 4,187 3,702
Provision for doubtful accounts ........cccoo i 23 210 2121
Provision for inventory write-downs ........c.cciiinnn i 2,146 1,810 2,735
Deferred iNCOME LAXES. ..o e ebae e 219 (637) {130)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options..........cco i 3,339 827 853
Excess tax benefit..........c.oooiciiiiiie (3,320) (275} —
Shares issued for employee benefit plan ... 631 529 533
Stock-based compensation .............c.cccer e 3,521 3,117 406
Write down of investment in private company .............ccccivinrieeens — — 3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
ACCOUNTS receiVabIB ... e e (5,033) (7,120) (6,966)
IAVENTOTIES ..o ivvriees e ee ettt e sieae e e e e e e e s en oo s enibs s {9,194) {280) (7,128)
Prepaid expenses and other assets ... 837 1,459  (1,207)
Accounts payable and accrued exXpenses .........cccevvinrer e 3,082 2,546 5416
Accrued income and other taxes ... {2,.119) _ (2.681) __4.090
Net cash provided by operating activities...............c.cin 19937 _ 17,212 _ 14,129
Cash used for investing activities:
Acquisition of equipment, furniture and fixtures.............cccocceoiiie (4,802) (4,057) (3.137)
Acquisition of intangible assets................cc (1.381) _ {1.011) {900)
Net cash used for investing activities ..........ccccooeninecniin (6,183) _ (5,068) _ (4,037)
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities:
Proceeds from stock options exercised ... 12,597 7,497 2,884
Treasury stock purchased ..o (14,519) (2,589) (6,110)
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation ...........cc.coeeiins 3,320 275 —
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities....................... 1,398 5,183  (3,246)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash.........oviniineen 5383 5107 _ (5877)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents..............cccoo e, 20,535 22434 1,169
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year............ccci 66,075 43641 _ 42472
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year...............cccceccccciinninnnninns $ 86610 $66.075 $43.641

Supplemental Cash Flow Information — Income taxes paid were $8.1 million, $8.7 million and $0.3 million
in 2007, 2006 and 20085, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Description of Business

Universal Electronics Inc., based in Southern California, has developed a broad line of easy-to-use, pre-
prograrimed universal wireless control products and audio-video accessories that are marketed to
enhance home entertainment systems as well as software designed to enable consumers to wirelessly
connec:, control and interact with an increasingly complex home environment. Our primary markets
include retail, private label, original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), custom installers, cable and
satellite service providers, and companies in the personal computing industry. Over the past 20 years, we
have dewveloped a broad portfolio of patented technologies and a database of home connectivity soflware
that we ticense to our customers, including many leading Fortune 500 companies. In addition, we sell our
univers al wireless control products and other audio/visual accessories through our European
headquarters in the Netherlands, and to distributors and retailers in Europe, Australia, New Zealand
South #frica, the Middle East, Mexico, and selected countries in Asia and Latin America under the Cne
For All§} brand name.

As usetl herein, the terms “we”, *us” and “our” refer to Universal Electronics Inc. and its subsidiaries
unless the context indicates to the contrary.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principiss of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and those of our wholly-owned subsidiaries.
All the intercompany accounts and significant transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated
financiz | statements.

Segmeiit Realignment

in the third quarter of 2006, we integrated the SimpleDevices business segment into our Core Businass
segment in order to more closely align our financial reporting with our business structure. The segment
integration did not impact previously reported consolidated net revenue, income from operations, net
income or earnings per share.

Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United '3tates of America requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amo.unts
of asse's and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an on-
going basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgmenits, including those related to revenue recognition,
allowance for sales returns and doubtful accounts, warranties, inventory valuation, business combination
purchase price allocations, our review for impairment of long-lived assets, intangible assets and goodwill,
income taxes and stock-based compensation expense. Actual results may differ from these judgments
and estimatas, and they may be adjusted as more information becomes available. Any adjustment ¢ould
be sign ficant.

Reven.e Recognition

We recognize revenue on the sale of products when delivery has occurred, there is persuasive evidence
of an arrangement, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured.
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We record a provision for estimated sales returns on product sales in the same period as the related
revenues are recorded. These estimates are based on historical sales returns, analysis of credit memo
data and other known factors. The provision recorded for estimated sales returns and allowances is
deducted from gross sales to arrive at net sales in the period the related revenue is recorded.

We accrue for discounts and rebates on product sales in the same period as the related revenues are
recorded based on historical experience. Changes in such accruals may be required if future rebates and
incentives differ from our estimates. Rebates and incentives are recognized as a reduction of sales if
distributed in cash or customer account credits. Rebates and incentives are recognized as cost of sales if
we provide products or services for payment.

Sales allowances reduce gross accounts receivable to arrive at accounts receivable, net in the same
period the related receivable is recorded. We have no obligations after delivery of our products other than
the associated warranties (See Note 21). We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated
losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make payments for products sold or services
rendered. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on a variety of factors, including historical
experience, length of time receivables are past due, current economic trends and changes in customer
payment behavior. Also, we record specific provisions for individual accounts when we become aware of
a customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us, such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or
deterioration in the customer's operating results or financial position. If circumstances related to a
customer change, our estimates of the recoverability of the receivables would be further adjusted, either
upward or downward.

We generate service revenue, which is paid monthly, as a result of providing consumer support programs
to some of our customers through our call centers. These service revenues are recognized when services
are performed, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the sales price is fixed or determinable,
and collectibility is reasonably assured.

We also license our intellectual property including our patented technologies, trade secrets, trademarks,
and database of infrared codes. We record license revenue when our customers ship products
incorporating our inteltectual property, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the sales price is
fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.

When a sales arrangement contains multiple elements, such as software products, licenses and/or
services, we allocate revenue to each element based on its relative fair value. The fair values for the
multiple elements are determined based on vendor specific objective evidence (*VSOE”), or the price
charged when the element is sold separately. The residual method is utilized when VSOE exists for all
the undelivered elements, but not for the delivered element. This is performed by allocating revenue to
the undelivered etements (that have VSOE) and the residual revenue to the delivered elements. When
the fair value for an undelivered element cannot be determined, we defer revenue for the delivered
elements unti! the undelivered element is delivered. We limit the amount of revenue recognition for
delivered elements to the amount that is not contingent on the future delivery of products or services or
subject to customer-specified return or refund privileges.

We account for revenue under software licensing arrangements involving significant production,
modification or customization of software in accordance with SOP 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts™. We recognize revenue and profit as work
progresses on long-term, fixed price contracts using the percentage-of-completion method. When
applying the percentage-of-completion method, we rely on estimates of total expected contract revenue
and labor hours which are provided by our project managers. We follow this method because reasonably
dependable estimates of the revenue and labor applicable to various stages of a coniract can be made.
Recognized revenue and profit are subject to revisions as the contract progresses to completion. .
Revisions to revenue and profit estimates are charged to income in the period in which the facts that give
rise to the revision become known, and losses are accrued when identified.
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Effectiv2 January 1, 2007, we applied the opinion reached by the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force on
EITF Issue 06-3, “How Taxes Coliected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities
Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation) (“EITF 06-3").”
The consensus in EITF 06-3 does not require us to reevaluate our existing accounting policies for income
stateme:nt presentation. We present all non-income government-assessed taxes (sales, use and value
added taxes) collected from our customers and remitted to governmental agencies on a net basis
{excludz=d from revenue) in our financial statements. The government-assessed taxes are recorded n
other accrued expenses until they are remitied to the government agency.

Foreigr. Currency Transfation and Foreign Currency Transactions

The fur ctional currency for our foreign operations is their local currency. The translation of foreign
currencies into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using exchange rates in effect at the
balance: sheet dates and for revenue and expense accounts using the average exchange rate during the
period. The gains and losses resulting from the translation are included in the foreign currency translation
adjustment account, a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity,
and are: excluded from net income. The portions of inter-company accounts receivable and accounts
payabl: that are not intended for settlement are translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance:
sheet cate.

We recorded a foreign currency translation gain of $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007
and a fareign currency translation gain of $8.0 million and a foreign currency translation loss of $8.8
million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The foreign currency translation
gain of $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 was driven by the weakening of the U.S. dollar
versus the Euro. The U.S. dollar/Euro spot rate was 1.46 and 1.32 at December 31, 2007 and December
31, 20086, respectively. The foreign currency translation gain of $8.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2006 was driven by the weakening of the U.S. dollar versus the Euro. The U.S. dollar/Euro spot rate
was 1.32 and 1.18 at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively. The foreign currency
translazion loss of $8.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 was driven by the strengthening of
the U.55. dollar versus the Euro. The U.S. dollar/Euro spot rate was 1.18 and 1.35 at December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2004, respectively.

Transaction gains and losses generated by the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on
recordi:d assets and liabilities denominated in a currency different than the functional currency of the
applice ble entity are recorded in other income (expense), net (See Note 15).

Cash ¢nd Cash Equivalents

Cash &nd cash equivalents include cash accounts and all investments purchased with initial maturities of
three rionths or less. We maintain cash and cash equivalents with various financial institutions. These
financial institutions are located in many different geographic regions. We mitigate our exposure to credit
risk by placing our cash and cash equivalents with high quality financial institutions.

At December 31, 2007, we had approximately $12.2 million and $74.4 million of cash and cash
equivalents in the United States and Europe, respectively. At December 31, 2006, we had approximately
$6.1 willion and $60.0 million of cash and cash equivalents in the United States and Europe, respestively.

Inventories

Our inventories consist of primarily wireless control devices and the related component parts, including
integraited circuits, and are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-n,
first-out method. We write down our inventory for the estimated difference between the inventory's cost
and its estimated market value based upon our best estimates about future demand and market
conditions.
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We carry inventory in amounts necessary to satisfy our customers’ inventory requirements on a timely
basis. We continually monitor our inventory status to control inventory levels and write-down any excess
or obsolete inventories on hand. Our total excess and obsolete inventory reserve as of December 31,
2007 and December 31, 2006 was approximately $1.8 million and $2.2 million, respectively, or 5.0% and
7.6% of total inventory. The decline in the inventory reserve was primarily due to scrapping of inventory in
2007 that was reserved in 2006. .

If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management additional inventory
write-downs may be required, which coutd have a material impact on our financial statements. Such
circumstances could include, but are not limited to, the development of new competing technology that
impedes the marketability of our products or the occurrence of significant price decreases in our
component parts, such as integrated circuits.

Equipment, Fumiture and Fixtures

Equipment, furniture and fixtures are recorded at cost. To qualify for capitalization an asset must have a
useful life greater than one year and a cost greater than $1,000 for individual assets or $5,000 for bulk
assets. For financial reporting purposes, depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the respective assets. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost .
and accumulated depreciation are removed from the appropriate accounts and any gain or loss is
included in operating income.

Estimated useful lives consist of the following:

Tooling and Equipment ™ .................... 2-7 Years
Computer Equipment .......................... 3-5 Years
SoftWare .........ccoveeei e 3-5 Years
Furniture and Fixtures.........cccccoeeeennes 5-7 Years
Leasehold Improvements..................... Lesser of lease term or useful life (approximately 2 to 6 years)

' We purchase tooling equipment for the production of our products. Tooling equipment is recorded on
our balance sheet; but is located at our third party manufactures. Tooling equipment as of December
31, 2007 and 2006 was $10.8 million and $8.5 million, respectively (See Note 6). Annually, we analyze
tooling equipment for impairment along with our other long-lived assets.

Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist principally of distribution rights, patents, trademarks, trade names, and
developed and core technologies. Capitalized amounts related to patents represent external legal costs
for the application and maintenance of patents. Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line
method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging fram two te ten years.

We assess the impairment of long-lived assets and intangible assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors considered important
which could trigger an impairment review include the following: (1) significant underperformance relative
to expected historical or projected future operating results; (2) significant changes in the manner or use of
the assets or strategy for the overall business and {3) significant negative industry or economic trends.

When we determine that the carrying value may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or
more of the above indicators of impairment, we conduct an impairment review. The asset is impaired if its
carrying value exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and
eventua! disposition of the asset. In assessing recoverability, we must make assumptions regarding
estimated future cash flows and other factors,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The impairment lass is the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. We
calculate fair value by taking the sum of the discounted projected cash flows over the assets remair.ing
useful ife, using a discount rate commensurate with the risks inherent in our current business model.
When calculating fair value, we must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows, discount
rates and other factors. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 we recorded
impairrent charges of $63 thousand, $20 thousand and $0, respectively, related to our long-lived assets.
The impairment charges are recorded in depreciation expense.

Goodwill

We record the excess purchase price of net tangible and intangible assets acquired over their estimated
fair value as goodwill. We have adopted the provisions of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets.”
Under SFAS 142, we are required to test goodwili for impairment at least annually. We evaluate the:
carryirg value of goodwill as of December 31 of each year and between annual evaluations if evenis
occur or circumstances change that may reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying
amourit. Such circumstances could include, but are not limited to: (1) a significant adverse change in legal
factors or in business climate, (2} unanticipated competition, or (3) an adverse action or assessmertbya
regula‘or. In performing the impairment review, we determine the carrying amount of each reporting unit
by assigning assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill, to those reporting units {See Note: 3). A
reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment {referred to as
a comonent}. A compenent of an operating segment is deemed a reporting unit if the component
constilutes a business for which discrete financial information is available and segment management
regularly reviews the operating results of that component.

To evaluate whether goodwill is impaired, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit to which the
goodwill is assigned to the reporting unit's carrying amount, including goodwill. We determine the fair
value -5f each reporting unit using the present value of expected future cash flows for that reporting unit. If
the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the amount of the impairment loss must be
meastired.

The impairment loss would be calculated by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill to its carrying
amount. In calculating the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill, the present value of the

report ng unit's expected future cash flows is allocated to all of the other assets and liabilities of that unit
based on their fair values. The excess of the present value of the reporting unit's expected future cash
flows over the amount assigned to its other assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of goodwil . An
impaitment loss would be recognized when the carrying amount of goodwil! exceeds its implied fair value.

We conducted annual goodwill impairment reviews as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Based on
the ar alysis performed, we determined that the fair values of our repaorting units exceeded their carrying
amouts, including goodwill, and therefore they were not impaired.

Duriny the fourth quarter of 2004 we purchased SimpleDevices for approximately $12.8 million in cash,
including direct acquisition costs, and a potential performance-based payment of our unregistered
commr on stock, if certain future financial objectives were achieved. As a result of the performance-oased
inceniive and other factors, our chief operating decision maker ("CODM”) reviewed SimpleDevices’
discrete operating results through the second quarter of 20086, and SimpleDevices was defined as an
“operitting segment” and a “reporting unit” as well.

Effective at the end of second quarter 2006, we completed our integration of SimpleDevices' techr ologies
with cur existing technologies, merged SimpleDevices’ sales, engineering and administrative functions
into our “domestic” reporting unit, and the performance-based payment related to the acquisition expired.
Comraencing in the third quarter of 2006, our CODM no longer reviews SimpleDevices' financial
staternents on a stand alone basis. As a result of these activities, SimpleDevices became part of the
“domastic” reporting unit within our single operating segment.
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Income Taxes

Income tax expense includes U.S. and international income taxes. We account for income taxes using the
liability method. We record deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities on our balance sheet for
expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in different periods for financial
statement purposes versus tax return purposes using enacted tax rates that will be in effect when these
differences reverse. We record a valuation allowance to reduce net deferred tax assets if we determine
that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. A current tax asset or liability
is recognized for the estimated taxes refundable or payable for the current year.

In accordance with the adoption of FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes- an Interpretation
of Statement No. 109,” if a tax position does not meet the more likely than not standard, a full reserve is
established against the tax asset or a liability is recorded. Additionally, a tax position that meets the more-
likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the
financial statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50
percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. -

Capitalized Software Costs

We account for software development costs in accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs
of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.” Costs incurred internally while
creating a computer software product are expensed when incurred as research and development until
technological feasibility has been established. We determined that technological feasibility for our
products is established when a working model is complete. Once technologicai feasibility is established,
software costs are capitalized until the product is available for general release to customers and is then
amortized using the greater of (i) the ratio that current gross revenues for a product bear to the total
current and anticipated future gross revenues or (ii} the straight-line method over the remaining estimated
economic life of the product. Software development costs consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits,
supplies and materials. The straight-line amortization periods for capitalized software costs range from 1
to 2 years.

Capitalized software costs are stated at cost net of accumulated amortization. Unamortized capitalized
software costs were $0.4 million and $0.1 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. We
capitalized $0.5 million, $0 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Amortization expense related to capitalized software costs was $0.2 million, $0.3 million and $0.3 million
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively (See Note 3).

Research and Development

We account for research and development costs in accordance with SFAS No. 2, "Accounting for
Research and Development Costs.” As such, research and development costs are expensed as incurred
and consist primarily of salaries, employee benefits, supplies and materials.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense was $2.3 million, $2.2 million and $1.5
million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

In September 2000, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued EITF 00-10, “Accounting for Shipping and
Handling Fees and Costs.” EITF 00-10 requires shipping and handling fees billed to customers to be
classified as revenue and shipping and handling costs to be either classified as cost of sales or disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements if classified elsewhere in the income statement. We include
shipping and handling fees billed to customers in net sales. Shipping and handling costs associated with
in-bound freight are recorded in cost of goods sold. Other shipping and handling costs are included in
selling, general and administrative expenses and totaled $7.9 million, $6.9 miilion and $6.2 million for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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Derivatives

Our for2ign currency exposures are primarily concentrated in the Euro and British Pound. Depending on
the predictability of future receivables, payables and cash flows in each operating currency, we
periodically enter into foreign currency exchange contracts with terms normally lasting less than nine:
months te protect against the adverse effects that exchange-rate fluctuations may have on our foreign
currency-denominated receivables, payables, cash flows and reported income. We do not enter into
financial instruments for speculation or trading purposes. These derivatives have not qualified for hedge
accounting. The gains and losses on both the derivatives and the foreign currency-denominated balances
are recorded as foreign exchange transaction gains or losses and are classified in other income
(expense), net. Derivatives are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. The estimated fair value of
derivative financial instruments represents the amount required to enter into similar offsetting contracts
with sirilar remaining maturities based on quoted market prices,

We held foreign currency exchange contracts which resulted in a net pre-tax gain of approximately $784
thousand for the year ended December 31, 2007 and net pre-tax loss of approximately $97 thousand and
$408¢ trousand for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. We had one foreign
currency exchange contract outstanding at December 31, 2007, a forward contract with a notional value
of $5.0 million. We had two foreign currency exchange contracts outstanding at December 31, 2006,
known as participating forwards, both with a notional value of $6.25 million each. Both contracts setiled
on January 3, 2007.

We held a US dollar/Euro forward contract with a notional value of $5.0 million and a forward rate of
$1.4551 US dollar/Euro as of December 31, 2007, due for settlement on January 25, 2008. We held the
Euro position on this contract. The fair value of this contract was $11 thousand at December 31, 2007;
and this contract value is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets. At December 31, 2006,
we had a loss on participating forward contracts of approximately $0.6 million, which was included in
other azcrued expenses.

Stock-t3ased Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial
Accour ting Standards {“SFAS") No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R") using the modified-
prospe:tive transition method. Under this transition method, compensation expense recognized for ihe
year er ded December 31, 2006 includes: (a) compensation expense for all share-based awards granted
prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123 and (b) compensation expense for all share-based
awards granted subsequent to December 31, 2005 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. Results for prior periods have not baen restated. We
recogn ze such compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the
service period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term of three to four years. Prior tc
January t, 2006, we accounted for options granted under our plans using the intrinsic value method
under Accounting Principles Board (*APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employzes,”
(“APB :’5") and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation” (*SFAS 123"). In March 20085, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC")
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 {(*"SAB 107") regarding the SEC's interpretation of SFAS 123R
and the: valuation of share-based compensation for public companies. We have applied the provisions of
SAB 107 to our adoption of SFAS 123R.

We use: the Black Scholes option pricing model to measure the stock-based compensation expense. The
assum)tions used in the Black Scholes model includes the following: weighted average fair value of
grant, risk-free interest rate, expected volatility and expected life in years. Refer to Note 10 for furthe:r
discussion on stock-based compensation.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

in September 20086, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 1577}, which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements for assets and liabilities.
SFAS 157 applies when other accounting pronouncements require or permit assets or liabilities to be
measured at fair value. Accordingly, SFAS 157 does not require new fair value measurements. SFAS 157
is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. On February 12, 2008 the FASB issued
FASB Staff Position for SFAS 157 (“FSP FAS 157-27), which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair
value in an entity’s financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually) until fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2008. We are required to adopt the provisions of SFAS 157 in the first quarter of
2008, except for those items within scope of FSP FAS 157-2, which we will adopt in the first quarter of
2009. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 to have a material effect on our consolidated results of
operations and financial conditions.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (“SFAS 1597). SFAS 159
expands the use of fair value accounting but does not affect existing standards that require assets or
liabilities to be carried at fair value. Under SFAS 159, a company may elect to use fair value to measure
accounts and loans receivable, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities, equity method
investments, accounts payable, guarantees and issued debt. Other eligible items include firm
commitments for financial instruments that otherwise would not be recognized at inception and non-cash
warranty obligations where a warrantor is permitted to pay a third party to provide the warranty goods or
services. If the use of fair value is elected, any upfront costs and fees related to the item must be
recognized in earnings and cannot be deferred, such as debt issuance costs. The fair value election is
irrevocable and generally made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, even if a company has similar
instruments that it elects not to measure based on fair value. At the adoption date, unrealized gains and
losses on existing items for which fair value has been elected are reported as a cumulative adjustment to
beginning retained earnings. Subsequent to the adoption of SFAS 159, changes in fair value are
recognized in earnings. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and is
required to be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal 2008. We currently are determining whether fair
value accounting is appropriate for any of our eligible items and cannot estimate the impact that SFAS
159 will have on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In June 2007, the FASB ratified EITF 07-3, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments for Goods
or Services Received for Use in Future Research and Development Activities” ("EITF 07-3"). EITF 07-3
requires that nonrefundable advance payments for goods or services that will be used or rendered for
future research and development activities be deferred and recognized as an expense as the goods are
delivered or the related services are performed. EITF 07-3 is effective, on a prospective basis, for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2007 and will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal 2008. We
do not expect the adoption of EITF 07-3 to have a material effect on our consolidated results of
operations and financial condition.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” ("SFAS
141R"). SFAS 141R establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and
measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. SFAS 141R also establishes disclosure
requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature and financial effects of the business combination.
SFAS 141R is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008,
and will be adopted by us in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. We do not believe that the adoption of
Statement 141R will have an effect on our financial statements; however, the effect is dependent upon
whether we make any future acquisitions and the specifics of those acquisitions.
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in December 2007, the FASB ratified EITF 07-1, “Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements Related to
the Development and Commercialization of Iniellectual Property” (“‘EITF 07-17). EITF 07-1 defines
collaborative arrangements and establishes disclosure requirements for transactions between partic pants
in a collaborative arrangement and between participants in the arrangement and third parties. EITF ()7-1
is effeciive as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008 and should
be appl ed retrospectively to all prior periods presented for all collaborative arrangements existing as of
the effective date. EITF 07-1 is effective for us beginning January 1, 2009. Currently, we do not have any
collaborative arrangements; therefore, we do not currently believe that the adoption of EITF 07-1 wil have
an impact on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In Dece mber 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial
Statemants: an amendment of ARB No. 517 (“SFAS 160”). SFAS 160 changes the accounting for, and the
financiz | statement presentation of, nencontrolling equity interests in a consolidated subsidiary. SFAS 160
replaces the existing minority-interest provisions of Accounting Research Bulletin 51 (“ARB 517,

“Conso idated Financial Statements,” by defining a new term-noncontrolling interests-to replace what
were previously called minority interests. The new standard establishes noncontrolling interests as a
component of the equity of a consolidated entity. The underlying principle of the new standard is tha! both
the controlling interest and the noncontrolling interests are part of the equity of a single economic entity:
the consolidated reporting entity. Classifying noncontrolling interests as a component of consolidated
equity is a change from the current practice of treating minority interests as a mezzanine item between
liabilities and equity or as a liability. The change affects both the accounting and financial reporting for
noncontrolling interests in a consolidated subsidiary, SFAS 160 includes reporting requirements intended
to clearly identify and differentiate the interests of the parent and the interests of the noncontrolling
owners. The reporting requirements are required to be applied retrospectively. SFAS 160 is effective: for
fiscal yizars and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. E:arly
adoption is prohibited. We currently do not believe that the adoption of SFAS 160 will have a significant
effect on our financial statements as we wholly own our subsidiaries.

Note 3 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Under the requirements of SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, the unit of accounting for goodwill
is at a l2vet of reporting referred to as a “reporting unit.” SFAS 142 defines a reporting unit as either (1) an
operating segment — as defined in SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information” or (2) one level below an operating segment — referred to as a component. Our
domesiic and international components are “reporting units” within our one operating segment “Core:
Busine:ss.” Goodwill is reviewed for impairment as of December 31st of each year. Goodwill of a reporting
unit is tested for impairment between annual tests, if an event occurs or circumstances change that would
more lilkely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.

Effective at the end of second quarter 2006, we completed our integration of SimpleDevices’ technologies
with our existing technologies, merged SimpleDevices' sales, engineering and administrative functicns
into our "domestic” reporting unit, and the performance-based payment related to the acquisition expired.
In addiiion, our CODM no longer reviews SimpleDevices’ financial statements on a stand alone basis,
commencing in the third quarter of 2006. As a result of these activities, SimpleDevices became part of the
“domestic” reporting unit within our single operating segment.

Goodwill for the domestic operations was generated from the acquisition of a remote control company in
1998 and the acquisition of a software and firmware solutions company, SimpleDevices, in 2004.
Goodwill for international operations resulted from the acquisition of remote control distributors in the UK
in 199¢€, Spain in 1999 and France in 2000. '
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Goodwill information for domestic and international components is as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2007 2006
L Tare s 1L | FRURTTTTE TR T RO OO ORI OPPCPUPPPPP PRSP
D OITIES I G et ieteeiesssoiseesesomeeeeeea et e eeese et eeesasaeaanaeeenntasasateeeer s rae e e rr et aR R R e et ta et s $ 8314 % 8314
IVEEINALONEAIT <ot e e s ees e e e et s baebs e st r s et b s s sb bbb e 2,549 _ 2,330
TRl GOOAWIIl ..ot seese e bee e e e s s et s s mrs s ns s enenss s s an e s $10,863 $ 10,644

' The difference in international goodwill reparted at December 31, 2007, as compared to the goodwill
reported at December 31, 2008, was the result of fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates
used to translate the balance into U.S. dollars.

Besides goodwill, our intangible assets consist principally of distribution rights, patents, trademarks,
purchased technologies and capitalized software costs. Capitalized amounts related to patents represent
external legal costs for the application and maintenance of patents. Intangible assets are amortized using
the straight-line method over their estimated period of benefit, ranging from one to ten years.

Information regarding our intangible assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are listed below:

(in thousands) 2007 _ 2006"
Carrying amount:
Distribution Fghts (10 YEAIS).....o.wcvrerecorirecrreresistmimae e $ 419% 379
Patents (10 YEAIS) ..ot et 6,335 5,605
Trademark and trade names (10 Years)..........ccoimiiiiieninn s 840 840
Developed and core technology (5 Years)........c.oiu e 1,630 2,410
Capitalized software (1-2 YEars).......occvieririniire e 499 898
OUNEE (5-7 YRAIS) .ovveverireireeeciceetisinsi st a e e ere b e 370 370
Total CArYING AMOUNE ...c...oeieiiiir et b b s $10.093 $ 10,502
Accumulated amortization:
DIStHBULION FGNLS 1.v.ee et e e $ 56 $ 50
= s | C- N UUU U S PP P PP PPPPPPPRPRT TS 2695 2221
Trademark and rade NAMES ........ccvieerieierrereer i e s 273 189
Developed and core teChNOIOGY ........coviierrirnirn e 1,060 1,475
Capitalized SOWAIS ..........ccoveviic i s 68 813
L0121 OO O OO PP PO PP 241 167
Total accumuiated AmMOrHZAtION ........icver e recreer et et $ 439335 4915
Net carrying amount:
DistribULION FIGNTS .....e.viveceee e $ 363 % 329
(=Y 0= 11 SRR U PO PO PR VPP PR TPPE 3640 3,384
Trademark and trade names .............c.......... VT OO PP UOPOP 567 651
Developed and core teChNOIOgY ..o 570 935
Capitalized SORWANE .......c.ovoiriie e 431 85
L0, 14 1= RTTR U OO VROV TUUP PP PPPR ISP 129 203
Total Net CAMTYING AMOUNE .....cooei ittt e e $§ 57009 5587

™ This table excludes fully amortized intangible assets of $5,457 thousand and $3,763 thousand as of
December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.
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Amortiz ation expense, including the amortization of capitalized software, which is recorded to cost of
sales, far 2007, 2006 and 2005 was approximately $1.3 million, $1.5 million and $1.4 million, respectively.
Estimaled amortization expense for existing intangible assets and capitalized software for each of the five
succee ling years ending December 31 and thereafter are as follows:

2008 ... e vttt et e b et e reer e b e s s e s e b eaaenre s anseaRees b enbebe s aad reTene seesassaes $1,352
L8 O SR SRRRRURR 1,187
P2 0 T O O OR PO TOTRPRRP 705
20 ettt e et er 4 st s e Rt e raeen e et et aaRees et eaae s e et rares ans 705
2012 e e e ettt et e et e e st be e e aee et s 1abe et b e ae e e e assa e et e ebessnerteear g s eeneenseneens 705
TREIEAREE ... ettt e e et e e et e ss s s et imeee e e enanee e ebe e eeneeenen et e eennns sannersn _1.046

$5.700

The weighted average amortization period of intangible assets is 8.5 years.
Note 4 — Accounts Receivable

Accour ts receivable consisted of the following at December 31, 2007 and 2008:;

(in thous ands) 2007 2008

Trade 1eCeiVaDIB, GrOSS.....c...ccueietiiee ettt ettt ettt et $ 63,528 $55,726
Note re peivablem ........................................................................................................ — 200
OHNEr ©7 et et n s een e neenan 430 437
Allowaice for doubtful CCOUNTS ......cooiivveiver e e eaees (2,330} (2,602)
AlOWANCE fOF SAIBS TEIUIMIS .......oceeeecvireoee e ettt e ees e ie e et ese e emeeeeaneee e sanrasreeentranns (1,482) _ (1,894)
Accournts receivable, MBt..........covi e $60,146 $51.867

M 10 April 1999, we provided a non-recourse interest bearing secured loan to our chief executive officer.
The note was due and was paid in full by December 15, 2007 (See Note 20).

@ Othar receivable as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, consisted primarily of a tenant
improvement allowance provided by our landlord for the renovation and expansion of our corporate
headquarter in Cypress, California. Construction began in 2007, and completion is expected during
the first quarter of 2008. The tenant improvement allowance will be paid upon complelion of
construction. :

Sales Returns

We record a provision for estimated sales returns and allowances on product sales in the same period as
the related revenues are recorded. These estimates are based on historical sales returns, analysis of
credit rnemo data and other known factors. The provision recorded for estimated sales returns and
allowances is deducted from gross sales to arrive at net sales in the period the related revenue is
recordud. Sales allowances reduce gross accounts receivable to arrive at accounts receivable, net in the
same period the related receivable is recorded. Qur contractual sales return periods range up to six
month:. We have no other obligations after delivery of our products other than the associated warrainties.

Allowance for Doubtiul Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. Our allowance
for doubtful accounts is our best estimate of losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make
their required payments. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts based on a variety of factors,
including historical experience, length of time receivables are past due, current economic trends ani
changes in customer payment behavior. Also, we record specific provisions for individual accounts when
we become aware of a customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us, such as in the casz of
bankruptcy filings or deterioration in the customer’s operating results or financial position. If circum-

54




UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

stances related to a customer change, our estimates of the recoverability of the receivables would be
further adjusted, either upward or downward.

The following changes occurred in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the years ended December
31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

{in thousands}) Balance at Additions Balance at
Beginning of to Costs and (Write-offs)/ End of
Description Period Expenses FX Effects Period
Year Ended December 31, 2007 ......c.coconniiiinnniininnnns £ 2,602 $§ 23 $(295) $2330
Year Ended December 31, 2008 .........cccoooeiiiininnn $ 2,296 $ 210 $ 96 $ 2,602
Year Ended December 31, 2005 ..o $1,130 $ 2,121 $ (955) $2,296

Note 5 — Inventories

Inventories, net consisted of the following at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

(in thousands) . 2007 2006
COMPOMENES ... eeecetseereiee e scaeesemres e es s eaes s b st E s e e h s set s $ 6,750 § 6,101
FINIShET QOOUS .....cvviee ettt s 29982 22,537
Reserve for inventory 0bSOIESCENCE............coriiict i {1.826) _ (2,179)
IVEIEOTES, MBL ..ot eeeeeeeeeesteeeeee et e aessbn e es e eaen e et sas b s st s n e em bbb $34.906 $26.459

During 20086, we recorded a charge to reduce our finished good inventories by $0.4 million ($0.2 million
after tax) for an error in our standard cost as of December 31, 2005. We believe the amounts are not
material to 2006 or 2005.

Note 6 — Equipment, Furniture and Fixtures

Equipment, furniture and fixtures consisted of the following at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

(in thousands) 2007 2006

LT 11T TR OO OSSOSO SO P TSP PP ST RN PP PO $ 9998 $ 7,815
COMPULEE SQUIPTMENE. ...oooiree e a e eeecs s e e 2,581 2,539
e 111 =11 - STTTUTTUU TR U U PP OO CORP SR PP 2,583 2,197
FUINITUNE AN fIXIUIES ...vveeeeeee it veees e eeeesa e et e e sis et imne s raer e e e nsa e e i b anne s saaes s san e 1,660 1,424
Leasehold iMProvements .. ... ...t 1,056 1,188
Machinery and eqUIDMENE...........coir e 911 791
18,789 15,954
Accumulated depreciation ... (13,725) _ (11.027)
5,064 4,927

CONSITUCHION INM PIOQIESS ...o.vveveiieeereeccemeee s ta sttt b bbb e et 2494 972
Total equipment, furniture and fixtures, Net........... $ 7558 § 5,899

Depreciation expense, including tooling depreciation, which is recorded in cost of goods sold, was $3.4
million, $2.7 million and $2.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. .

As of December 31, 2007, construction in progress primarily consisted of $1.0 million in leasehold
improvements, $0.8 million in tooling and equipment, $0.3 million in software and $0.3 million in furniture
and fixtures. We expect that 92% of the construction in progress costs will be placed into service during
the first and second quarter of 2008. We will begin to depreciate those assets at that time. As of
December 31, 2006, construction in progress consisted primarily of $0.7 million in tooling and equipment
and $0.2 million in software.
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Note 7 — Revolving Credit Line

Effectivz August 31, 2006, we amended our original Credit Facility with Comerica Bank (“Comerica”),
extending our line of credit through August 31, 2009. The amended Credit Facility provides a $15 milion
unsecuied revolving credit agreement with Comerica. Under the Credit Facility, the interest payable s
variable and is based on the bank’s cost of funds or the LIBOR rate plus a fixed margin of 1.25%. The
interest rate in effect as of December 31, 2007 using the LIBOR Rate option plus a fixed margin of 1.25%
was 5.47%. We pay a commitment fee ranging from zero to a maximum rate of 1/4 of 1% per year on the
unused portion of the credit line depending on the amount of cash investment retained with Comerica
during e-ach quarter. At December 31, 2007, the commitment rate was 0.25%. Under the terms of the
Credit Facility, dividend payments are allowed for up to 100% of the prior fiscal year's net income, to be
paid within 90 days of the current period’s year end., We are subject to certain financial covenants re ated
to our nat worth, quick ratio, and net income. Amounts available for berrowing under the Credit Facility
are reduced by the outstanding balance of import letters of credit. As of December 31, 2007, we did hot
have any amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility or any outstanding import letters of credit. The
amount available on the line of credit as of December 31, 2007 was $15 million. Furthermore, as of
Decembier 31, 2007, we were in compliance with all financial covenants required by the Credit Facility.

Under the amended Credit Facility, we have authority to acquire up to an additional 2.0 million shares of
our com mon stock in the open market. From August 31, 2006, through December 31, 2007, we
purchased 567,900 shares of our common stock, leaving 1,432,100 shares available for purchase under
the Credit Facility (see Note 10).

Note 8 -— Other Accrued Expenses

The conponents of other accrued expenses at December 31, 2007 and 2006 are listed below:

{in thousands) : 2007  _ 2006
ACCIIEC TTRIGNT ... o e et see e ear s e e e e er s $ 1,435 % 1,346
Accruec advertising and Marketing.........ccocovviiiii e e e 735 558
(B3 1274 (D W ot 1 (o0 £ - L PSR O PR STETRURUURTR 511 235
Accruec Sales and VAT 18XES M) oo oot s s st reneeeen 499 1,444
ACCTUBE WAITANHES 1. oo oo e et ere e e e e e as e e st seas et et e esesarenseenaeeeinn 178 - 416
DETEITEU FEVENMUE ....ceevieeie e et st e s e st r e s e ars s et s e eeeeeenareaanassnaens 145 841
L 10T ST U TUOSRRO T OTTUOON 3084 28609
$6567 § 7.449

™ Acciued sales and VAT taxes decreased $0.9 million from $1.4 million at December 31, 2006 to $0.5
million at December 31, 2007. The decrease was primarily due to lower sales volume in the United
Kingdom in the fourth quarter of 2007 compared to the fourth quarter of 2006.

@ Accrued warranties decreased $0.2 million from $0.4 million at December 31, 2006 to $0.2 million at
Deciember 31, 2007. The decrease was primarily due to price negotiations with our third party
warranty repair vendor that occurred during the second quarter of 2007 (See Note 21).

Note 9 -— Financial Instruments

Qur financial instruments consist primarily of investments in cash and cash equivalents, accounts

receivalide, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The carrying value of these instruments approximate
fair valu = due to their short maturities.
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Note 10 — Stockholders’ Equity
Fair Price Provisions and Other Anti-Takeover Measures

Our Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, contains certain provisions restricting business
combinations with interested stockholders under certain circumstances and imposing higher voting
requirements for the approval of certain transactions (*fair price” provisions). Any of these provisions
could defay or prevent a change in control. The “fair price” provisions require that holders of at least two-
thirds of the outstanding shares of voting stock approve certain business combinations and significant
transactions with interested stockholders.

Treasury Stock

During year ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we repurchased 471,300, 127,326 and 356,285
shares of our common stock at the cost of $14.5 million, $2.6 miltion and $6.1 million, respectively.
Repurchased shares are recorded as shares held in treasury at cost. We generally hold shares for future
use as management and the Board of Directors deem appropriate, including compensating our outside
directors. During the year ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, we issued 24,688, 19,375 and
20,000 shares, respectively, to outside directors for services performed.

Stock Awgrds to Qutside Directors

We issue restricted stock awards to the outside directors as compensation for services performed. We
grant each of our outside directors 5,000 shares of our common stock annually each July 1st. When an
additional outside director joins our Board of Directors, the director receives an allocated number of
shares based on months of service during the initial year. Under SFAS No. 123R, compensation expense
related to restricted stock awards is based on the fair value of the shares awarded as of the grant date.
The fair value of these shares are being amortized over their 1-year vesting period. Each calendar
quarter, 1/4 of the total stock award will vest and the shares will be issued, provided the director has
served the entire calendar quarter term. The shares are issued from treasury stock using a first-in-first-out
cost basis, which amounted to $370 thousand and $288 thousand in 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Refer to the table below for shares granted to our outside directors from July 1, 2004 through December
31, 2007, their fair market value and total amortization expense for the respective year:

Shares Fair Market
Grant Date Granted Value'" 2007 2006 20057

July 1,2004 . 20,000 $ 348,523 $ 168,700
July 1,2005...o s 20,000 325,800 $162,900 162,900
July 1, 2006 ... 15,000 272,100 $136,050 136,050
August 14, 2006 ........cccevvvieeene 4,375 79,406 45,375 34,031
October 23, 2006 ........ccoovveiiireenn 3,438 72,679 52,850 19,829
July 1, 2007 ... 25,000 806,125 453,063

Total Amortization Expense........... $687,338 $352.810 $331,600

M The fair market value is based on the average of the high and low trade prices on the date of grant.

@ Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-based compensation by applying the intrinsic-value
method in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion (*APB”) No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Under the intrinsic-value method, compensation cost is
the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the stock at the grant date over the amount an
employee must pay to acquire the stock. We grant stock options with an exercise price equal to the
market value of the common stock on the date of grant, and therefore no compensation expense was
recognized related to options in 2005.
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During the fourth quarter of 2007, 2,500 shares were forfeited due to the death of one of our outside
directors. The fair market value of the forfeited shares amounted to $90,613.

Note 1’ — Stock Options
Stock-t.ased compensation expense

At December 31, 2007, we have the stock-based employee compensation plans described below. Prior to
January 1, 2006, we accounted for options granted under our plans using the intrinsic value method
under Accounting Principies Board (“APB") Opinion Ne. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employzes,”
(“APB 257). Under the intrinsic-value based method of APB 25, compensation cost is the excess, if any, of
the qucted market price of the stock at the grant date over the amount an employee must pay to acquire
the stock. We grant options with an exercise price equal o the market value of the common stock on the
date of grant; therefore, no compensation expense was recognized related to those options for the year
ended Jecember 31, 2005.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial
Accour ting Standards (*SFAS") No. 123(R}), "Share-Based Payment” {“SFAS 123R") using the mod fied-
prospe stive transition method. Under this transition method, compensation expense recognized for the
year er.ded December 31, 2006 includes: (a) compensation expense for all share-based awards grented
prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordiance with the original provisions of SFAS 123 and (b) compensation expense for all share-bzsed
awards granted subsequent to December 31, 2005 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. We recognize such compensation expense net of
estimaled forfeitures over the service period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term of
three to four years. We estimated the annual forfeiture rate for our executives and board of directors
group and non-executive employees group to be 2.41% and 5.95%, respectively, as of December 31,
2007 and 2006, based on historical experience.

Prior t¢ January 1, 2006, we provided pro forma disclosures in accordance with SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure,” as if the fair value method had
been adopted as defined by SFAS 123. Under SFAS 123, compensation expense is computed based on
the fair value of the stock options granted and is recognized over the persiod during which an employee is
required to provide service in exchange for the award. The fair value of the options granted was
determined at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model.

SFAS 123R requires that we continue to provide the pro forma disclosures required by SFAS 123 for all
periods; presented in which share-based payments to employees are accounted for under APB 25. The
following table illustrates the effect on net income and net income per share for the year ended December
31, 200)5 as if we applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to share-based employee
compensation.

{In thous ands, except per share amounts)

Net INCOME A8 MEPOMEA. ...ttt e et eee et st e et e se e b b s ebe e ne s entensebe s $ 9,701
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net of
refated 1ax e ECtS ... e e et e 268
Les:: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value
ba:;ed method for all awards, net of related tax effects ... _12792)
Pro forma Met INCOMIE ... ...ttt coe e e e s b e as b e eer e e e e bbr s a b s smeeesanrenas $ 7177
Basic 1zarnings per share:
AS TEPOMEA ..ot ettt e e ettt e e eeeeeeat bttt e e n s e b ae et e e e et e s eatrsannan $ 072
PIO FOTNA ..ottt eb et et e e eeean b et e e e e et e e an st e neeesssenssasraesenen $ 053
Dilutec! earnings per share: :
AG TBPOMEM ... ieiiiaitiiiiee o aeiaasimnaaaaseeserrastasnsreseeseeasaaiassanscamnee smsaasaasans ameasseeaanssaseesseeanaseens $ 069
FPO fOTMIA ..ttt et b ettt s s ta st s et e se e e et et s estemesr st et e eeeatatassarasesmenersbese s $ 0.51
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Stock-based compensation expense is presented in the same income statement line as cash
compensation paid to the same employees or directors. During the year ended December 31, 2007 and
2006, we recorded $3.5 million and $3.1 million, respectively, in pre-tax stock-based compensation
expense. Included in SG&A stock-based compensation expense is $687 thousand and $353 thousand in
pre-tax compensation expense related to stock awards granted to outside directors for the year ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively (See Note 10). The income tax benefit associated with stock-
based compensation expense was $1.2 million and $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

Stock-based compensation expense was included in the following for the year ended December 31, 2007
and 2006:

{in thousands) 2007 2006

OB OF BAIES .ooeieeeteeetreeeeeeeiare et s eeeseeeeeteeressaneeraar e e see s am oo e ae s e b s e e a e s e ap g e $ 31% 26
Research and developmMENT ... ... 418 370
Selling, general and adminiStratiVe ............coooeeiiii 3,072 271
Total Stock-based compensation BXPENSE ... ... 3,521 $3.117

As of December 31, 2007, we expect to recognize $4.4 million of total unrecognized compensation
expense related to non-vested employee stock options over a weighted-average life of 2.36 years.

We granted non-vested stock awards to the outside directors for services performed. Under SFAS No.
123R, compensation expense related to restricted stock awards is based on the fair value of the shares
awarded as of the grant date. Compensation expense for the restricted stock awards is recognized on a
straight-fline basis over the requisite service period of one year. The fair value of non-vested shares is
determined based on the average of the high and low trade prices of our company’s shares on the grant
date (See Note 10).

As of December 31, 2007, we expect to recognize $0.4 million of total unrecognized compensation
expense related to non-vested restricted stock awards over a weighted-average life of six months.

In light of the accounting guidance under SFAS 123R, beginning in the first quarter of 2006, we re-
evaluated the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options granted to employees in 2006. As
part of this assessment, management determined that historical volatility calculated based on our actively
traded common stock is a better indicator of expected volatility and future stock price trends than implied
volatility. Therefore, we continued to use historical volatility to determine expected volatility. We calculate
expected volatility using historical volatility of our common stock over a period of time equal to the
expected term of the stock option.

As part of SFAS 123R adoption, we examined the historical pattern of option exercises in an effort to
determine if there were any discernable activity patterns based on certain employee classifications. From
this analysis, we identified two employee classifications: (1) Executive and Board of Directors and (2)
Non-Executives. We use the Black-Scholes option.pricing model to value the options for each of the
employee classifications. The table below presents the weighted average expected life in years. The
expected life computation is based on historical exercise patterns and post-vesting behavior within each
of the two classifications identified. The interest rate for any period within the expected contractual life of
the awards is based on the prevailing U.S. Treasury note rate for the applicable expected term.

The fair value of share-based payment awards was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions and weighted average fair values:

Dacember 31, 1"

2007 2006 2005
Weighted average fair value of grants ... $1177 $ 750 % 9.28
Risk-free iNterest Fate ..o et 456% 472%  3.73%
Expected VOIAtIItY .......cooovieiiiie e 39.06% 39.27% 58.35%
Expected life iN Yars .. ... 5.25 4.89 5.00

™ The fair value calculation was based on stock options granted during the respective period.
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The following is a summary of stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

2007 2006
Average Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Options Exercise Term Value Options Exercise Term Value
{in 000's} Price {in years) {in 000's} (in 000's} Price {in vears) _{in 000's)

Outstanding at

beginniny of

theyear ............ 2,480 $ 1373 3,151 $ 1370
Granted .. ............. 329 27.80 45 18.15
Exercised............. (981) 12.83 $ 17,263 (550) 13.58 $ 3,036
Forfeited/:ancelled/

expired.. ............ (89) 14.91 {167) 16.08
Qutstandiag at

endofyear ......... 1,739 $ 1683 + 558 $ 28,884 2,480 $ 1373 5.51 $ 18,096
Vested ard

expectec to vest

atend of year ..... 1,650 $ 1643 541 $ 28078 2411 $ 1364 543 $ 17,783
Exercisable at

end of year ......... 1,081 $ 1384 4.08 $ 21187 1,848 $ 1291 4.67 $ 14904

The aggiregate intrinsic value of options outstanding, vested and expected to vest and exercisable at the
end of the year in the table above represents total pre-tax intrinsic value (difference between Universial
Electroriics Inc.'s average of the high and low trades of the last trading day of 2007 and 2006 and the
option £xercise price, multiplied by the number of the in-the-money options) that option holders would
have re:eived had all option holders exercised their options on December 31, 2007. This amount
change:; based on the fair market value of our common stock. The total intrinsic value of options
exercisad for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $17.3 million and $3.0 million,
respectively.

During 2007, no significant modifications were made to outstanding stock options.

During 2006, common stock options were modified due ta an employee’s death, resuiting in 2,875
unvested stock options becoming fully vested. The incremental stock-based compensation expense
resultimy from the modification was $13,401.

Cash received from option exercises for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $12.6 million
and $7.5 million, respectively. The actual tax benefit realized from option exercises of the share-basaed

paymerit awards was $3.3 million and $0.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006,

The following is a summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2005:

Weighted
Shares Averige
{in 000's) _Exercise Price

Outstar ding at beginning of Year.... ... e 3,039 $12.79
GIANTEU ...ttt e e ettt e eee s 631 17.40
EXOICIS 20....eeoeeecec ettt ettt ae e et vanr e (290) 9.89
Expired and/or fOrfRItEA...........c.ocei et (229) 15.33
Outstar ding at €Nd Of YR ..........coeeerree ettt cre e 3,151 $ 13.70
Options exercisable at year end ...........c.cco it 1,943 $12.94
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During 2005, common stock options were modified for two employees. One modification was part ofa
severance agreement and the other modification resulted from an employee’s death. The total number of
options modified was 20,500, which resulted in new measurement dates. The difference between the
exercise price and the fair value of the common stock on the new measurement dates for the options
totaled $73,863. As a result, $73,863 was charged to non-cash stock-based compensation.

Non-vested restricted stock awards activity as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as foillows

Woeighted-
Shares Average
Granted Grant Date

{in 000's) _Fair Value

Non-vested at December 31, 2005 ...........oievveeeeiereere e eisecistren s sna s e saneas 10 $ 16.29
Granted .......oocveeeee e, Lttt tee et iasteetbes s eareeesbeabbteese e ben et e beesniee e e et e bbb e sReenreaaa 23 18.59
V=T (= 1+ [PV SO OO P OPT OO P PPPRPPN {20) 17.37
[0 {1 =1 IUUTUTUT T PO UUO TP PPPRIPPPH — —_
Non-vested at December 31,2006 ............ccoceirieeiienn s Lteeraae et et st sne e e bea A3 $ 18.74
L] 11V« [EOO U OO ORIV POPIIOPUPI: 25 36.25
LY 2T 1L« [FUUR OO OO TP O PSPPI (25) 27.49
FOMRILEL .....oeeeeeeees e eee e et e st e e e eas sene e naese s eas smmeetiaas e bessas s b rn s sannn smnnns imanesrinaans {3 36.25
Non-vested at December 31, 2007 ..o ivieree s v e 10 $ 36.25

The total amount of compensation expense related to non-vested restricted awards not yet recognized as
of December 31, 2007 was $0.4 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average life
of 6 months (See Note 10). -

Stock Incentive Plans
1993 Stock Incentive Plan

On January 19, 1993, the 1993 Stock Incentive Plan (*1993 Plan”) was approved. Under the 1993 Plan,
400,000 shares of common stock were reserved for the granting of incentive and other stock options to
officers, key employees and non-affiliated directors. The 1993 Plan provided for the granting of incentive
and other stock options through January 18, 2003. All options outstanding at the time of termination of the
1993 Pian shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms. The option price for
incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options was not less than the fair market value at the date
of grant. The Compensation Committee determined when each option was to expire, but no option was
exercisable more than ten years after the date the option was granted. The 1993 Plan also provided for
the award of stock appreciation rights subject to terms and conditions specified by the Compensation
Committee. No stock appreciation rights have been awarded under this 1993 Plan. There are no
remaining options available for grant under the 1993 Ptan. There are 17,400 shares outstanding under
this plan as of December 31, 2007.

1995 Stock Incentive Plan

On May 19, 1995, the 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (“1995 Plan”) was approved. Under the 1995 Plan,
800,000 shares of common stock were available for distribution to our key officers, employees and non-
affiliated directors. The 1995 Plan provided for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights,
performance stock units, or any combination thereof through May 18, 2005, unless otherwise terminated
by resolution of our Board of Directors. The option prices for the stock options were equal to the fair
market value at the date of grant. The Compensation Committee determined when each option was to
expire, but no option was exercisable more than ten years after the date the option was granted. No stock
appreciation rights or performance stock units have been awarded under this 1995 Plan. There are no
remaining options available for grant under the 1995 Plan. There are 50,000 shares outstanding under
this plan as of December 31, 2007.
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1996 Siock Incentive Plan

On Decamber 1, 1896, the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (“1996 Plan”) was approved. Under the 1996 P’lan,
800,000 shares of common stock were available for distribution to our key officers and emptoyees. The
1996 Plan provided for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock units,
or any combinaticn thereof through November 30, 2007, unless ctherwise terminated by the resolution of
our Board of Directors. The option price for the stock options was equal to the fair market value at tha
date of yrant. The Compensation Committee determined when each option was to expire, but no option
was exercisable more than ten years after the date the option was granted. No stock appreciation rights
or performance stock units have been awarded under this 1996 Plan. There are no remaining options
available for grant under the 1996 Plan. There are 21,334 shares outstanding under this plan as of
December 31, 2007. :

1998 Siock Incentive Plan

On May 27, 1998, the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (“1998 Plan”) was approved. Under the 1998 Plan,
630,000 shares of common stock were available for distribution to our key officers and employees. The
1998 Plan provided for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock unaits,
or any combination thereof through May 26, 2008, unless otherwise terminated by resolution of our Board
of Directors. The option price for the stock options was not less than the fair market value at the date: of
grant. The Compensation Committee determined when each option was to expire, but no option was.
exercisiable more than ten years after the date the option was granted. No stock appreciation rights or
performr ance stock units have been awarded under this 1998 Plan. There are 500 remaining options
available for grant under the 1998 Plan. There are 117,500 shares outstanding under this plan as of
December 31, 2007.

1999 S'ock Incentive Plan

On Januaary 27, 1998, the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (1999 Plan") was approved. Under the 1999 Plan,
630,000 shares of common stock were available for distribution to our key officers and employees. The
1999 P an provided for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock units,
or any combination thereof through January 26, 2009, unless otherwise terminated by resolution of our
Board of Directors. The option price for the stock options was not less than the fair market value at the
date of grant. The Compensation Commitiee determined when each option was o expire, but no opiion
was exarcisable more than ten years after the date the option was granted. No stock appreciation rights
or performance stock units have been awarded under this 1999 Plan. There are 1,000 remaining opiions
availab e for grant under the 1999 Plan. There are 93,477 shares outstanding under this plan as of
Decemoer 31, 2007.

1999A Stock Incentive Plan

On QOctober 7, 1999, the 1999A Nonqualified Stock Plan (“1999A Plan”) was approved and on February
1, 200(C, the 1999A Pian was amended. Under the 1999A Plan, 1,000,000 shares of common stock were
availab'e for distribution to our key officers and employees. The 1999A Plan provided for the issuanie of
stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock units, or any combination thereof through
October 8, 2009, unless otherwise terminated by resolution of our Board of Directors. The option prize for
the stock options was not less than the fair market value at the date of grant. The Compensation
Committee determined when each option was to expire, but no option was exercisable more than ten
years & fter the date the option was granted. No stock appreciation rights or performance stock units have
been awarded under this 1999A Plan. There are 1,291 remaining options available for grant under the
1999A Plan. There are 356,959 shares outstanding under this plan as of December 31, 2007.
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2002 Stock Incentive Plan

On February 5, 2002, the 2002 Nonqualified Stock Plan (*2002 Plan”) was approved. Under the 2002
Plan, 1,000,000 shares of common stock were available for distribution to our key officers and
employees. The 2002 Plan provided for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights,
performance stock units, or any combination thereof through February 4, 2012, unless otherwise
terminated by resolution of our Board of Directors. The option price for the stock options was not less
than the fair market value at the date of grant. The Compensation Committee determined when each
option was to expire, but no option was exercisable more than ten years after the date the option was
granted. No stock appreciation rights or performance stock units have been awarded under this 2002
Plan. There are 5,497 remaining options available for grant under the 2002 Plan. There are 424,488
shares outstanding under this plan as of December 31, 2007.

2003 Stock Incentive Plan

‘On June 18, 2003, the 2003 Nongualified Stock Plan (“2003 Plan”) was approved. Under the 2003 Plan,
1,000,000 shares of common stock were available for distribution to our key officers and employees. The
2003 Plan provided for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock units,
or any combination thereof through June 17, 2013, unless otherwise terminated by resolution of our
Board of Directors. The option price for the stock options was not less than the fair market value at the
date of grant. The Compensation Committee determined when each option was to expire, but no option
was exercisable more than ten years after the date the option was granted. No stock appreciation rights
or performance stock units have been awarded under this 2003 Plan. There are 28,834 remaining options
available for grant under the 2003 Plan. There are 636,124 shares outstanding under this plan as of
December 31, 2007.

2006 Stock Incentive Plan

On June 13, 2006, the 2006 Nonqualified Stock Plan (2006 Plan”) was approved. Under the 2006 Plan,
1,000,000 shares of common stock were available for distribution to our key officers and employees. The
2006 Plan provided for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock units,
or any combination thereof through June 12, 2016, unless otherwise terminated by resolution of our
Board of Directors. The option price for the stock options was not less than the fair market value at the
date of grant. The Compensation Committee determined when each option is to expire, but no option was
exercisable more than ten years after the date the option was granted. No stock options, stock
appreciation rights or performance stock units have been awarded under this 2006 Plan. There are
978,750 remaining options available for grant under the 2006 Pian. There are 21 ,250 shares outstanding
under this plan as of December 31, 2007.

Vesting periods for the above referenced stock incentive plans range from three to four years.

it is our policy to retain our earnings to support the growth of our company. Additionally, we may retain
earnings to repurchase shares of our common stock, when conditions are favorable.

Significant option groups outstanding at December 31, 2007 and the related weighted average exercise
price and life information are listed below:

Options Qutstanding Options Exerclsable
Number Number
Outstanding Weighted-Average Waeighted-Average Exorcisable Woeightod-Average
At 12131/07 Remaining Years of Exercise At 12/31107 Exercise
Rangg of Exercise Prices {in 000’8} Contractual Life Price {in 000's} Price
$ 497 to $ 6588 23 0.69 $ 507 23 $ 507
7.50 to 9.83 231 369 §5.40 23 8.40
10.92 to 13.08 390 433 11.92 312 11.76
14.85 to 16.88 228 5.08 16.06 180 15.99
17.11 to 17.86 309 7.056 17.58 118 17.59
18.01 to 21.48 260 3.92 19.45 215 19.64
28.08 to 35.35 298 9.32 28.20 2 28.08
$ 497 to $ 3535 1,739 5.58 $ 16.83 1,081 $ 1384
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Note 12! — Significant Customers and Suppliers
Significant Customer
We had sales to one significant customer who contributed more than 10% of total net sales.

Sales miade to this customer were $36.4 million, $28.3 million, and $22.2 million representing 13.3%,
12.0%, and 12.2% of our total net sales for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respect vely. Trade receivables with this customer amounted to $2.3 million and $3.1 million or 3.8% and
6.0% of our total accounts receivable at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In addition, we had
sales tc a customer and its sub-contractors that, when combined, totaled $46.0 million, $41.6 million, and
$30.0 niillion, accounting for 16.9%, 17.7%, and 16.6% of net sales for the years ended December 21,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Trade receivables with this customer and its sub-contractors
amounted to $7.9 million and $6.2 million, or 13.3% and 12.2%, of our total accounts receivable at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The future loss of these customers or any key customer,
either in the United States or abroad, due to the financial weakness or bankruptcy of any such customer
or our inability to obtain orders or maintain our order volume with our major customers, may have an
adverse: effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Significant Suppliers

Most ot the components used in our products are available from multiple sources. We have elected ‘o0
purchase integrated circuits (“IC"), used principally in our wireless control products, from two main
sources., Purchases from one supplier amounted to more than 10% of total inventory purchases.
Purcha:ses from this major supplier amounted to $23.7 million, $11.6 million and $10.2, representing
14.9%, 8.5% and 9.7%, respectively, of total inventory purchases for the years ended December 31.
2007, 2006 and 2005. Accounts payable with the aforementioned supplier amounted to $3.2 miltion and
$0.8 million, representing 9.7% and 3.9%, respectively, of total accounts payable at December 31, 2007
and 2006.

For the year ended December 2006, there was a different IC supplier who provided more than 10% of
total inventory purchases. Purchases from that suppiier amounted to $14.2 million or 10.5% of total
inventory purchases in 2006.

n addition, during the year ended December 31, 2007, we purchased component and finished good
producis from two major suppliers. Purchases from these two major suppliers amounted to $46.5 million
and $3).4 million representing 29.2 % and 19.1%, respectively, of total inventory purchases for the yvear
ended 1December 31, 2007. During the year ended December 31, 2006 purchases from the same two
suppliers amounted to $40.7 million and $13.8 million representing 30.0% and 10.2%, respectively, of
total inventory purchases. During the year ended December 31, 2005 inventory purchases from the
aforemzntioned two suppliers amounted to $35.5 million and $4.1 representing 33.9%and 4.0%,
respeciively. For the year ended December 2006, there was another supplier who provided more than
10% of total inventory purchases. Purchases from that supplier amounted to $13.9 million or 10.2% of
total inventory purchases in 20086.

Accourts payable with the aferementioned two suppliers of component and finished good products
amouned to $10.8 million and $6.3 million respectively, representing 32.6% and 19.1% of the total
accounts payable at December 31, 2007. At December 31, 2006, accounts payable with the same
suppliers amounted to $8.2 million and $2.0 million, respectively, representing 40.4% and 9.8% of the
total accounts payable. There was no other compeonent and finished goods supplier with inventory
purchases greater than ten percent of the total inventory purchases in 2007, 2006 or 2005.
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We have identified alternative sources of supply for these integrated circuits, components, and finished
goods; however, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to obtain these inventory
purchases on a timely basis. We generally maintain inventories of our integrated chips, which could be
used in part to mitigate, but not eliminate, delays resulting from supply interruptions. An extended
interruption, shortage or termination in the supply of any of the components used in our products, or a
reduction in their quality or reliability, or a significant increase in prices of components, would have an
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Note 13 — Leases

We lease office and warehouse space and certain office equipment under operating leases that expire at
various dates through September 2013. Some of our rental leases are subject to rent escalations. For
these leases, we straight-line our rent expense over the lease term, ranging from 36 to 73 months. The
liability is recorded in other accrued expenses {See Note 8). As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the
liability related to rent escalations was $65 thousand and $51 thousand, respectively. Additionally, our
corporate lease agreement contains a provision for a tenant improvement allowance of $0.4 million for us
to renovate the buitding, which is to be paid to us upon completion of the renovation. The renovation is
expected to be completed during the first quarter of 2008. We recorded the $0.4 million tenant
improvement allowance in accounts receivable at December 31, 2007 (See Note 4). Additionally, the
tenant improvement allowance was recorded as a component of the lease liability in computing rent
expense, and is amortized as a credit against rent expense, over 73 months, the term of the lease,
beginning January 1, 2006.

Rent expense for our operating leases was $2.2 million, $1.8 million and $1.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The foltowing table summarizes future minimum non-cancelable operating lease payments with initial
terms greater than one year at December 31, 2007:

{in thousands} Amount
Year ending December 31:
1001 TR T T OO OO O NPT PO TP PRISSPRTRES $1.756
V001 DOUTTTTUOURT TP U TS r OSSO TP PO OO PP SO PO RP PRI PISSTO LIS 1,374
10 1 0 DU TR T U TP O OU P U TP TP PRT RIS ISR OIPRE 1,091
1 4 [ OO O OO S OO PSPPI PP PP ORI SRR IPOLTS 904
207 2 oo et tateettae—erea—eeeeihiiAtesteeseareeaseeseeabe iR LA r oA e SR AE R TSR e 447
BT T L0 UTTTET T T U OO OO PP SO PP PP PP PRSP RP PO DITTPPLITRIY 304
Total operating 1825€ COMMIIMENES ........o.o.iiviriiirri et s $ 5.876

Note 14 — Employee Benefit Plans

We maintain a retirement and profit sharing plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for
all of our domestic employees that meet certain qualifications. Participants in the plan may elect to
contribute from 1% to 15% of their annual salary to the plan. We match 50% of the participants’
contributions in the form of newly issued shares of our common stock. We may also make other
discretionary contributions to the plan. We recorded $0.6 million of expense for company contributions for
each of the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Note 15 — Other Income (Expense), net

Other income (expense), net in the Consolidated Income Statements consisted of the following:

(in thousands) 2007 _ 2006 2005

Net (loss) gain on foreign currency exchange transactions............voeiiinienns. $ (35) $ (508) $ 2,107
Write-down of INVESIMENL.........oii it et e bbb — — 3
(oY 0T at1 e o1t 1 |- TRT TR OU OO OO U PO PP VPP PPPRTSITR 42 10 48
Other iNCOMB (EXPENSE), NEL.......coiiicetiin e $ 7 $(498) $2.152
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Note 16 — Income Taxes

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, pre-tax income was attributed to the following jurisdictions:

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005

DOMESHIC OPETALIONS ...ttt sttt e $18,332 % 7932 6,206

FOreign OParations ......ccoov ittt et e e e ns e 11,230 11,488 _ 8,468
LT3 OO OO $29.562 $19,420 § 14,674

The provision for income taxes charged to operations was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2007 2006 _ 2005
Current tax expense:
U.S. federal ... e e e $5537 $2934 $1,382
Stat2 aNd 0CAL ... ... e e e 490 687 280
FOTEHGN . ...ttt e et s eme et s aaem e er b e saensenerenens 3130 _ 2997 _ 3,311
TaRal QUETENL. ..o e e s 9157 _6,618 _ 4,973
Deferred tax expense/(benefit):
LS. fEABTAL........eeceece e et e et e ee ettt sne e (60) (297) 460
Loy F 1 Y- 1s oo O TUROTT 84 (578) (363)
o Ty 3o T OO OO SOOI U OR 151 157 (97)
Total dafErmBd ...ttt ens s are e 175 (718) __ —
TOtAl PIOVISION ..oocvi ittt eerr et e sttt me s e essr et $9332 $5900 %4973
Net de‘erred tax assets were comprised of the following at December 31, 2007 and 2006:
(in thousands) 2007  __ 2006
Deferred tax assets:
INVENTONY FESEIVES .......cevevmvvetieiiieeeivarieeiete s saeeseteeseseseesesbeseetsasensstesesseassbereessnsarsssnsens $ 308 $ 448
Allowance for doubtful @CCOUNES ........cooceii e 23 46
Captalized research COSIS. ... e e 184 581
Cap talized INVENtOry COSES ...c..ov it et ettt e e 540 470
Net IPeraling JOSSES ...ttt et eer e eerns 2974 4,480
Amcrtization Of INMANGIDIES. ... 755 639
ACCHUE HADINITIES ......vvireere et e e e s e s srrr e e s nee s e e 796 1,103
INCOME tAX CTRAIS . ...eei ittt e bn e s e an e e s 1,157 1,072
DEP RCIATION ..ot e b et et ame et s 700 434
Stock based CoOMPBNSAtION ... 1,327 890
Long term incentive COmMPensation..............cccioiiiiiie e e e nee e s sneee e 402 —
(0] {3 137 U OO U U U U U OO U O OO SO SV U P OO SRRTOOP O 466 196
Total deferred tax ASSetS ...t e et st 9,632 _ 10,359
Deferred tax liability: _
INtANGIDIE ASSEES ... ..o e et et e e aen (509) (688)
@ {3 T3 ST O RO USSP {238) ___ _(255)
Total deferred tax AbIHES ........ccoocv e (747) {943)
Ni2t deferred tax assets before valuation allowance............ccoovvvcve v e, 8,885 3,416
Less: Valuation lOWaNCE. ...t srrs st s e e e s sa e s sana s s (264) (620)
Net delerred tax aSSEIS ... e s $8621 § 3.796

As of Cecember 31, 2007 and 2006, $511 thousand and $235 thousand, respectively, of current deferred
tax liabilities were recorded in other accrued expenses (See Note 8).

The de’erred tax valuatibn allowance decreased to $0.3 million as of December 31, 2007 compared to

$0.6 million as of December 31, 2006. The decrease was primarily due to certain statute of limitations
expiring relating to foreign net operating losses.
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The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the
applicable U.S. statutory federal income tax rate to pre-tax income from operations as a result of the
following:

Year Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Tax provision at statutory U.S. rate...........coimrriiin $10,347 $6,603 $4,989
Increase (decrease) in tax provision resuiting from:
State and 10Cal taX8S, NET ...ovi oo 373 110 (83)
Foreign tax rate differential................oooio (649)  (391) 335
Nondeductible BMS ..ot e 302 207 50
Federal valuation allowantCe ... vveeiiinninir s e — — 1
Federal research and development credits ..., (918)  (872)  (601)
Change in tax rate related to deferred taxes ... {147) — —
(0] 121> TUT T U T TSSO PO O SR PO U OUP PP PU PSPPI 24 243 282
TAX PIOVISION ....euctrerconicicmcaicseressnss e s et $ 9332 $5900 §$4,973

At December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, we had state Research and Experimentation (“R&E")
income tax credit carryforwards of approximately $1.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively. The state
R&E income tax credits do not have an expiration date.

At December 31, 2007, we had federal, state and foreign net operating losses of approximately $7.3
million, $5.0 million and $0.5 miliion, respectively. All of the federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards were acquired as part of the acquisition of SimpleDevices. The federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2020 and 2012, respectively. Approximately $0.7 million of
the foreign net operating losses expired in 2007, approximately $0.3 million will expire in 2020 and the
remaining $0.2 million of foreign net operating losses have an unlimited carryforward.

Internal Revenue Code Section 382 places certain limitations on the annual amount of net operating loss
carryforwards that can be utilized if certain changes to a company’s ownership occur. Our acquisition of
SimpleDevices was a change in ownership pursuant to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, and
the federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of SimpleDevices (approximately $7.3 million and
$5.0 million, respectively) are limited but considered realizable in future periods. The annual limitation is
as follows: approximately $1.4 miltion for 2008, $1.2 million for 2008 and approximately $0.6 million
thereafter.

As of December 31, 2007, we believed it was more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets related
to the impairment of the investment in a private company (a capital asset) would not be realized due to
uncertainties as to the timing and amounts of future capital gains. Accordingly, a valuation allowance of
approximately $0.1 miltion was recorded as of December 31, 2007 {See Note 2).

During the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 we recognized a credit to additional paid-in
capital and a reduction to income taxes payable of $3.3 million, $0.8 million and $0.9 million, respectively,
related to the tax benefit from the exercises of non-qualified stock options under our stock option plans.

The undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested.
Accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal and state income taxes or foreign withholding taxes has been
provided on such undistributed earnings. Determination of the potential amount of unrecognized deferred
US income tax liability and foreign withholding taxes is not practicable because of the complexities
associated with its hypothetical calculation; however, unrecognized foreign tax credits would be available
to reduce some portion of the U.S. liability.

We are currently under audit in the Netherlands by the Dutch tax authorities for fiscal years 2002 through

2004. We do not expect any material adjustments to our financial statements as a result of this audit.
Currently, no adjustments have been proposed.
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Uncertain Tax Positions

On Jaruary 1, 2007, we adopted the provisions of FIN 48. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we
recognized a $0.2 million increase in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which was accounted for
as a reduction to the January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. We also recognized a decrease of
$0.3 million in other comprehensive income related to foreign currency translation. At December 31

2007, we had unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $8.8 million, including interest and penaltizs.

A reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits (excluding interest and penalties) at the
beginn ng and end of the period is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at JAanuary 1, 2007 ... ettt e et e e eenen $6,778
Additions as a result of tax provisions taken during the current year ..............c..occeeeeevvvnivieeenen, 485
Reduclions due to a lapse of the applicable statute of limitations ...............ccooco e, {54)
Foreign cusrency translation..... ... e 608
OBNBE e ettt e r ettt e se et et ert et e e eae bt e Re b e b A b e it eRe bbb e e e e enert et _
Balance at December 31, 2007 ... et $7.817

Approyimately $7.5 million of the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2007 viould
affect the annual effective tax rate, if recognized. Further, we are unaware of any positions for which it is
reasonably possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase within
the ne:xt twelve months. However, based on federal, state and foreign statute expirations in various
jurisdictions, we anticipate a decrease in unrecognized tax beneﬁts of approximately $0.6 million within
the ne:t twelve months.

In accordance with FIN 48, we have elected to classify interest and penalties as components of tax
expense. Interest and penalties were $0.6 million at the date of adoption and $1.0 million at December
31, 2007 and are included in the unrecognized tax benefits.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various states and foreign jurisdictions. As of
Decemnber 31, 2007, the open statute of limitations for our significant tax jurisdictions are as follows
federal and state for 2003 through 2007 and non-U.S. for 2001 through 2007. All unrecognized tax
benefils at December 31, 2007 are classified as long term as prescribed by FIN 48 because we do 10t
anticip ate payment of cash within one year of the operating cycle.

Note 17 — Earnings Per Share

Basic ::amings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the
weight=d average number of our common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per
share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares and
dilutive: potential common shares, which includes the dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock
grants, Dilutive potential common shares for all the periods presented are computed utilizing the treasury
stock rnethod. In the computation of diluted earnings per common share for the years ended December
31, 20007, 2006 and 2005, approximately 153,705, 854,265 and 999,506 stock options, respectively, with
exercise prices greater than the average market price of the underlying common stock, were exclucled
becaue their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

Earnings per share for the years ended Decernber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were calculated as follows:

(in thous ands, except per-share amounts) _2007 2006 _ 20085
BASIC:

NEEENCOME ..ttt r e e e 5
Weighied-average common shares outstanding .........cccocccevveec e 14,410 13,818 13,462
Basic 2arnings per Share ... $ 1409 098% 072
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(in thousands, except per-share amounts) 2007 2006 2005
DILUTED

(=S 1S Toe 8 1 1= DU U U O TP P PP PP PO PPOR $20.230 §$13,520
Weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic.............c.coooeies 14,410 13,818 13,462
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted StOCK ... 767 614 530
Weighted-average common shares outstanding on a diluted basis.............. 15177 _ 14,432 13,992
Diluted arnings Per Share ... $ 1333 094% 069

Note 18 — Business Segment
Industry Segment

SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” defines an operating
segment, in part, as a component of an enterprise whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and
assess its performance. Operating segments may be aggregated only to the limited extent permitted by
the standard.

As a result of the performance-based incentive and other factors, management reviewed SimpleDevices’
discrete operating resuits through the second quarter of 2006, and as a result, defined SimpleDevices as
a separate segment. Since acquiring SimpleDevices, we have integrated SimpleDevices' technologies
with and into our own technology. In addition, we have integrated SimpleDevices’ sales, engineering and
administrative functions into our own. As a result of the integration, the performance-based payment
expiring and our chief operating decision maker no longer reviewing SimpleDevices’ financial statements
on a stand alone basis, commencing in the third quarter of 2006, we merged SimpleDevices into our Core
Business segment, resulting in us operating in a single industry segment.

Note 19 — Foreign Operations
Geographic Information

Our sales to external customers and long-lived tangible assets by geographic area for years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are presented below:

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005
Net Sales:
UNEE SIS v ivee e eetereree s s s et aeeeeeeeeaeesiresbser e sassmnaneebanas $151,034 $126,522 $ 95,252
International:
United KINGAOM .....ooi i 31,290 29,025 22,977
ST o s 31,624 30,285 18,773
SOULH AFTICA oo oeireeee et eresve s v e eeae s ae s aes s rsrnessan e e s s nsrbsseae s 7,192 8,140 3,685
SPAIN....ovtviteie ettt e 8,483 7.513 6,484
GBITIANY .1cviitrene e eeee e recetbsst st e et ar e e 6,228 7,014 7,357
=TT 1o = TOTTUUTTR TR U RO TSV UUT P T OO PPOROR P PP 4 940 4,846 5,852
PAUISETA oo oeeeeeeeeeeea e ee et et s e eana e ra e e e e 2772 3,028 2,678
BALY ©....evoveee ettt 2,506 1,799 1,026
SWHZEITANG oo e oo ettt e e e e re s s st e e eeeeeaee s ssmresreesesasnesaensstaas 6,473 851 4,689
(R0 (5= TR T T U T U U RO U OO 20,138 16,823 12,576
Total INternational .......ooooveree e s $121,646 $109,324 $ 86,097
TOtAl NEE GBS .o eeeieeeeee e eeeeeeseeesseeeeeeeeeeeneeessbearsbraeeraseeameeaaant s sanbreenne s $272.680 $235846 §181,349
2007 2006 2005
Long-Lived Assets:
IO S AIES o oevveeeees e e et teeeteeeae s e e eer e e emeeanbaenreen e bn e eeenn s $ 5238% 3921% 3137
Al Oher COUNIIES o..vvveee ettt e e e a e e e e e ee e e ranacrba s e s s ssararameneeeees 2689 2,199 1,618

$ 7927 % 61203 4755
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Specific identification was the basis used for attributing revenues from external customers to individual
countrizs.

Note 20 — Related Party Transactions

In April 1999, we provided a non-recourse interest bearing secured loan to our chief executive officer. The
loan was in the amount of $200,000 and bore interest at the rate of 5.28% per annum, with interest
payabla annually to us on each December 15. The loan was collateralized by the primary residence
purchased and the principal was payable on the earlier of {i) December 15, 2007, (ii) within twelve months
followirig a demand from us but only in the event the executive officer ceases being our employee ar in
the event of a default under the loan; or (i) on the closing of a sale or transfer of the property. This note,
including accrued interest, was paid in full on December 14, 2007. This related party note receivable was
included in accounts receivable on our balance sheet at December 31, 2006.

Note 21 — Contingencies
Indemnities

We indemnify our directors and officers to the maximum extent permitted under the laws of the Stat2 of
Delaw:ire. We purchased directors and officers’ insurance to insure our individual directors and officers
agains' certain claims, including the payment of claims such as those alleged below and attorney’s “ees
and related expenses incurred in connection with the defense of such claim. The amounts and types of
coveraje have varied from pericd to period as dictated by market conditions. Management is not av/are
of any mnatters that require indemnification of its officers or directors.

Product Warranties

We warrant our products against defects in materials and workmanship arising during normal use. \We
service warranty claims directly through our customer setvice department or contracted third-party
warranty repair facilities. Our warranty period ranges up to three years. We provide for estimated product
warranly expenses, which are included in cost of sales, as we sell the related products. Since warranty
expense is a forecast primarily based on historical claims experience, actual claim costs may differ rom
the amounts provided.

Chang=s in the liability for product warranties are presented below (in thousands):

Accruals for Settlements
Batance at Warranties (inCashorin Balance at
Beginning of Issuad During Kind) During End of
Description Period the Period the Period  __ Period
Year Ended December 31, 2007 ........c.ccccove...... -~ $418 $ (146)" $ (92) $178
Year Ended December 31,2006 ........................ $ 414 $ 202 $ (200) $ 416
Year Ended December 31,2005 .........cccoveeen... $ 183 $ 443 $ (212) $ 414

M In the second quarter 2007, we renegotiated pricing terms with our third party warranty repair ve ndor
which resulted in lower warranty costs per unit. As a result, our warranty accrual was reduced tc
reflzct the lower pricing.

Litigation

in 2002, one of our subsidiaries (One For All S.A.S.) brought an action against a former distributor of the
subsidiary’s products seeking a recovery of accounts receivable. The distributor filed a counterclaim
agains’ our subsidiary seeking payment for amounts allegedly owed for administrative and other services
renderzd by the distributor for our subsidiary. In January 2005, the parties agreed to include in that action
all clairns between the distributor and two of our other subsidiaries, Universal Electronics BV and One For
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All Iberia SL. As a result, the single action covers all claims and counterclaims between the various
parties. The parties further agreed that, before any judgment is paid, all disputes between the various
parties would be concluded. These additional claims involve nonpayment for products and damages
resulting from the alleged wrongful termination of agency agreements. On March 15, 2005, the court in
one of the litigation matters brought by the distributor against one of our subsidiaries, rendered judgment
against our subsidiary and awarded damages and costs to the distributor in the amount of approximately
$102,000. The amount of this judgment was charged to operations during the second quarter of 2005 and
has been paid. With respect to the remaining matters before the court, we are awaiting the expert to
finalize and file his pre-trial report with the court and when completed, we will respond. Management is
unabie to estimate the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome, and the amount of loss, if any, in the case of
an unfavorable outcome.

On February 7, 2008, we filed suit against Gibson Audio, a Division of Gibson Guitar Corp., Gibson Guitar
Corp., and Gibson Musical Instruments, Inc. seeking payment of the remaining balance of a minimum
royalty fee due us under a software agreement. The Gibson companies answered our complaint with a
general denial of all of our allegations. Also the Gibson companies counterclaimed that we breached
various aspects of the software agreement and that they are seeking unspecified damages. We disagree
vigorously with their denials of liability and with their counterclaims and will continue to pursue this matter.
Since, however, no discovery has commenced, at this time, we are unable to estimate the likely outcome
of this matter and the amount, if any, of recovery of the balance due us.

There are no other material pending legal proceedings, other than litigation that is incidental to the
ordinary course of our business, to which we or any of our subsidiaries is a party or of which our
respective property is the subject. We do not believe that any of the claims made against us in any of the
pending matters have merit and we intend to vigorously defend ourselves against them.

We maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance which insures our individual directors and officers
against certain claims such as those alleged in the above lawsuits, as well as attorney’s fees and related
expenses incurred in connection with the defense of such claims. -

Long-Term Incentive Plan

During the second quarter of 2007, we adopted a Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP"), effective January 1,
2007, that provides a bonus pool for the executive management team contingent on achieving certain
performance goals for the two-year period commencing on January 1, 2007 and ending on December 31,
2008, involving sales growth and earnings per diluted share. Vesting in the bonus pool will occur in eight
equal quarterly increments commencing with the quarter ending March 31, 2009 and will continue so long
as the participant remains an employee of our company. Payment of the vested portion of the bonus pool
will occur on the vesting date, unless the participant elects to defer such payment, and will be made in
cash, our common stock, or a combination of cash and stock (at our company’s discretion). Our Board of
Directors believes that a four year performance and vesting time period is appropriate. The LTIP commits
a maximum of $12 million in bonus if the highest performance goals are met. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, we accrued LT!P compensation expense of $1,000,000, which is included in other
long term liabilities.
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Note 22 — Quarterly Financial Data {Unaudited)

Summirized quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 are presented
below:

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2007
March June September December
31, _ 30, 30, N

NEE SAIES ..o e e e $66,019 $71,478 $68,981 $¢i6,222
GrOSS PIOMIt .o e e e s 24341 24626 25737 24,647
Operating iNCOME™ ... e 6,186 5972 6274 8,019
NetinCome™ ... e 4837 4546 4915 6132
Earnings per share ¥

BaSIC ... oottt e et $ 033% 031 % 034 3 042

T =T o B OO SO USRS URTT b 0313% 030 % 032 % 040
Shares used in computing earnings per share

B S e e e e ae et e 14130 _ 14437 14508 _ 14 565

DIl ...ttt e er e an e 14,908 15262 _ 15280 _ ‘15,257

2006
March June September De:zember
31, 30 30, 3,

NEE SA S oot et e e r e $54,173 $52,370 $59612 $69,691
Gross OTOMTE........coioi et e e 18,488 19,582 21,579 26,227
Operaling iNCOME......coooiriieen e e e e e 3,130 4,043 4,628 6,716
NEEINEOME M ..o 2136 2419 3533 5432
Earnings per share @ :. ... et :

BaSIC ..o et et eas $ 016% 018 $ 026 $ 0.39

DHILIEA ..t e $ 015% 017 § 025 $ 037
Shares used in computing earnings per share:

BaASIC ... e eiieerei e e e et e e s aaeraeane 13,643 13802 _ 13845 _ 13982

3] U= D TP UN U UU 14,240 _ 14,356 _ 14415 _ 14,717

™ During the fourth quarter of 2006, the federal research and development tax credit statute was re-
enicted, resulting in a tax benefit of approximately $500 thousand for the quarter.

@ Thi earnings per common share calculations for each of the quarters were based upon the weighted

avorage number of shares outstanding during each period, and the sum of the quarters may no: be

aqual to the full year earnings per common share amounts.

® 1n {he fourth quarter of 2007, both operating profit and net income are higher compared to the fourth
quarter of 2006, despite lower sales, due primarily to certain financial metrics not being met, resulting
in the reversal of approximately $1.5 million of previously accrued management bonuses. In the fourth ‘
quarter of 2006, we expensed approximately $2.1 million for management bonuses relating to 2006
which were paid in 2007.
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Additions

Balance at  Charged to Balance at -
Beginning of Costs and End of
Description Period Expenses  Write-offs Period
Valuation account for inventory:
$2179 $2,146 $(2,499) $1.826

Year Ended December 31, 2007 ... ececiiiionneas
Year Ended December 31, 2006..........cccoovienieinnininns
Year Ended December 31,2005.........ccoevicviieennnnn,

$2274 $1,810 $(1,905) $2179
$ 3,806 $2,735 $(4267) $2274

Additlons
Balance at  Charged to Balance at

Beginning of Costsand Reduction/ End of

Description Period Exponses _Write-offs Period
Valuation account for income tax:

Year Ended December 31, 2007 ............cccovviinnns . $ 620 — $(356) $ 264

Year Ended December 31, 2006........ccovevieniiencecninnee $ 620 — —_ $ 620

$ 536 $ 84 — $ 620

Year Ended December 31, 2005.........oocoviimenenieccnnaee
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9/A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosuire Controfs and Procedures

Exchangje Act Rule 13a-15(d) defines “disclosure controls and procedures” to mean controls and
procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reporied, within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms. The
definition further states that disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s
manage nent, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing
similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

An evalL ation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including! cur principal executive and principal financial officers, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report.
Based on that evaluation, our principal executive and principal financial officers have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective, as of the end of the period covered by this report, o
provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and is accumulated and
commun’cated to our management.

Manageinent's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managernent is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internat control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting
principles: generally accepted in the United States of America. Because of inherent limitations, interna
control ovver financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriora'e.

Under the supervision and with the participation of cur management, including our principal executive and
principal “inancial officers, we evaluated the effectiveness of our internal contro! over financial reporting
based on the Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizaions of the Treadway Commission (COSQ) in Internal Control Integrated Framework. Based on
our evaluation under this framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been
audited by Grant Thornton LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its
attestation report which is in¢cluded herein.

Changes in internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect our
internal controls subsequent to the date the Chief Executive Officer {principal executive officer) and Chief
Financial Officer (principal financial officer) completed their evalyation.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Universal Electronics Inc.

We have audited Universal Electronics Inc.’s (a Delaware Corporation) internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
Universa! Electronics Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financia! reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on Universal Electronics Inc.'s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and perferming such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Universal Electronics Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framewcerk issued by COSQO.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board {United States), the consclidated balance sheets of Universal Electronics Inc. as of December 31,
2007 and 20086, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, and our report dated March 5, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion.

fs/ Grant Thornton LLP

Irvine, California
March 5, 2008
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None

76




PART Ill

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required by ltem 401 of Regulation S-K with respect to our directors will be contained in and
is hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Exchange Act. Information regarding executive officers of the Company is set forth
in Part | of this Form 10-K.

Information required by ltem 405 of Regulation S-K will be contained in and is hereby incorporated by
reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed
subsequent to the date of filing this Form 10-K, under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance.” Copies of Section 16 reports, Forms 3, 4 and 5, are available on our website,
www.uei.com under the caption “SEC Filings” on the Investor page.

Code of Conduct. We have adopted a code of conduct that applies to all of our employees, including
without limitation our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer.
A copy of the Code of Conduct is included as Exhibit 14.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003 filed on March 14, 2004 (File No. 0-21044). The Code of Conduct also is
available on our website, www.uei.com under the caption “Corporate Governance” on the Investor page.
We will post on our website information regarding any amendment to, or waiver from, any provision of the
Code of Conduct that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer or principal
accounting officer.

Information required by Items 407(c)(3), {d)(4) and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K will be contained in and is
hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Exchange Act.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by Items 402 and 407(e)(4) and (e)(5) of Regulation S-K will be contained in and is
hereby incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Exchange Act.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K will be contained in and is hereby incorporated by
reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed
pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Exchange Act.

77




The following summarizes our equity compensation plans at December 31, 2007:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

{a) (b) {c)

Number of
securities
remaining available
Number of for future issuance
Securities to be under ecjuity
issued upon Woaeighted-average compensation plans
exercise of exercise price of (excluding
outstanding outstanding securities
options, warrants  options, warrants reflactad in column
Plan Citegory - and rights and rights (al
Equity compensation plans approved by security
NOIJENS ... e 957,085 $ 17.57 1,009,084
Equity compensation plans not approved by
secutity NOIAErs ........oocovveeivae e 781,447 15.85 6,788
TOtAl oo 1,738,532 $ 16.83 1,015,872

See “I'"EM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA- Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements — Note 11" for a description of each of our stock option plans.

ITEM 3. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information required by Items 404 and 407(a) of Regulation S-K will be contained in and is hereby
incorpc rated by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under
the Exchange Act.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Information required by this item will be contained in and is hereby incorporated by reference to our
definitive Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed pursuant to Regulation
14A prc mulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act.

PART IV
ITEM 15, EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) List of Financial Statements

See "ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA-Index to Consolidated
Financial Statements” for a list of the consolidated financial statements included herein.

(a)(2) List of Financial Statement Schedules I

See *ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA-Index to Consolidated
Finar cial Statements” for a list of the consolidated financial statement schedules included herein.

(a)(3) List of Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601(a) of the Regulation $-K are included as
Exhitits to this Report:

See EXHIBIT INDEX at page 80 to Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in
the City of Cypress, State of California on the 14th day of March, 2008.

UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
By: /s/ Paul D. Arling

Paul D. Arling
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Paul D. Arling and Bryan M.
Hackworth as true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each acting alone, with full powers of
substitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, each acting alone, full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully fer ali intents
and purposes as he might or could do in person, thereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-
in-fact and agents, each acting alone, or his substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
on the 14th day of March, 2008, by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
indicated.

NAME & TITLE SIGNATURE
Paul D. Aring
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer /s/ Paul D. Arling

(principal executive officer)

Bryan M. Hackworth

Chief Financial Officer s/ Bryan M. Hackworth
{principal financial officer

and principal accounting officer)

Satjiv S. Chahil
Director ' Is/ Satjiv S. Chahil

William C. Mulligan
Director s/ William C. Mulligan

J. C. Sparkman
Director Is! J.C. Sparkman

Edward K. Zinser
Director /s/ Edward K. Zinser
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Ex:ibit
Nuinber

EXHIBIT INDEX

Document Dascription

3.1

32

3.3

4.1

*10.1

"10.2

*103

*10.4

*10.3

*10.5

*10.7

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Universal Electronics Inc., as amended (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form S-1 Registration filed on or about
December 24, 1992 (File No. 33-56358})

Amended and Restated By-laws of Universal Electronics Inc. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Form S-1 Registration filed on or about December 24, 1€92 (File
No. 33-56358))

Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Universal Electronics Inc.
{Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 1995 filed on April 1, 1986 (File No. 0-21044})

Article Eighth of our Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, contains certain
provisions restricting business combinations with interested stockholders under certain
circumstances and imposing higher voting requirements for the approval of certain
transactions unless the transaction has been approved by two-thirds of the disinterested
directors or fair price provisions have been met. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1995 filad on
April 1, 1996 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Universal Electronics Inc. 1993 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by referencz to
Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Form S-1 Registration filed on or about
January 21, 1993 (File No. 33-56358))

Form of Universal Electronics Inc. 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit B to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Materials for the 1985 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders of Universal Etectronics Inc. filed on May 1, 1995 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Stock Option Agreement by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and certair
employees used in connection with options granted to the employees pursuant to the
Universal Electronics Inc. 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhioit
10.20 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996
filed on March 28, 1997 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Stock Option Agreement by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and certain non-
affiliated directors used in connection with options granted to the non-affiliated directors
pursuant to the Universal Electronics Inc. 1995 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996 filed on March 28, 1997 (File No. 0-21044})

Form of Universal Electronics Inc. 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Form S-8 Registration Statement filed on March 26, 1997 (File
No. 333-23985))

Form of Stock Option Agreement by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and certain
employers used in connection with options granted to the employees pursuant to the
Universal Electronics Inc. 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhitit 4.6
to the Company's Form S-8 Registration Statement filed on March 26, 1997 (File No. 333-
23985))

Form of Salary Continuation Agreement by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and certain
employees (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997, filed on March 30, 1998 (File No. 0-
21044))
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Exhibit
Number

*10.8

*10.9

*10.10

*10.11

*10.12

*10.13

*10.14

*10.15

*10.16

*10.17

*10.18

10.19

Document Description

Form of Amendment to Salary Continuation Agreement by and between Universal Electronics
Inc. and certain employees (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997, filed on March 30, 1998
(File No. 0-21044))

Form of Universal Electronics Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit A to the Company's Definitive Proxy Materials for the 1898 Annual Meeting of
Stockhelders of Universal Electronics Inc. filed on April 20, 1998 (Fite No. 0-21044))

Form of Stock Option Agreement by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and certain
employees used in connection with options granted to the employees pursuant to the
Universal Electronics Inc. 1998 Stock Incentive Plan({Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.24 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998
filed on March 31, 1999 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Universal Electronics Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit A to the Company's Definitive Proxy Materials for the 1999 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders of Universal Electronics Inc. filed on April 29, 1989 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Stock Option Agreement by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and certain
employees used in connection with options granted to the employees pursuant to the
Universal Electronics Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to
the Company’s Definitive Proxy Materials for the 1999 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of
Universal Electronics Inc. filed on April 29, 1999 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Salary Continuation Agreement by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and certain
employees (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 filed on March 30, 2000 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Universal Electronics Inc. 1999A Nonqualified Stock Plan effective October 7, 1999

and subsequently amended February 1, 2000 {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to P
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1989 filed on

March 30, 2000 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Stock Option Agreement by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and certain
employees used in connection with options granted to the employees pursuant to the
Universal Electronics Inc. 1999A Nonqualified Stock Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.43 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 1999 filed on March 30, 2000 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Universa! Electronics Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.49 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June
30, 2002 filed on August 14, 2002 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Stock Option Agreement by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and certain
directors, officers and other employees used in connection with options granted to the
employees pursuant to the Universal Electronics Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.50 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2002 filed on August 14, 2002 (File No. 0-21044}))

Form of Universal Electronics Inc. 2003 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Appendix B to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Materials for the 2003 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders of Universal Electronics Inc. filed on April 28, 2003 (File No. 0-21044))

Credit Agreement dated September 15, 2003 between Comerica Bank and Universal
Electronics Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 filed on November 14, 2003 (File
No. 0-21044))
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Exlibit
Nuinber

Document Description

10.20

*10.21

*10.22

*10 23

10.:24

*10.25

*10.26

1027

10.28

*10.29

14.1

211
231

Promissory Agreement dated September 15, 2003 between Comerica Bank and Universal
Electronics Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 filed on November 14, 2003 (File
No. 0-21044))

Form of Executive Officer Employment Agreement dated April 23, 2003 by and between
Universal Electronics Inc. and Paul D. Arling (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 filed on
March 14, 2004 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of Executive Officer Employment Agreement dated Aprit 2003 by and between Universal
Electronics Inc. and Robert P. Lilleness (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 filed on
March 14, 2004 (File No. 0-21044))

Form of First Amendment to Executive Officer Employment Agreement dated October 21,
2005 by and between Universal Electronics Inc. and Paul D. Arling {(incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2005 filed on March 16, 2006 (File No. 0-21044))

Third Amendment to Lease dated December 1, 2006 between Warland Investments Company
and Universal Electronics Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Company's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 filed on March 16, 2006
(File No. 0-21044))

Form of Universal Electronics Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Appendix C to the Company's Definitive Proxy Materials for the 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders of Universal Electronics Inc. filed on April 26, 2006 (Fite No. 0-21044)

Employment and Separation Agreement and General Release dated August 17, 2006
between Robert P. Lilleness and Universal Electronics Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 22, 2006 (File No.
0-21044)) .

Form of Lease dated January 31, 2007 between FirstCal Industrial 2 Acquisition, LLC and
Universal Electronics Inc. (incorporated by referance to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed on March 16, 2007
(File No. 02-21044))

Amendment Number One to Credit Agreement dated August 29, 2006 between Comerica
Bank and Universal Electronics Inc. {(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed on
March 16, 2007 (File No. 02-21044)) .

Form of Indemnification Agreements, dated as of January 2, 2007 between the Company and
each director and certain officers of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 filed
on March 16, 2007 (File No. 02-21044))

Code of Conduct (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 filed on March 14, 2004 {File No. 0-
21044))

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed herewith)

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Grant Thornton LLP {filec
herewith)
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Exhibit
Number

241
311

31.2

32.1
32.2

Document Description

Power of Attorney (filed as part of the signature page hereto)
Rule 13a-14(a) Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith)

Rule 13a-14(a) Certifications of the Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer and
principal accounting officer) (filed herewith)

Section 1350 Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith)

Section 1350 Certifications of the Chief Financial Officer {principal financial officer and
principal accounting officer) (filed herewith)

Management contract or compensation plan or arrangement identified pursuant to Items 15(a)(3) and
15{(c) of Form 10-K.
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.

PERFORMANCE CHART

Tae following graph and table compares the cumulative total stockholder return with respect to
onur Comman Stock versus the cumulative total return of our Peer Group Index (the “Peer Group
Index") and the Nasdaq Composite Index (the “Nasdaq Composite Index”) for the five (5) year
period ended December 31, 2007. The comparison assumes that $100 was invested on
Diecember 31, 2002 in each of our Common Stock, the Peer Group Index and the Nasdagq
Composite Index and that all dividends were reinvested. We have not paid any dividends and,

th zrefore, cur cumulative total return calculation is based solely upon stock price appreciation and
nct upon reinvestment of dividends. The graph and table depicts year-end values based on actual
miarket value increases and decreases relative to the initial investment of $100, based on
information provided for each calendar year by the Nasdaq Stock Market and the New York Stock
Exchange.

The comparisons in the graph and table below are based on historical data and are not intended
to forecast the possible future performance of our common stock.

Comparison of Stockholder Returns Among Universal Electronics Inc.,
the Peer Group Index "’ and the NASDAQ Composite Index

5400
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123172002 12/31/2003 1273172004 123112005 123172006 123112007
—e—UEIC —&— Peer G roup average —&— NASDAQ |

12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/06 12/31/07

Universal Electronics Inc $ 100 $ 131 § 181 $177 § 216 § 343
Peer Group Index $100 $ 181 $ 269 $ 240 $ 240 $ 183
NASDAQ Composite Index $100 $150 § 163 § 165 §$ 181 § 199

Infoimation presented is as of the end of each calendar year for the periods December 31, 2002
through 2007. This information shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with
the Securities and Exchange Commission nor shali this information be incorporated by reference
into .any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into
a filing.

L Companies in the Peer Group Index are as follows: Harman International Industries, Inc. and Koss Corporation.

Interlink Electronics, which was included in the Peer Group Index in prior years, was not included in the Peer Group
Index for the disclosure above. On August 31, 2007, Interlink Electronics completed the sale of its OEM Remotes and
Bianded Products business segments. Interlink Electronics sold the OEM Remotes and Branded Products business
se gments to gain capital necessary to advance its business initiatives to allow it to focus on its E-Transactions and
Spacialty Components business segments.
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